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- Rackspace Hosting, Inc. Weashi
5000 Walzem Road Sh‘;’gtons bc
San Antonio, Texas 78218 10

Dear Stockholder,

In addition to the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Proxy Statement and Annual Report for our fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, which you have received in this mailing, we have filed an amendment (the
Amendment) to our annual report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the purpose
of (i) providing additional details relating to the vesting provisions contained in restricted stock unit (RSU)
awards made to certain of our officers provided under Item 9B and (ii) correcting inaccuracies in our equity
compensation plan information table provided under Item 12.

In the Amendment, we have disclosed that the agreements for the RSU awards granted to A. Lanham Napier, our
Chief Executive Officer and President, and Lew Moorman, our President, The Rackspace Cloud and Chief
Strategy Officer, include, in addition to the terms described in the Form 10-K, provisions which allow Mr. Napier
and Mr. Moorman to be eligible to retain their respective RSU’s, subject to their vesting conditions, in the event
that they are terminateld by the company without “cause” (as such term is defined our Amended and Restated
2007 Long Term Incentive Plan). We have also provided a revised equity compensation plan table in the
Amendment. '

Please visit the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov to review the entire amendment to the Form 10-K,
including the actuz%l RSU Agreements, which are filed as Exhibits to the Amendment.

Nl Sekpentnon

Alan Schoenbaum
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
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OLO O LETTER T0 STOCKHOLDERS

Dear Fellow Rackspace Investor,

Thank you for believing in-us and for investing in our company. Last year marked the 10th anniversary of
Rackspace® Hosting andourfirstyvear doing businéss asa public company. From the beginning, we have focused
our efforts on building one of the world's great service cormpanies. Qur service stratagy, which we call Fanatical
Squort asmade ustheword’s leaderin hosting Today, hosting s atthe heart of a long-term shift to cloud

omputing technologies thatare changing the way companies buy [T services. We are well positioned to capits
anthistrend. We're proud of the progress we rade in 2008, and most of all, thankiul for the cedicated and
hardworking Rackers who made it happen:

Later In this tetter we will share highlights of our 2008 accomplishments, but first we would like 1o speak to Gur.
most notable event during 2008—our initial public offering, which raised $144.6 million of capital Our PO
prospectus included a discussion of our operating principles entitled 2008 Racker Letter o lnve estorsin that letter
we promised, "We will communicate honestly and openly and tell you the truth about ot business! 5o, we would
like to share cur thoughts about the decisions and outcomes of the zPO.

Days before our PO, ca markets reeled at the fallure of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. Despite the turmaitin
the marketnlace, we proceedec with the PO because we believed it was the best lengterm path to successful
execution of our business st razegy Noneof us anticipated the further market collapse in the months that foliowed,.
Regrettabiy, since the PO ourstock has performied poorly as the world's capital markets have continted to
experience extraordinary ;rbuierece is has surely hurt moany of aur investors, and we want 1o take this moment -
1053y that we are sorryfor anylosses vou have incurred: We befieve that our company has performed favorably in
spite of these historic events, andiwe remain steadfast in ourcommitment 1o making Rackspace a successful
long-termiinvestment for ourstockholders: For those investors who have supporfed our company, we are grateful
for your faith in our business phitosophy, our culture and our business model We believe that bur interests are
allgned with our new investors to Create stockholdervalue by bullding one of the world's great service companies.
While the-economic-downium and-current recession will affect our 7009 revenue growth, we believe it presents an
excellent opportunity for us to help our customers. Ouf broad sulte of scalable, hosted IT services will generate cost
savirigs forour custorpers at a time when they need It most. These offerings, coupled with our award-winning ‘
Famatical Support present s with an opporiunity to helo our customers through the recession and increase
custamerioyvalty,

Spent 20 Hours o da/y a4 Times &
soeak For 3 ioeeks To help montor a
PO e fakal s dhreshold Tests to

snSire o Skciresste lanc

Stegped wp on entire ioeeterd
in g Full-on 8tz Yo gel & custoner
online sohs ioas in desperde heed of :
Lheir vt configuraion. s Sor B kars dal ari
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Curentire Cornpany Is focused on going ‘above and beyond' to deliver the best service for our customers Our

culture is built around empowering Rackers 1o give their best every day. Our dedication to Fanatical Support was

recognized, once again this year when the Ametican Business Awards honored us with our second Stevie Award ‘

for‘Best Customer Service Organization! Our dedication to Rackers was also recognized when, for the second k

straight vear we were named one of the Fortune 100 Best Companies to Work For?, We received similar recognition

i the UK by the Financial Timeas and the Sunday Times We're extremely proud of these achieverments because

having a strong culture is vital to delivering Fanatical Support and key to our strategic advantage. - o
; : /?é/ﬁ~5 S e nSH e

n‘jﬁ fm;ca/ Sap ort

et ?famofef Score .
s well e dre deliver:

el ém’/d’i »q Gusstemer loval

Net Promoter Score® V/‘:( ;
To messure the success of Fanatical Support and customer loyalty, we use the Net Promoter Score (NPS®)

Ered Reichheld s the world's leading authority on custorner loyalty and s the creator of the NES, In Novermber
2008, Fred Reichheld of Bain and Company joined cur bioard of directors. He teachies that businesses grow faster
and more profitably by converting customers into promoters: enthusiastic advocates who buy more, and recorm-
mend us totheir friends. The creation of loyal promoters not only reduces custorer acouisition costs, L improves
retention rates and inspires our Rackers:We have witnessed these resuits firsthand.

EVA® in Financial Decision Making

Ciur financial practices and commitment to cur Core Values have not changed Our financial gosl is to produce
cconomic profits forour stockholders, We use an EVA (Economic Value Added) model to ensure that our declsions -
consider the cost of capital The EVA framework seeks to safeguard the use of our resources. | pe continde @éﬁ;'/w i
and promote prohtable growth. One of the most %mpor‘zam aspects of the EVA modelis that itenables discipline of ot i o

Us 10 decentralize decision making. We believe that an empowered Racker, armed with the right tools o mrﬁi ; ?;x; .
to help make the verybest decisions for Rackspace, our custbmers and our stocknolders, isa Racker ’pjr e
sehio will continue to volunteer their bestevery dav. When this happens, Fanatical Support thrives and our ‘

custormerloyalty grows stronger, o ‘

RO

Thankyolu once agair for your support in Our first year as a public company, While the global economy is :esetting
1@ new reality for sconomic growth, Rackspace s émbracing the opportunity 1o expand its leadershio for
customers, Rackers and investors. The steps taken in 2008 demponstrate commitment to our Core Values and our
steadfast pursuit of profitable growth, The economic headwinds are impacting our customers, stockholders and us.
However it isin hard times that our hallmiark of Fapatical Support and s Underlving culture of dedication and
empowerient are ever more important, : ~ o ‘ .

Sincersly,

A A x  fL

A.Lanham Napier Graham Weston :
Chief Executive Officer & President Chairman (CEO 1999-2006)

W encourage you to read ot T200% Kucker: Letter To
Towestors  in our TPO prospectus, as 1t provides o deeper
inSight inls outr aperaling plilesephy and company caltire.
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark one)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.
[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (No Fee Required)

For the transition period from to .
Commission file number 001-34143

RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 74-3016523
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (IRS Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
5000 Walzem Rd.

San Antonio, Texas 78218

(Address of principal executive offices, including Zip Code)

(210) 312-4000
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange of which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None
(Title of Class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes [] No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act. Yes [ ] No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure ol delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference
in Part HI of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a
smaller reporting company. See definition of “accelerated filer, large accelerated filer and a smaller reporting company” in Rule
12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer [ ] Accelerated filer [ ] Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company [_|

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes [ ] No

As of June 30, 2008, the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter; our common stock was not
listed on any exchange or over-the counter market. Qur common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange on August 8,
2008. As of December 31, 2008, the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates was $287,930,138 based on
the number of shares held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of December 31, 2008, and based on the reported last sale price of our
common stock on December 31, 2008. Shares of our common stock held by each officer and director and by each person who owns
5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded from this calculation in that such persons may be deemed to be
affiliates. This calculation does not reflect a determination that persons are affiliates for any other purposes.

On February 25, 2009, 117,568,172 shares of the registrant’s Common Stock, $0.001 par value, were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Registrant’s 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days of the

Registrant’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have made forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are subject to risks and
uncertainties. Forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are subject to the
“safe harbor” created by those sections. The forward-looking statements in this report are based on our
management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “anticipates,” “aspires,” “believes,”
“can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “projects,” “seeks,”
“should,” “will” or “would” or the negative of these terms and similar expressions intended to identify forward-
looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which
may cause our actual results, performance, time frames or achievements 1o be materially different from any
future results, performance, time frames or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. We discuss many of these risks, uncertainties and other factors in this document in greater detail
under the heading “Risk Factors.” We believe it is important to communicate our expectations to our investors.
However, there may be events in the future that we are not able to predict accurately or over which we have no
control. The risks described in “Risk Factors” included in this report, as well as any other cautionary language
in this report, provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. Before you invest in our
common stock, you should be aware that the occurrence of the events described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere
in this report could harm our business.

M » o«

Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements. Also, these forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of
the date of this filing. You should read this document completely and with the understanding that our actual
future results may be materially different from what we expect. We hereby qualify our forward-looking
statements by these cautionary statements. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these
forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.



PARTI
ITEM 1—BUSINESS

Rackspace Hosting, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on March 7, 2000 under the name Rackspace.com,
Inc. However, our operations began in 1998 as a limited partnership, which became our subsidiary through a
corporate reorganization completed on August 21, 2001. The company’s name was changed to Rackspace
Hosting, Inc. on June 5, 2008 through a merger with one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Our principal
executive offices are located at 5000 Walzem Rd., San Antonio, Texas 78218. Our telephone number is
(210) 312-4000. Our website address is www.rackspace.com. References to “we,” “our,” “our company,” “us,”
“the company,” “Rackspace Hosting,” or “Rackspace” refer to Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
the Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes for additional information regarding the business
and our operating results. Changes to our Business section from prior filings are a reflection of a competitive and
changing business environment and our adaptations with respect to our product and services set.

Overview

Rackspace Hosting is a world leader in hosting and cloud computing. Our rapid growth over the last decade
has been fueled by our commitment to our unique brand of customer service known as Fanatical Support®.

Hosting is at the center of a multi-year shift that is changing the way businesses buy IT services. New cloud
computing technologies, which deliver greater simplicity and more meaningful cost savings to businesses, make
hosting even more compelling for a broader market. We are pioneering an emerging category, Hybrid Hosting,
which combines the benefits of both traditional dedicated hosting and emerging cloud hosting. Hybrid Hosting
provides businesses the best of both worlds, allowing IT departments to lower costs without sacrificing the
benefits of dedicated hosting. As businesses move to on-demand IT and Hybrid Hosting, we believe Fanatical
Support will be more valuable to them than ever before.

We are a global company. Our corporate headquarters is located in San Antonio, with other operations
located in the United States (U.S.), the United Kingdom (U K.), the Netherlands, and Hong Kong. Our services
are sold to businesses in more than 120 countries. In 2008 we had net revenues of $531.9 million and as of
December 31, 2008, we served more than 53,000 business customers of all sizes. To date, we manage more than
47,000 servers, 1,000,000 email accounts, and 83,000 cloud hosting domains. No single customer accounted for
more than 1% of net revenues in the past three years.

The Hosting Industry

Since our inception in 1998, strong growth has made us a leader in hosting. Hosting is best described as IT
services delivered on demand over the Internet. Hosting providers act as an extension of businesses’ IT
departments.

Today, there are three ways that businesses can fulfill their IT requirements. The first is commonly called
“do it yourself,” or DIY. DIY is an approach to managing IT services where a business retains complete
ownership and responsibility for ongoing maintenance and management of servers, software, networking
equipment, etc. Companies may choose to house this equipment in their own facilities, or may rent data center
space from a colocation provider. The second approach is outsourcing, where businesses transfer full
responsibility for their IT systems, operations, and employees to a third party. Hosting is the third approach, and
we believe it delivers a simpler, better quality and more cost-competitive solution than do-it-yourself or
outsourcing. Our broad service suite provides customers the flexibility to choose the best combination of
dedicated hosting and cloud computing services to meet their unique IT needs.



The hosting industry emerged in the 1990°s (o serve a need created by the rapid adoption of the Internet by
consumers and businesses worldwide. Early hosting demand was driven by companies setting up simple websites
during the “dot com” boom. These companies did not have the skills or resources to connect their websites to the
Internet, so they turned to hosting companies to perform this task. We believe demand for hosting will continue
for three reasons:

1. Smaller companies still do not have in-house resources to manage complicated websites, and they do not
want to purchase expensive hardware with scarce capital. Yet they must have an increasingly robust, reliable
online presence in order to succeed in today’s market.

2. Larger companies that do have specialized, dedicated IT resources would rather deploy these resources to
more strategic areas of their business rather than managing servers or running a website.

3. Ascompanies have experienced the benefits of using hosting providers to manage their web sites, they have
become more comfortable with the concept of hosting providers managing additional IT services.

Today, the hosting market opportunity extends well beyond its roots and includes a broad continuum of
services from simple websites to complex, mission-critical IT applications and support. We believe the trend
toward on-demand IT Services is in its infancy and will drive growth over the coming years.

Cloud Computing and Hosting

Cloud computing is one of the most widely discussed topics in IT today. We believe it is also central to the
future of the hosting industry and have made it a key element of our hosting strategy. In simple terms, cloud
computing refers to pooled computing resources, delivered on-demand, over the Internet. In the same manner
that electricity is delivered on-demand from large scale power plants, cloud computing is delivered from large,
centralized data centers to businesses all over the world.

Today, our core offering, managed hosting, requires dedicated servers for each customer deployment. Most
of these dedicated resources, which are designed to meet peak processing demands, are underutilized during
non-peak hours. Cloud technologies allow hosting providers to effectively provision and manage a pool of
computing resources (or a “cloud”) across a larger base of customers. Cloud technologies deliver more
computing resources to businesses when they need them. At the same time, cloud computing substantially lowers
the cost of IT services. We believe these compelling benefits will continue to drive migration from server rooms
and corporate data centers to the cloud. ~

We believe cloud computing is a paradigm shift in IT and we are investing heavily to take advantage of
these new technologies. In addition to three acquisitions (Webmail.us, Slicehost, and Jungle Disk), we have built
large teams of experts devoted to research and development around these technologies. We view cloud
computing as a natural extension of our core hosting offering. We also believe our ability to provide Hybrid
Hosting, backed by Fanatical Support, provides us a competitive advantage in the hosting marketplace.

Our Service Suite
We sell a broad suite of hosting and cloud computing offerings, all backed by Fanatical Support.

Dedicated Hosting—Dedicated hosting delivers a customer-specific, dedicated server, located in our
secure, business-class data centers. Our customers have full administrator privileges and are
responsible for most administrative functions. We provide a customer management portal and other
management tools.

* Managed Hosting—Our core service offering is managed hosting. This service removes the
burden of managing the data center, network, hardware devices, and operating system software
from the customer. We became an industry leader in the managed hosting category early in our
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company history, taking standard service expectations in the industry and exceeding them.
Customers place high value on the added benefits of managed hosting, and continue to make us
their preferred choice for managed hosting. Despite the emergence of cloud computing, we
believe managed hosting will remain a key service offering as companies continue to demand
dedicated equipment that will meet specific performance or security needs. We remain committed
to innovating new products and services and have added several notable services to the core
managed hosting offerings.

» Platform hosting (managed colocation)—Platform hosting serves the demands of highly
technical customers who require ordering and provisioning support. Managed colocation
customers manage most or all of their software and applications. Some customers supply their
own, non-standard hardware. We manage the data centers, networks and some standard hardware
devices. Our platform hosting service is often combined with traditional managed hosting,
allowing customers the flexibility to customize service levels for each hosting service component.

Cloud Hosting—Our cloud hosting services allow businesses to run their custom applications, similar
to managed hosting, but using the new technologies of cloud computing. There are multiple varieties of
cloud hosting services that are priced on a pay-per-use basis and that can be quickly and easily scaled
up or down on demand. Today we offer Cloud Servers, Cloud Files, and Cloud Sites. Cloud Servers
allow customers to purchase “slices” of servers, load their applications onto those virtual servers, and
pay only for the capacity they use. Cloud Files allow customers to purchase storage services by the
gigabyte. Cloud Sites allow customers to deploy their applications to a cluster of servers that will scale
processing on demand and as required by the application. Although these cloud services are emerging
technologies and in the early phases of development, they offer the true promise of cloud computing —
auto scaling, no hardware or software management, simple deployment.

Cloud Applications—This cloud category, often called “software-as-a-service”, delivers applications
provisioned and ready for end-customers to use. These services require limited support from the
customer’s IT department, and they remove the IT burden and expense of managing and maintaining
software and hardware. We currently offer email, collaboration, and file back-up cloud applications.
These cloud applications are priced on a pay-per-use basis, can be purchased and used quickly. Our
cloud applications have experienced strong growth over the last year. We believe the future market
opportunity for cloud applications will be substantial.

Hybrid Hosting—We believe that traditional dedicated hosting and emerging cloud computing
services, when combined, are a powerful solution for IT departments. Each service has specific and
unique customer benefits. As a result, we will offer Hybrid Hosting, a suite of dedicated hosting and
cloud computing services that can be easily combined to address the changing and diverse needs of our
customers today and in the future.

Competition

Given the significant market potential of hosting and cloud computing, we operate in a rapidly evolving and
highly competitive environment.

Our principal areas of competition include:

Do-it-Yourself Solutions—Businesses may choose to house and maintain their own IT systems, or use a
colocation provider to house IT hardware and provide connectivity. Companies that provide colocation services
include AT&T, Equinix, SAVVIS, Switch & Data, and other telecommunications companies. We believe that
over time it will be hard for the vast majority of businesses to replicate the capabilities or achieve the low costs
of service providers making the do-it-yourself option less attractive.

IT Outsourcing Providers—Businesses may choose to outsource their entire IT systems and staff to an
outsourcing provider. Companies that provide IT outsourcing include CSC, EDS, and IBM. Outsourcing has long
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been an option for only the largest companies due to the cost, complexity and duration of outsourcing contracts.
Rarely is this a viable option for small and medium businesses with rapidly changing needs.

Hosting and Cloud Computing Providers—Businesses may choose to use a hosting or cloud computing
provider other than us to provide services and support for their [T systems. Competitors include AT&T, Pipex,
SAVVIS, Terremark, The Planet, Verio, and others. We also face competition from large Internet companies
such as Microsoft, Google, and Amazon, who are making investments in cloud computing today.

Our Approach and Sources of Competitive Advantage

We are focused on creating sustainable competitive advantage in two key areas. First, our vision is to be
recognized as one of the world’s great service companies. Since companies must trust their hosting provider with
their mission critical IT assets, service reputation is a key selection criterion. Second, we operate with a financial
discipline that keeps costs low, thereby generating returns that exceed our cost of capital. While companies will
pay a premium for a high level of service, keeping the commodity elements of our business at a low cost is a
critical element of success. These two key principles form the foundation of our business model, which includes
the following elements:

Fanatical Support—We believe that excellent customer service creates customer loyalty, which in turn
leads to higher profits and growth. We call our unique, industry-leading customer service model “Fanatical
Support,” because our entire company is focused on going above and beyond expectations in order to delight the
customer. Fanatical Support builds loyalty, which in turn delivers three key benefits:

1. Loyal customers buy more. Customer loyalty increases the tenure of customers and the longer they stay
the more they tend to buy from us, leading to higher revenues and a higher revenue per customer ratio.

2. Loyal customers rarely leave, which means that new customers need not be acquired to fill in the
revenue gap left by the departing customers. Furthermore, loyal customers refer other customers. Both
help in saving customer acquisition costs and reduce the amount of sales and marketing costs that we
need to spend to generate revenue growth.

3. Loyal customers can be served more cost effectively. After initial provisioning, the average cost of
serving a customer is reduced, leading to higher average profits and profit margins over time.

As a measure of customer satistaction, we use the Net Promoter Score (NPS®), developed by Bain &
Company, Inc., Fred Reichheld, and Satmetrix Systems, Inc. to track the likelihood that customers will refer us to
friends or colleagues. Surveys are conducted monthly and analyzed to determine areas for improvement. Over
time, we have built up a knowledge base of what customers consider “must haves,” what customers would like to
see in terms of incremental improvement, and, most importantly, what customers would perceive as “delighters”
that create loyalty.

Fanatical Support is a result of our unique culture. Our employees are called Rackers, and are rewarded for
going above and beyond to serve customers. The highest form of recognition is the Straightjacket Award, which is
given to the employee who best demonstrates Fanatical Support in action. We are also very selective in our hiring
process. Our philosophy is that technical and functional literacy can be taught, but personality is ingrained. We
strive to hire employees with the personality traits which fit well within our culture and our teams. Periodically, we
conduct employee engagement surveys as a measure of cultural health, and reward those managers that create an
engaging and high-performance environment. In 2008 and 2009, Fortune magazine ranked us in the top 50 of its list
of “100 Best Companies to Work For.” We firmly believe that our unique culture is a point of sustained
differentiation, because corporate culture cannot be easily or quickly replicated by competitors.

Hosting and Cloud Computing Specialist—We are focused exclusively on hosting and cloud computing.
Modern computing infrastructure is complex and ever-changing, so this specialist focus has allowed the company
to build a productized set of services that are repeatable, efficient, high-quality and valuable to customers. Qur
employees, systems, management practices and organizational processes are tuned to continuously improve our
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high-volume hosting and cloud computing offerings. Many of our competitors have to balance their hosting and
cloud computing lines of business with other areas of focus. These other products and services compete
internally for the resources and talent needed to make hosting successful. Our exclusive focus on hosting enables
us to more rapidly and accurately deploy, upgrade and scale our systems and services. This focus has generated
industry-leading revenue growth, profitability and customer satisfaction.

Broad Suite of Services—We offer an industry-leading breadth of hosting services. Our Hybrid Hosting
model allows customers the flexibility to combine both traditional and emerging services for a solution that best
addresses their unique IT requirements.

Many hosting providers offer a limited set of services, or rely on third party reselling relationships to
complete their hosting portfolio. Our broad service suite allows us to deliver the right offering at the right budget
for the customer. Additionally, customers who host their entire environment with us benefit from the simplicity
of working with one hosting specialist, rather than managing multiple providers.

Disciplined Use of Capital and Management of Profitability—We have achieved net income profitability
since the first quarter of 2004 through focused management of capital and profitability. We use the Economic
Value Added model (EVA®) as a tool to help ensure our growth and capital investments create stockholder
value. Virtually all capital expenditures are evaluated against this metric using a standard cost of capital. As an
example, EVA is calculated for each contract with customers, and as necessary. salespeople will substitute
products and services to ensure we can deliver the right mix of value, service, and performance to the customer
while still remaining profitable.

We are also very careful with our facility and data center expansion practices. Currently, we sell to
businesses in more than 120 countries. Unlike a colocation provider, we do not need to be located near our
customers, allowing us to build centralized, cost-optimized facilities with teams of highly-trained staff. We strive
to locate our regional facilities and data centers in lower-cost locations, which reduces rent, power and labor
costs. We also focus on just-in-time expansion, by either leasing or building sections of data centers in
increments so that capital expenditures are more closely matched to revenue growth.

By being careful with capital, we have preserved funds for promising new business ideas such as cloud computing.
Over the last 18 months, we have made three acquisitions that have expanded our product set into cloud computing
(cloud hosting and cloud applications). We will continue to identify and pursue strategic investments that have the
potential to generate savings, enhance our competitive advantage, and increase our capabilities to serve customers.

Economies of Scale—We have achieved a critical mass that generates long term cost advantages. Like any
service that moves from distributed to centralized production, scale is a factor in ensuring costs are low enough
to drive mass adoption. We are able to generate significant cost advantages based on our large installed customer
base and growth profile. We purchase large quantities of computing and data center assets, which allows us to
negotiate higher volume pricing contracts. We are also able to make larger R&D investments than many of our
smaller competitors due to our ability to spread these costs across a larger base of revenue. We will continue to
pursue scale, especially in emerging technologies like cloud computing, where we believe that winning
customers and gaining traction yield strategic advantages over time.

Research and Development

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008, we recognized $2.0 million, $8.6 million, and
$10.8 million of research and development expense, respectively. Our research and development efforts are
focused on developing new services including:

«  Deployment of new technologies to address emerging trends, such as cloud computing;
» Development and enhancement of proprietary tools; and

» Development and enhancement of processes for sales and support.
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Intellectual Property Rights

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark and trade secret laws in the U.S.,
the European Union, and various countries in Asia, South America, and elsewhere, and contractual restrictions to
establish and protect certain proprietary rights in our data, applications, and services. We also currently have one
patent and no patent applications in the U.S. We have trademarks registered or pending in the U.S., the European
Union, and various countries in Asia, South America, and elsewhere for our name and certain words and phrases
that we use in our business. We rely on copyright laws to protect software and certain other elements of our
proprietary technologies, although to date we have not registered for copyright protection. We also enter into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and confidentiality

agreements with other third parties, and we actively monitor access to our proprietary technologies.

In addition, we license third-party software and other technologies that are used in the provision of or
incorporated into some elements of our services.

Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we employed 2,611 Rackers, a net increase of 590, or 29.2%, relative to the
headcount as of December 31, 2007. None of our employees are represented by a collective bargaining
agreement, nor have we experienced any work stoppages. We believe that our relations with our employees are
good.

Sales and Marketing

Our service suite is sold via direct sales and through third-party channel partners. Our direct sales model is
based on centralized sales teams with leads generated primarily from customer referrals and corporate marketing
efforts. This model also includes a centralized enterprise field sales force, which targets select businesses in that
segment. Our channel partners include management and technical consultancies, technology integrators, software
application providers, and web developers.

Our marketing efforts generate interest and market demand by communicating the advantages of our
services and unique support model. Our marketing activities include web-based paid and natural search,
participation in technology trade shows, conferences and customer events, advertisements in traditional and
electronic (web- and email-based) media, and targeted regional public relations activities.

Our Support Team Structure

Our support teams generally consist of 12 to 20 Rackers, including an account manager who is a customer’s
single point of contact and advocate within Rackspace Hosting. Each support team also consists of technical
specialists to meet ongoing customer needs.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas

Total net revenues from U.S. operations were $170.5 million, $260.7 million, and $383.5 million for 2006,
2007, and 2008, respectively. Net revenues from operations outside the U.S., substantially all of which was
derived from sales by our U.K. operations, were $53.5 million, $101.3 million, and $148.4 million for 2006,
2007, and 2008, respectively.



ITEM IA—RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our operating results may be adversely impacted by worldwide political and economic uncertainties and
specific conditions in the markets we address. As a result, the market price of our common stock may further
decline.

Recently general worldwide economic conditions have experienced a deterioration due to credit conditions
resulting from the recent financial crisis affecting the banking system and financial markets and other factors,
slower economic activity, concerns about inflation and deflation, volatility in energy costs, decreased consumer
confidence, reduced corporate profits and capital spending, the ongoing effects of the war in Iraq and
Afghanistan, recent international conflicts and terrorist and military activity, and the impact of natural disasters
and public health emergencies. These conditions make it extremely difficult for both us and our customers to
accurately forecast and plan future business activities, and they could cause U.S. and foreign businesses to slow
spending on our services, which could delay and lengthen our new customer sales cycle and cause existing
customers to do one or more of the following:

o Cancel or reduce planned expenditures for our services;
« Seck to lower their costs by renegotiating their contracts with us;
» Move their hosting services in-house; or

Switch to lower-priced solutions provided by us or our competitors.

Customer collections are our primary source of cash. We have historically grown through a combination of
an increase in new customers and revenue growth from our existing customers. If the current market conditions
continue to deteriorate we may experience a substantial decrease in revenue from our customer base, including
through reductions in their commitments to us, and/or longer new customer sales cycles. If these events were to
occur, we could experience a decrease in revenues and reduction in operating margins. Furthermore, during
challenging economic times our customers may face issues gaining timely access to sufficient credit, which could
result in an impairment of their ability to make timely payments to us. If that were to occur, we may be required
to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts. We cannot predict the timing, strength or duration of any
economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovery. If the economy or markets in which we operate do not
continue at their present levels or continue to deteriorate, we may record additional charges related to the
impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets, and our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Finally, like many other stocks, our stock price has decreased recently during the onset of the economic
downturn. If investors have concerns that our business, financial condition and results of operations will be
negatively impacted by a continued worldwide economic downturn, our stock price could further decrease.

If we are unable to manage our growth effectively our financial results could suffer and our stock price could
decline.

The growth of our business and our service offerings has strained our operating and financial resources.
Further, we intend to continue to expand our overall business, customer base, headcount, and operations.
Creating a global organization and managing a geographically dispersed workforce will require substantial
management effort and significant additional investment in our operating and financial system capabilities and
controls. If our information systems are unable to support the demands placed on them by our growth, we may be
forced to implement new systems which would be disruptive to our business. We may be unable to manage our
expenses effectively in the future due to the expenses associated with these expansions, which may negatively
impact our gross margins or operating expenses. If we fail to improve our operational systems or to expand our
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customer service capabilities to keep pace with the growth of our business, we could experience customer
dissatisfaction, cost inefficiencies, and lost revenue opportunities, which may materially and adversely affect our
operating results.

If we overestimate our data center capacity requirements, our operating margins and profitability could be
adversely affected.

The costs of construction, leasing, and maintenance of our data centers constitute a significant portion of our
capital and operating expenses. In order to manage growth and ensure adequate capacity for new and existing
customers while minimizing unnecessary excess capacity costs, we continuously evaluate our short and long-
term data center eapacity requirements. Due to the lead time in expanding existing data centers or building new
data centers, we are required to estimate demand for our services as far as two years into the future. We currently
plan to increase our infrastructure as required through the expansion and addition of data centers in the U.S. and
internationally. In contrast to our data centers that we have established to date, several of which were acquired
relatively inexpensively as distressed assets of third parties, our current expansion plans may require us to pay
full market rates for new data center facilities. If we overestimate the demand for our services and therefore
overbuild our data center capacity or commit to long term facility leases, our operating margins could be
materially reduced, which would materially impair our profitability.

If we underestimate our data center capacity requirements, our financial results and services could be
impaired.

If we underestimate our data center capacity requirements; we may not be able to service any expanding
needs of our existing customers, or we may be required to limit new customer acquisition while we work to
increase data center capacity to satisfy demand, either of which may materially impair our revenue growth.

Our physical infrastructure is concentrated in very few facilities and any failure in our physical infrastructure
or services could lead to significant costs and disruptions and could reduce our revenues, harm our business
reputation and have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Our network and power supplies and data centers are subject to various points of failure, and a problem with
our generators, uninterruptible power supply, or UPS, routers, switches, or other equipment, whether or not
within our control, could result in service interruptions for some or all of our customers or equipment damage.
Because our hosting services do not require geographic proximity of our data centers to our customers, our
hosting infrastructure is consolidated into a few large facilities. Accordingly, any failure or downtime in one of
our data center facilities could affect a significant percentage of our customers. While data backup services are
included in our hosting services, the majority of our customers do not elect to pay the additional fees required to
store their backup data offsite in a separate facility. The total destruction or severe impairment of any of our data
center facilities could result in significant downtime of our services and the loss of vast amounts of customer
data. Since our ability to attract and retain customers depends on our ability to provide customers with highly
reliable service, even minor interruptions in our service could harm our reputation. The services we provide are
subject to failure resulting from numerous factors, including:

* Human error or accidents (such as an airplane crash into one of our facilities, some of which are
located near major airports);

* Power loss;

* Equipment failure;

* Internet connectivity downtime;

* Improper building maintenance by the landlords of the buildings in which our facilities are located;

» Physical or electronic security breaches;
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« Fire, earthquake, hurricane, tornado, flood, and other natural disasters;
e Water damage;

e Terrorism;

+ Sabotage and vandalism; and

« Failure by us or our vendors to provide adequate service to our equipment.

Additionally, in connection with the expansion or consolidation of our existing data center facilities from
time to time, there is an increased risk that service interruptions may occur as a result of server relocation or
other unforeseen construction-related issues.

We have experienced interruptions in service in the past, due to such things as power outages, power
equipment failures, cooling equipment failures, routing problems, hard drive failures, database corruption,
system failures, software failures, and other computer failures. For example, during the fourth quarter of 2007,
our data center operations in Grapevine, Texas were impaired for several hours due to separate incidents of
simultaneous system failures. The system failures included the loss of our utility delivery systems which were
damaged by two separate vehicle-related accidents as well as problems with certain redundant power and cooling
systems in the data center. These system failures resulted in downtime for a substantial portion of the servers
located in the facility. As a result of this downtime, we extended approximately $3.4 million in credits to our
customers and may have suffered damage to our reputation with our customers. While we have not experienced
larger than normal customer attrition following these events, the extent of any damage to our reputation is
difficult to assess. Although we have taken certain steps to avoid this situation through upgrades to our cooling
equipment and other infrastructure, service interruptions due to equipment failures, natural disasters, accidents,
or otherwise could still occur and materially impact our business.

Any future interruptions could:
» Cause our customers to seek damages for losses incurred;
» Require us to replace existing equipment or add redundant facilities;
« Damage })ur reputation as a reliable provider of hosting services;
« Cause existing customers to cancel or elect to not renew their contracts; or
e Make it more difficult for us to attract new customers.

Any of these events could materially increase our expenses or reduce our revenues, which would have a
material adverse effect on our operating results.

Customers with mission-critical applications could potentially expose us to lawsuilts for their lost profits or
damages, which could impair our financial condition.

Because our hosting services are critical to many of our customers’ businesses, any significant disruption in
our services could result in lost profits or other indirect or consequential damages to our customers. Although we
require our customers to sign agreements that contain provisions attempting to limit our liability for service
outages, we cannot assure you that a court would enforce any contractual limitations on our liability in the event
that one of our customers brings a lawsuit against us as the result of a service interruption or other Internet site or
application problems that they may ascribe to us. The outcome of any such lawsuit would depend on the specific
facts of the case and any legal and policy considerations that we may not be able to mitigate. In such cases, we
could be liable for substantial damage awards that may significantly exceed our liability insurance coverage by
unknown but significant amounts, which could seriously impair our financial condition.
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If we do not prevent security breaches, we may be exposed to lawsuits, lose customers, suffer harm to our
reputation, and incur additional costs.

We rely on third-party suppliers to protect our equipment and hardware against breaches in security and
cannot be certain that they will provide adequate security. The services we offer involve the transmission of large
amounts of sensitive and proprietary information over public communications networks as well as the processing
and storage of confidential customer information. Unauthorized access, computer viruses, accidents, employee
error or malfeasance, fraudulent service plan orders, intentional misconduct by computer “hackers”, and other
disruptions can occur that could compromise the security of our infrastructure, thereby exposing such
information to unauthorized access by third parties and leading to interruptions, delays or cessation of service to
our customers. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or to sabotage, systems change frequently and
generally are not recognized until launched against a target, so we may be unable to implement security measures
in a timely manner or, if and when implemented, these measures could be circumvented as a result of accidental
or intentional actions by parties within or outside of our organization. Any breaches that may occur could expose
us to increased risk of lawsuits, loss of existing or potential customers, harm to our reputation and increases in
our security costs. Although we typically require our customers to sign agreements that contain provisions
attempting to limit our liability for security breaches, we cannot assure you that a court would enforce any
contractual limitations on our liability in the event that one of our customers brings a lawsuit against us as the
result of a security breach that they may ascribe to us. The outcome of any such lawsuit would depend on the
specific facts of the case and legal and policy considerations that we may not be able to mitigate. In such cases,
we could be liable for substantial damage awards that may significantly exceed our liability insurance coverage
by unknown but significant amounts, which could seriously impair our financial condition.

Terrorist activity throughout the world and military action to counter terrorism could adversely impact our
operating results.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, as well as governments’ responses to such activities, may have
an adverse effect on business, financial, and general economic conditions internationally. Terrorist activities may
disrupt our ability to provide our services or may increase our costs due to the need to provide enhanced security,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. These circumstances may
also adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers, our ability to raise capital, and the operation and
maintenance of our facilities. We may not have adequate property and liability insurance to cover catastrophic
events or attacks b\rought on by terrorist attacks and other acts of violence. In addition, we depend heavily on the
physical infrastructure, particularly as it relates to power, that exists in the markets in which we operate. Any
damage to such infrastructure in these markets where we operate may materially and adversely affect our
operating results.

We rely on third-party hardware that may be difficult to replace or could cause errors or failures of our
service, which could adversely affect our operating results or harm our reputation.

We rely on hardware acquired from third parties in order to offer our services. This hardware may not
continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms in quantities sufficient to meet our business needs,
which could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue. Any errors or defects in third-party hardware could
result in errors or a failure of our service, which could harm our reputation and operating results. Indemnification
from hardware providers, if any, would likely be insufficient to cover any damage to our business or our
customers resulting from such hardware failure.

We rely on third-party software that may be difficult to replace or which could cause errors or failures of our
service that could lead to lost customers or harm to our reputation.

We rely on software licensed from third parties to offer our services. This software may not continue to be
available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of this software could
result in delays in the provisioning of our services until equivalent technology is either developed by us, or, if
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available, is identified, obtained, and integrated, which could harm our business. Any errors or defects in third-
party software could result in errors or a failure of our service which could harm our operating results by
adversely affecting our revenues or operating costs.

We provide service level commitments to our customers, which could require us to issue credits for future
services if the stated service levels are not met for a given period and could significantly decrease our revenues
and harm our reputation.

Our customer agreements provide that we maintain certain service level commitments to our customers
relating primarily to network uptime, critical infrastructure availability, and hardware replacement. If we are
unable to meet the stated service level commitments, we may be contractually obligated to provide these
customers with credits for future services. As a result, a failure to deliver services for a relatively short duration
could cause us to issue these credits to a large number of affected customers. In addition, we cannot be assured
that our customers will accept these credits in lieu of other legal remedies that may be available to them. Our
failure to meet our commitments could also result in substantial customer dissatisfaction or loss. Because of the
loss of future revenues through these credits, potential customer loss and other potential liabilities, our revenue
could be significantly impacted if we cannot meet our service level commitments to our customers.

If we are unable to maintain a high level of customer service, customer satisfaction and demand for our
services could suffer.

We believe that our success depends on our ability to provide customers with quality service that not only
meets our stated commitments, but meets and then exceeds customer service expectations. If we are unable to
provide customers with quality customer support in a variety of areas, we could face customer dissatisfaction,
decreased overall demand for our services, and loss of revenues. In addition, our inability to meet customer
service expectations may damage our reputation and could consequently limit our ability to retain existing
customers and attract new customers, which would adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and
negatively impact our operating results.

We may not be able to continue to add new customers and increase sales to our existing customers, which
could adversely affect our operating results.

Our growth is dependent on our ability to continue to attract new customers while retaining and expanding
our service offerings to existing customers. Growth in the demand for our services may be inhibited and we may
be unable to sustain growth in our customer base, for a number of reasons, such as:

* Our inability to market our services in a cost-effective manner to new customers;

+ The inability of our customers to differentiate our services from those of our competitors or our
inability to effectively communicate such distinctions;

«  OQur inability to successfully communicate to businesses the benefits of hosting;

» The decision of businesses to host their Internet sites and web infrastructure internally or in colocation
facilities as an alternative to the use of our hosting services;

*  Our inability to penetrate international markets;
« Our inability to expand our sales to existing customers;
*  Qur inability to strengthen awareness of our brand; and
» Reliability, quality or compatibility problems with our services.
A substantial amount of our past revenue growth was derived from purchases of service upgrades by

existing customers. Qur costs associated with increasing revenues from existing customers are generally lower
than costs associated with generating revenues from new customers. Therefore, a reduction in the rate of revenue
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increase from our existing customers, even if offset by an increase in revenues from new customers, could reduce
our operating margins.

Any failure by us to continue attracting new customers or grow our revenues from existing customers could
have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Our existing customers could elect to reduce or terminate the services they purchase from us because we do
not have long-term contracts with our customers, which could adversely affect our operating results.

Our customer contracts for our services typically have initial terms of one to two years, which unless
terminated. may be renewed or automatically extended on a month-to-month basis. Qur customers have no
obligation to renew their services after their initial contract periods expire. Moreover, our customers could cancel
their service agreements before they expire. Our costs associated with maintaining revenue from existing
customers are generally much lower than costs associated with generating revenue from new customers.
Therefore, a reduction in revenue from our existing customers, even if offset by an increase in revenue from new
customers, could reduce our operating margins. Any failure by us to continue to retain our existing customers
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture, we could lose
the innovation, creativity, and teamwork fostered by our culture, and our operating results may be harmed.

We believe that a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture, which we believe fosters
innovation, creativity, and teamwork. If we implement more complex organizational management structures
because of growth or other structural changes, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficial
aspects of our corporate culture. This could negatively impact our future operating results. In addition, being a
public traded company may create disparities in personal wealth among our employees, which may adversely
impact relations among employees and our corporate culture.

If we fail to hire and retain qualified employees and management personnel, our growth strategy and our
operating results could be harmed.

Our growth strategy depends on our ability to identify, hire, train, and retain IT professionals, technical
engineers, operations employees, and sales and senior management personnel who maintain relationships with
our customers and who can provide the technical, strategic, and marketing skills required for our company to
grow. There is a shortage of qualified personnel in these fields, specifically in the San Antonio, Texas area,
where we are headquartered and a majority of our employees are located, and we compete with other companies
for this limited pool of potential employees. There is no assurance that we will be able to recruit or retain
qualified personnel, and this failure could cause our operations and financial results to be negatively impacted.

Our success and future growth also depends to a significant degree on the skills and continued services of
our management team, especially Graham Weston, our Chairman, and A. Lanham Napier, our President and
Chief Executive Officer. We do not have employment agreements with any members of our management team,
including Messrs. Weston and Napier, nor do we maintain key man insurance on any of our management team,
although we have recently begun the application process to acquire key man insurance for Mr. Napier.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which could make our future results difficult to predict and
could cause our operating results to fall below investor or analyst expectations.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including many of the risks described in this
section, which are outside of our control. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis
may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our operating results for any prior periods as an indication of our
future operating performance. Fluctuations in our revenue can lead to even greater fluctuations in our operating
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results. Our budgeted expense levels depend in part on our expectations of long-term future revenue. Given
relatively fixed operating costs related to our personnel and facilities, any substantial adjustment to our expenses
to account for lower than expected levels of revenue will be difficult and take time. Consequently, if our revenue
does not meet projected levels, our operating expenses would be high relative to our revenue, which would
negatively affect our operating performance.

If our revenue or operating results do not meet or exceed the expectations of investors or securities analysts,
the price of our common stock may decline.

Increased energy costs, power outages, and limited availability of electrical resources may adversely affect our
operating results. '

Our data centers are susceptible to increased regional, national or international costs of power and to
electrical power outages. Our customer contracts do not allow us to pass on any increased costs of energy to our
customers, which could harm our business. Further, power requirements at our data centers are increasing as a
result of the increasing power demands of today’s servers. Increases in our power costs could harm our operating
results and financial condition.

Since we rely on third parties to provide our data centers with power sufficient to meet our needs, our data
centers could have a limited or inadequate amount of electrical resources necessary to meet our customer
requirements. We attempt to limit exposure to system downtime due to power outages by using backup
generators and power supplies. However, these protections may not limit our exposure to power shortages or
outages entirely. Any system downtime resulting from insufficient power resources or power outages could
damage our reputation and lead us to lose current and potential customers, which would harm our operating
results and financial condition.

/

Increased Internet bandwidth costs and network failures may adversely affect our operating results.

Our success depends in part upon the capacity, reliability, and performance of our network infrastructure,
including the capacity leased from our Internet bandwidth suppliérs. We depend on these companies to provide
uninterrupted and error-free service through their telecommunications networks. Some of these providers are also
our competitors, We exercise little control over these providers, which increases our vulnerability to problems
with the services they provide. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience interruptions or delays
in network service. Any failure on our part or the part of our third-party suppliers to achieve or maintain high
data transmission capacity, reliability or performance could significantly reduce customer demand for our
services and damage our business.

As our customers’ usage of telecommunications capacity increases, we will need to make additional
investments in our capacity to maintain adequate data transmission speeds, the availability of which may be
limited or the cost of which may be on terms unacceptable to us. If adequate capacity is not available to us as our
customers’ usage increases, our network may be unable to achieve or maintain sufficiently high data transmission
capacity, reliability or performance. In addition, our business would suffer if our network suppliers increased the
prices for their services and we were unable to pass along the increased costs to our customers.

We may not be able to renew the leases on our existing facilities on terms acceptable to us, if at all, which
could adversely affect our operating results.

We do not own the facilities occupied by our current data centers, but occupy them pursuant to commercial
leasing arrangements. The initial terms of our existing data center leases expire over a period ranging from 2009
to 2027, with each having at least one renewal period of no less than three years, except two of our data centers
located in the U K., which have no contractual renewal terms. Upon the expiration or termination of our data
center facility leases, we may not be able to renew these leases on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we fail to
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renew any data center lease and are required to move the data center to a new facility, we would face significant
challenges due to the technical complexity, risk, and high costs of relocating the equipment. For example, if we
are required to migrate customer servers to a new facility, such migration could result in significant downtime for
our affected customers. This could damage our reputation and lead us to lose current and potential customers,
which would harm our operating results and financial condition.

Even if we are able to renew the leases on our existing data centers, we expect that rental rates, which will
be determined based on then-prevailing market rates with respect to the renewal option periods and which will be
determined by negotiation with the landlord after the renewal option periods, will be higher than rates we
currently pay under our existing lease agreements. If we fail to increase revenue in our existing data centers by
amounts sufficient to offset any increases in rental rates for these facilities, our operating results may be
materially and adversely affected.

We could be required to repay substantial amounts of money to certain state and local governments if we lose
tax exemptions or grants previously awarded to us, which could adversely affect our operating results.

On August 3, 2007, we entered into a lease for approximately 67 acres of land and a 1.2 million square foot
facility in Windcrest, Texas, which is in the San Antonio, Texas area, to house our corporate headquarters and
potentially a future data center operation.

In connection with this lease, we also entered into a Master Economic Incentives Agreement with the Cities
of Windcrest and San Antonio, Texas; Bexar County; and certain other parties, pursuant to which we agreed to
locate existing and future employees at the new facility location. The agreement requires that we meet certain
employment levels each year, with an ultimate employee base requirement of 4,500 jobs by December 31, 2012.
In addition, the agreement requires that the median compensation of those employees be no less than $51,000 per
year. In exchange for meeting these employment obligations, the parties agreed to enter into the lease structure,
pursuant to which, asa lessee of the Windcrest Economic Development Corporation, we will not be subject to
most of the property taxes associated with the property-for a 14 year period. If we fail to meet these job creation
requirements, we could lose a portion or all of the tax benefit being provided during the 14-year period by having
to make payments in lieu of taxes (PILOT) to the City of Windcrest. The amount of the PILOT payment would
be calculated based on the amount of taxes that would have been owed for that period if the property were not
exempt, and then such amount would be adjusted pursuant to certain factors, such as the percentage of
employment achiéved compared to the stated requirements.

Further, we entered into an agreement with the State of Texas under which we have received $5.0 million,
and could receive up to an additional $17.0 million in state enterprise fund grants in three subsequent
installments on the condition that we meet certain employment levels each year, with a requirement that we
ultimately create at least 4,000 new jobs in the State of Texas paying an average compensation of at least $56,000
per year (subject to a 2% per year increase commencing in 2009) by December 31, 2012. We must sustain these
jobs through December 31, 2018. To the extent we fail to meet these requirements, we would be required to
repay all or a portion of the grants plus interest.

In October 2008, we received a grant in partnership with the State of Texas and Alamo Community College
District, which will provides us the opportunity to be reimbursed for up to $4.7 million for certain training
expenses conducted through Alamo Community College over the next three years. In order to fulfill our
requirements, we must meet the employment requirements defined in the grant with the State of Texas from the
state enterprise fund,

In the current economic environment, unless we are able to modify the terms of our agreements, it is
probable we will not fulfill the job creation requirements levels for the end of 2009. We are currently seeking to
modify all such agreements. The loss of any anticipated tax benefits or grants described above or the repayment
of the grant funds from the State of Texas could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity or results of
operations.

16



We have significant debt obligations that include restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility to manage our
business; failure to comply with these covenants could trigger an acceleration of our outstanding indebtedness
and adversely affect our financial position and operating results.

As of December 31, 2008, outstanding indebtedness under our credit facility totaled $200.0 million, with an
outstanding letter of credit of $0.8 million. Our credit facility requires that we maintain specific financial ratios
and comply with covenants, including financial covenants, which contain numerous restrictions on our ability to
incur additional debt, pay dividends or make other restricted payments, sell assets, enter into affiliate transactions
and take other actions. Our existing credit facility is, and any future financing arrangements may be, secured by
all of our assets. If we are unable to meet the terms of the financial covenants or if we breach any of these
covenants, a default could result under one or more of these agreements, which may require us to repay all
amounts owing under our credit facility. As of December 31, 2007, we were not in compliance with the fixed
charge coverage ratio covenant. However, we received a waiver from the financial institution in April 2008, and,
as of December 31, 2008, we are in compliance with the covenants.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash available to repay our debt obligations when they become due and
payable, either when they mature or in the event of a default, we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity
financing on favorable terms, if at all, which may negatively impact our ability to continue as a going concern.

We also have substantial equipment lease obligations, which totaled approximately $89.7 million as of
December 31, 2008. The payment obligations under these equipment leases are secured by a significant portion
of the hardware used in our data centers. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from our operations or
cash from other sources in order to meet the payment obligations under these equipment leases, we may lose the
right to possess and operate the equipment used in our data centers, which would substantially impair our ability
to provide our services, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity or results of operations.

We may require additional capital and may not be able to secure additional financing on Jfavorable terms to
meet our future capital needs, which could adversely affect our financial position and result in stockholder
dilution.

In order to fund future growth, we will be dependent on significant capital expenditures. We may need to
raise additional funds through equity or debt financings in the future in order to meet our operating and capital
needs. We may not be able to secure additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, or at all, at the time
when we need such funding. If we are unable to raise additional funds, we may not be able to pursue our growth
strategy and our business could suffer. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or
convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution in their percentage
ownership of our company, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges
senior to those of holders of our common stock. In addition, any debt financing that we may obtain in the future
could have restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational
matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities,
including potential acquisitions.

We are exposed to commodity and market price risks that have the potential to substantially influence our
profitability and liquidity.

We are a large consumer of power. During 2008, we paid approximately $13.2 million to utility companies
to power our data centers. We anticipate an increase in our consumption of power in the future as our sales grow.
Power costs vary by locality and are subject to substantial seasonal fluctuations. Our largest exposure to energy
prices currently exists at our Grapevine, Texas facility in the Dallas-Fort Worth area, where the energy market is
deregulated. Power costs have historically risen with general costs of energy, and continued increases in
electricity costs may negatively impact our gross margins or operating expenses. We periodically evaluate the
advisability of entering into fixed price utilities contracts. If we choose not to enter into a fixed price contract, we
expose our cost structure to this commodity price risk.
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The majority of our customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses are paid, by us or our
subsidiaries in the functional currency of our company or our subsidiaries, respectively. However, some of our
customers are currently invoiced in currencies other than the applicable functional currency, such as the Euro. As
aresult, we may incur foreign currency losses based on changes in exchange rates between the date of the
invoice and the date of collection. In addition, large changes in foreign exchange rates relative to our functional
currencies could increase the costs of our services to non-U.S. customers relative to local competitors, thereby
causing us to lose existing or potential customers to these local competitors. As a result, our results of operations
and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Further, as we grow
our international operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant. To date, we
have not entered into any hedging contracts, although we may do so in the future.

If we are unable to adapt to evolving technologies and customer demands in a timely and cost-effective
manner, our ability to sustain and grow our business may suffer.

Our market is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, and frequent new
product announcements, all of which impact the way in which hosting services are marketed and delivered.
These characteristics are magnified by the continued rapid growth of the Internet and the intense competition in
our industry. To be successful, we must adapt to our rapidly changing market by continually improving the
performance, features, and reliability of our services and modifying our business strategies accordingly. We
could also incur substantial costs if we need to modify our services or infrastructure in order to adapt to these
changes. For example, our data center infrastructure could require improvements due to the development of new
systems to deliver power to or eliminate heat from the servers we house or as a result of the development of new
server technologies that require levels of critical load and heat removal that our facilities are not designed to
provide. We may not be able to timely adapt to changing technologies, if at all. Our ability to sustain and grow
our business would suffer if we fail to respond to these changes in a timely and cost-effective manner.

New technologies or industry standards have the potential to replace or provide lower cost alternatives to
our hosting services. Additionally, the adoption of such new technologies or industry standards could render our
services obsolete or unmarketable. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to identify the emergence of these
new service alternatives successfully and modify our services accordingly, or develop and bring new products
and services to market in a timely and cost-effective manner to address these changes. In addition, if and when
we do identify the emergence of new service alternatives and bring new products and services to market, those
new products and services may need to be made available at lower price points than our then-current services.

Our failure to provide services to compete with new technologies or the obsolescence of our services could
lead us to lose current and potential customers or could cause us to incur substantial costs, which would harm our
operating results and financial condition. Our introduction of new service alternative products and services that
have lower price points than current offerings may result in our existing customers switching to the lower cost
products, which could reduce our revenue and have a material adverse effect of our operating results.

We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.
The market for hosting services is highly competitive. We expect that we will face additional competition

from our existing competitors as well as new market entrants in the future.

Our current and potential competitors vary by size and service offerings and by geographic region. These
competitors may elect to partner with each other or with focused companies like us to grow their businesses.
They include:

* Do-it-yourself solutions with a colocation partner such as AT&T, Equinix, SAVVIS, Switch & Data,
and telecommunications companies;

* IT outsourcing providers such as CSC, EDS, and IBM;
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» Hosting providers such as AT&T, Pipex, SAVVIS, Terremark, The Planet, and Verio; and

+ Large Internet companies such as Microsoft, Google, and Amazon.

The primary competitive factors in our market are: customer service and technical expertise; security
reliability and functionality; reputation and brand recognition; financial strength; breadth of services offered; and
price.

Many of our current and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and marketing
resources, larger customer bases, longer operating histories, greater brand recognition, and more established
relationships in the industry than we do. As a result, some of these competitors may be able to:

+ Develop superior products or services, gain greater market acceptance, and expand their service
offerings more efficiently or more rapidly;

+  Adapt to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements more quickly;
+ Bundle hosting services with other services they provide at reduced prices;
 Take advantage of acquisition and other opportunities more readily;

» Adopt more aggressive pricing policies and devote greater resources to the promotion, marketing, and
sales of their services; and

« Devote greater resources to the research and development of their products and services.

We may be accused of infringing the proprietary rights of others, which could subject us to costly and time-
consuming litigation and require us to discontinue services that infringe the rights of others.

There may be intellectual property rights held by others, including issued or pending patents, trademarks,
and service marks, that cover significant aspects of our technologies, branding or business methods, including
technologies and intellectual property we have licensed from third parties. Companies in the technology industry,
and other patent and trademark holders seeking to profit from royalties in connection with grants of licenses, own
large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, and trade secrets and frequently enter into
litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. These or other
parties could claim that we have misappropriated or misused intellectual property rights and any such intellectual
property claim against us, regardless of merit, could be time consuming and expensive to settle or litigate and
could divert the attention of our technical and management personnel. An adverse determination also could
prevent us from offering our services to our customers and may require that we procure or develop substitute
services that do not infringe. For any intellectual property rights claim against us or our customers, we may have
to pay damages, indemnify our customers against damages or stop using technology or intellectual property
found to be in violation of a third party’s rights. We may be unable to replace those technologies with
technologies that have the same features or functionality and that are of equal quality and performance standards
on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Licensing replacement technologies and intellectual property may
significantly increase our operating expenses or may require us to restrict our business activities in one or more
respects. We may also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology and intellectual property,
which could require significant effort, time, and expense.

Our use of open source software could impose limitations on our ability to provide our services, which could
adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

We utilize open source software, including Linux-based software, in providing a substantial portion of our
services. The terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that
such licenses could be construed in a manner that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our
ability to offer our services. Additionally, the use and distribution of open source software can lead to greater
risks than the use of third-party commercial software, as open source software does not come with warranties or
other contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. From time to time parties
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have asseried claims against companies that distribute or use open source software in their products and services,
asserting that open source software infringes their intellectual property rights. We could be subject to suits by
parties claiming infringement of intellectual property rights with respect to what we believe to be open source
software. In such event, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to continue using such
software or offering certain of our services or to discontinue the use of such software or the sale of our affected
services in the event we could not obtain such licenses, any of which could adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition. In addition, if we combine our proprietary software with open source
software in a certain manner, we could, under some of the open source licenses, be required to release the source
code of our proprietary software.

We may not be successful in protecting and enforcing our intellectual property rights, which could adversely
affect our financial condition and operating results.

We primarily rely on copyright, trademark, service mark, and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality
procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which provide only
limited protection. We rely on copyright laws to protect software and certain other elements of our proprietary
technologies, although to date we have not registered for copyright protection. We cannot assure you that any
future copyright, trademark or service mark registrations will be issued for pending or future applications or that
any registered or unregistered copyrights, trademarks or service marks will be enforceable or provide adequate
protection of our proprietary rights. We also currently have one pateat issued and no patent applications pending
in the U.S. Our patent may be contested, circumvented, found unenforceable or invalidated.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties with
whom we do business to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. The steps we have taken,
however, may not prevent unauthorized use or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others may
independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent, superior to, or otherwise competitive to the
technologies we employ in our services or that infringe our intellectual property. Moreover, we may be unable to
prevent competitors from acquiring trademarks or service marks and other proprietary ri ghts that are similar to,
infringe upon, or diminish the value of our trademarks and service marks and our other proprietary rights.
Enforcement of our intellectual property rights also depends on successful legal actions against infringers and
parties who misappropriate our proprietary information and trade secrets, but these actions may not be
successful, even when our rights have been infringed.

In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the
laws of the U.S. Despite the measures taken by us, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain
and use our technology and information without authorization. Policing unauthorized use of our proprietary
technologies and other intellectual property and our services is difficult, and litigation could become necessary in
the future to enforce our intellectual property rights. Any litigation could be time consuming and expensive to
prosecute or resolve, result in substantial diversion of management attention and resources, and harm our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may be liable for the material that content providers distribute over our network and we may have to
terminate customers that provide content that is determined to be illegal, which could adversely affect our
operating results.

The law relating to the liability of private network operators for information carried on, stored on, or
disseminated through their networks is still unsettled in many jurisdictions. We have been and expect to continue
to be subject to legal claims relating to the content disseminated on our network, including claims under the
Digital Millennium Copyright Act and other similar legislation. In addition, there are other potential customer
activities, such as online gambling and pornography, where we, in our role as a hosting provider, may be held
liable as an aider or abettor of our customers. If we need to take costly measures to reduce our exposure to these
risks, terminate customer relationships and the associated revenue or defend ourselves against such claims, our
financial results could be negatively affected.
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Government regulation of data networks is largely unsettled, and depending on its evolution, may adversely
affect our operating results.

We are subject to varying degrees of regulation in each of the jurisdictions in which we provide services.
Local laws and regulations, and their interpretation and enforcement, differ significantly among those
jurisdictions. Future regulatory, judicial, and legislative changes may have a material adverse effect on our ability
to deliver services within various jurisdictions. National regulatory frameworks that are consistent with the
policies and requirements of the World Trade Organization have only recently been, or are still being, put in
place in many countries. Accordingly, many countries are still in the early stages of providing for and adapting to
a liberalized telecommunications market. As a result, in these markets we may encounter more protracted and
difficult procedures to obtain any necessary licenses or negotiate interconnection agreements, which could
negatively impact our ability to expand in these markets or increase our operating costs in these markets.

Our ability to operate and expand our business is susceptible to risks associated with international sales and
operations.

We anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, a significant portion of our revenues will continue to be
derived from sources outside of the U.S. A key element of our growth strategy is to further expand our customer
base internationally and successfully operate data centers in foreign markets. We have limited experience
operating in foreign jurisdictions and expect to rapidly grow our international operations. Managing a global
organization is difficult, time consuming, and expensive. Our inexperience in operating our business globally
increases the risk that international expansion efforts that we may undertake will not be successful. In addition,
conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally faced. These risks
include:

* Localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local
practices and r}egulatory requirements;

* Lack of familiarity with and unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements;

» Longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
« Difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

¢+ Fluctuation’ in currency exchange rates;

» Potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of transfer pricing, foreign value
added tax systems, and restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

* Dependence on certain third parties, including channel partners with whom we do not have extensive
experience;

¢ The burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and legal standards;
¢ Increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
¢ Political, social, and economic instability abroad, terrorist attacks and security concerns in general; and
* Reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.
Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources.

The investment and additional resources required to establish operations and manage growth in other countries
may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability.
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Our acquisitions may divert our management’s attention, result in dilution to our stockholders and consume
resources that are necessary to sustain our business.

We have made acquisitions and, if appropriate opportunities present themselves, we may make additional
acquisitions or investments or enter into joint ventures or strategic alliances with other companies. Risks
commonly encountered in such transactions include:

» The difficulty of assimilating the operations and personnel of the combined companies;

» The risk that we may not be able to integrate the acquired services or technologies with our current
services, products, and technologies;

» The potential disruption of our ongoing business;
* The diversion of management attention from our existing business;

» The inability of management to maximize our financial and strategic position through the successful
integration of the acquired businesses;

«+ Difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures, and policies;

» The impairment of relationships with employees, suppliers, and customers as a result of any
integration;

¢ The loss of an acquired base of customers and accompanying revenue; and

* The assumption of leased facilities, other long-term commitments or liabilities that could have a
material adverse impact on our profitability and cash flow.

As a result of these potential problems and risks, businesses that we may acquire or invest in may not
produce the revenue, earnings, or business synergies that we anticipated. In addition, there can be no assurance
that any potential trinsaction will be successfully identified and completed or that, if completed, the acquired
business or investment will generate sufficient revenue to offset the associated costs or other potential harmful
effects on our business.

We may encounter difficulties in the implementation of our new billing system, which could adversely affect
our operating results.

We converted our billing system to a new third party billing software in January 2009. This new billing
software required the migration of large amounts of customer data and the implementation of new billing
processes. The migration of customer and billing data to our new billing system could still result in the loss of, or
inaccuracies in, customer data that could cause us to issue inaccurate invoices to our customers, which could
harm our reputation. Unforeseen difficulties in the implementation of this billing system could hinder our ability
to generate customer invoices, which could lead to longer customer payment cycles, which could materially
affect our cash flows.

We have and will continue to incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company,
and our management will be required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we have and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses
that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, as well as rules subsequently implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, and the
New York Stock Exchange have imposed various requirements on public companies, including requiring
changes in corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a
substantial amount of time to these new compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations will
increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly.
For example, these new rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or
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incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. These rules and regulations could also make it
more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board
commiittees or as executive officers.

In order to respond to additional regulations applicable to public companies, such as Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we have recently hired a number of finance and accounting personnel. We use independent
contractors to fill certain positions and provide certain accounting functions. In the future, we may be required to
hire additional full-time accounting employees to fill these and other related finance and accounting positions.
Some of these positions require candidates with public company experience, and we may be unable to locate and
hire such individuals as quickly as needed, if at all. In addition, new employees will require time and training to
learn our business and operating processes and procedures. If our finance and accounting organization is unable
for any reason to respond adequately to the increased demands resulting from being a public company, the
quality and timeliness of our financial reporting may suffer and we could experience internal control weaknesses.
Any consequences resulting from inaccuracies or delays in our reported financial statements could have an
adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock as well as an adverse effect on our business, operating
results, and financial condition.

We are in the process of evaluating our system of internal controls and may not be able to demonstrate that we
can accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, our stockholders could lose
confidence in our financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of our common
stock.

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that
we can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs
to be re-evaluated frequently. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. We are in the process of documenting,
reviewing and improving our internal controls and procedures for compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which requires an annual management assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting and a report by our independent auditors assessing the effectiveness of such internal controls.

In January 2008, in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements, we determined that
we had material weaknesses relating to communication of significant transactions to our accounting department
and for proper accrual of expenditures (cutoff). A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis by the company’s internal controls. The material weakness related to expenditure cutoffs resulted in
the recording of audit adjustments for 2007. The remedial actions that we have taken will be subject to continued
management review, supported by testing and validation, as well as audit committee oversight. While we believe
we have appropriately remediated these material weaknesses, we cannot assure you that these or other material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies will not exist or otherwise be discovered in the future, which could impair
our ability to report our financial position, results of operations or cash flows in an accurate or timely manner.

Changes to financial accounting standards or practices may affect our reported financial results and cause us
to change our business practices.

We prepare our financial statements to conform to GAAP. These accounting principles are subject to
interpretation by the SEC and various other bodies. A change in those policies can have a significant effect on
our reported results and may affect our reporting of transactions completed before a change is announced.
Changes to those rules or the interpretation of our current practices may adversely affect our reported financial
results or the way we conduct our business. For example, on December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123 (revised
2004), Share-Based Payment, or SFAS 123(R). SFAS 123(R), which became effective for fiscal periods
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beginning after June 15, 2005 and requires that employee share-based compensation be measured based on its
fair-value on the grant date and treated as an expense that is reflected in the financial statements over the related
service period. As a result of SFAS 123(R), our operating results in 2006, 2007, and 2008 reflect share-based
compensation expenses that are reflected in prior periods using a different methodology, making it more difficult
for investors to evaluate our 2006, 2007 and 2008 operating results relative to prior periods.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock is likely to be volatile.

The market price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to, among other
things, the risk factors described in this periodic report, and other factors beyond our control, such as fluctuations
in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and
continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many companies. These fluctuations often have been
unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and industry
fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, and market conditions, such as recessions, interest rate
changes or international currency fluctuations, may negatively affect the market price of our common stock. We
may experience additional volatility as a result of the limited number of our shares available for trading in the
market.

In the past, many companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been
subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities
litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from other business
concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Our common stock has only been publicly traded since our initial public offering on August 7, 2008 and the
price of our common stock has fluctuated substantially since then and may fluctuate substantially in the
future.

Our common stock has only been publicly traded since our initial public offering on August 7, 2008. The trading
price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly since then. For example, between September 30, 2008 and
January 31, 2009, the closing trading price of our common stock was very volatile, ranging between $4.51 and
$9.77 per share, including single-day increases of up to 13.2% and declines up to 14.7%. Our trading price could
fluctuate substantially in the future due to the factors discussed in this Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this
annual report on Form 10-K.

Contractual lock-up restrictions on the sale of approximately 99 million shares held by certain stockholders
expired on February 3, 2009 and to the extent a stockholder is not an affiliate, its shares are now eligible for sale
without restriction. Affiliate sales are subject to the volume, manner of sale and other restrictions of Rule 144 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 which allow the holder to sell up to the greater of 1% of our outstanding
common stock or our average weekly trading volume during any three-month period. Shares held by Weston,
Norwest, Sequoia, and certain other parties will be subject to such requirements to the extent they are deemed to
be our “affiliates” as that term is defined in Rule 144. Additionally, Weston, Norwest and Sequoia possess
registration rights with respect to the shares of our common stock that they hold. If they choose to exercise such
rights, their sale of the shares that are registered would not be subject to the Rule 144 limitations. If a significant
amount of the shares that become eligible for resale enter the public trading markets in a short period of time, the
market price of our common stock may decline.
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The issuance of additional stock in connection with acquisitions, our stock option plans, or otherwise will
dilute all other stockholdings.

We have a large number of shares of common stock authorized but unissued and not reserved for issuance
under our stock option plans or otherwise. We may issue all of these shares without any action or approval by our
stockholders. We intend to continue to actively pursue strategic acquisitions. We may pay for such acquisitions,
partly or in full, through the issuance of additional equity. Any issuance of shares in connection with our
acquisitions, the exercise of stock options or otherwise would dilute the percentage ownership held by our then
existing stockholders.

Your ability to influence corporate matters may be limited because a small number of stockholders
beneficially own a substantial amount of our common stock.

Our directors and executive officers and their affiliates beneficially own a significant portion of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise significant influence over all
matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate
transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets. Although our directors and executive
officers are not currently party to any agreements or understandings to act together on matters submitted for
stockholder approval, this concentration of ownership could limit your ability to influence corporate matters and
may have the effect of delaying or preventing a third party from acquiring control over us.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a
change of control, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock
price adversely and prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could
delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our board of directors deemed undesirable by
our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some of these provisions:

«  Authorize the issuance of blank check preferred stock which can be created and issued by our board of
directors without prior stockholder approval, with voting, liquidation, dividend, and other rights senior
to those of our common stock;

«  Provide for a classified board of directors, with each director serving a staggered three-year term;

«  Prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacancies or increasing the size of our board, calling
special stockholder meetings or taking action by written consent,

+  Provide for the removal of a director only with cause and by the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of our directors; and

Require advance written notice of stockholder proposals and director nominations.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
which may prohibit certain business combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding
voting stock. These and other provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws
and Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our
board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed by our then-current board of directors, including a merger,
tender offer or proxy contest involving our company. Any delay or prevention of a change of control transaction
or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
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ITEM IB—UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2—PROPERTIES

Office Space

As of December 31, 2008, we leased approximately 415,000 square feet of office space located in the U.S.,
the U.K., the Netherlands, and Hong Kong used for customer service, operations, sales, corporate and
administrative functions. Our corporate headquarter facility is located in the U.S. in San Antonio, Texas and has
approximately 67 acres of land and a 1.2 million square foot facility which had been previously vacated. We
have remodeled and are currently using approximately 85,000 square feet of office space. This facility will
continue to be remodeled as needed to facilitate future growth and office requirements. Besides the corporate
headquarters, we have additional U.S. office locations in Texas, Virginia, Missouri and Georgia.

Data Centers

As of December 31, 2008, we leased eight data centers with approximately 134,900 technical square feet
located in the U.S., the UK., and in Hong Kong. The four data centers in the U.S are located in Texas and
Virginia. In January 2009, we completed the build out of a data center in Texas and added approximately 22,600
technical square feet. In February 2009, we entered into an agreement to lease approximately 11,000 technical
square feet in a facility in Virginia, which should begin operations in the third quarter of 2009.

We believe that our existing office space and data center facilities are adequate for our current needs and
that suitable additional or alternative space will be available in the future to meet our anticipated needs.

ITEM 3—LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to various legal proceedings which we consider routine and incidental to our business. On
October 22, 2008, Benjamin E. Rodriguez D/B/A Management and Business Advisors vs. Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
and Graham Weston, was filed in the 37" District Court in Bexar County Texas by a former consultant to the
company, Benjamin E. Rodriguez. The suit alleges breach of an oral agreement to issue Mr. Rodriguez a |%
interest in our stock in the form of options or warrants for compensation for services he was engaged to perform
for us. We believe that the plaintiff’s position is without merit and intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit. We
do not expect the results of this claim or any other current proceeding to have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

ITEM 4—SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008.
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PARTII

ITEM 5—MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information for Common Stock
Our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “RAX” beginning on

August 8, 2008. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.

The following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low closing prices for our common
stock for the periods indicate, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange.

2008
High Low
Third quarter (from August 8,2008) .............. $11.71  $8.24
Fourth QUArter .............coouiveneemneann.nn $ 833 $4.79

The last reported sale price for our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $5.31 per share on
February 27, 2009.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Our board of directors currently intends to
retain any future earnings to support operations and to finance the growth and development of our business and
does not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any future determination
related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board.

Stockholders

As of February 26, 2009, there were 477 registered stockholders of record of our common stock. Because
many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are
unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these stockholders of record.

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see Part III
“Item 12—Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.”

Stock Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock between
August 7, 2008 (the date of our initial public offering, or IPO) and December 31, 2008, with the cumulative total
return of (i) the Russell 2000 Index and (ii) the Nasdaq Internet Total Return Index, over the same period. This
graph assumes the investment of $100 on August 7, 2008 in our common stock at our [PO offering price of
$12.50 per share, the Russell 2000 Index and the Nasdagq Internet Total Return Index, and assumes the
reinvestment of dividends, if any. We are currently included in the Russell 2000 Index. The Nasdaq Internet
Total Return Index consists of U.S. listed companies engaged in internet-related businesses.
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The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price
performance shown in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential
future performance of our common stock.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Sales of Unregistered Securities

On November 25, 2008, we paid 330,250 shares of our common stock to the sole stockholder of Jungle
Disk, Inc. as partial merger consideration for our acquisition of Jungle Disk, Inc. on October 22, 2008. The
issuance of these shares of common stock was made in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock

On August 7, 2008, our registration statement was declared effective for our IPO. As a result of the offering,
we received net proceeds of approximately $144.6 million.

In August 2008, we used $57.3 million of the net proceeds from the IPO to repay outstanding balances
under our revolving line of credit. However, in September 2008, as a result of uncertain economic conditions in
the credit and bank markets, we borrowed $150 million from the credit facility. In October 2008, we acquired
two companies. The purchase price of the combined acquisitions was approximately $11.5 million payable in
cash and stock, with the potential for up to $16.5 million in additional payouts of cash and stock based on certain
performance criteria.

Our primary sources of capital are cash generated from operating activities, equipment financing
arrangements with vendor-related leasing companies, and funds available under our revolving line of credit. We
have used, and intend to continue to use, the net proceeds from the IPO to supplement these existing sources of
capital primarily to finance our growth plans, as well as for working capital and general corporate purposes,
including financing our growth initiatives domestically and internationally, and for potential acquisitions.

In our prospectus for the IPO, we anticipated making aggregate capital expenditures of approximately
$335 million in 2008, $160 million of which was expected to be allocated for construction contracts for our new
corporate headquarters in the San Antonio, Texas area and expansion of data center facilities in the U.S. and the
U.K., with the remaining $175 million expected to be allocated for purchases of IT equipment. In our earnings
release for the third quarter of 2008 dated November 5, 2008, we reduced our anticipated aggregate capital
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expenditure estimate for 2008 to $270 million. Our actual capital expenditures for 2008 were approximately $260
million. We anticipate making aggregate capital expenditures between $105 million and $160 million in 2009,
primarily for customer gear. However, we may still accelerate or postpone those expenditures to align our asset
base with the need to support our customers and to exploit opportunities to acquire assets. In addition we most
likely will make earnout payments of up to $16.5 million related to our recent acquisitions. The timing and
amount of our actual expenditures are based on many factors, including cash flows from operations and the
anticipated growth of our business.

Pending the use of the remaining proceeds, we have invested the net proceeds in short-term, highly liquid,
interest-bearing, money market funds.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.
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ITEM 6—SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and the notes to those statements and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements included eisewhere in this
document. The selected consolidated financial data in this section are not intended to replace the financial
statements and is qualified in its entirety by the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto
included elsewhere in this document.

The statements of income and cash flow data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008
and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and 2008 have been derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements, which have been audited by KPMG, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm,
and included elsewhere in this document. The statements of income data for the vears ended December 31, 2004
and 2005 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 have been derived Jrom our
audited consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by KPMG, LLP, independent registered
public accounting firm, and are included in the prospectus for our initial public offering. Historical results are
not necessarily indicative of future results. The unaudited selected consolidated financial data set forth below
include, in the opinion of management, all adjustments, which are normal recurring in nature, that are necessary
Jfor a fair presentation of the information set forth therein. See note 3 to the financial statements for an
explanation of the method used to determine the number of shares used in computing basic and diluted net
income per common share.

Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Netrevenues ............ovuieneneen . $86,763 $138,768 $223,966 $362,017 $531,933
Costs and expenses:
Costofrevenues ........................... 28,934 40,987 64,889 118,225 172,583
Sales and marketing ........................ 14,999 21,837 35,667 53,930 80,323
General and administrative .................. 22,725 38,968 59,832 102,777 148,706
Depreciation and amortization . ............... 12,471 20,193 32,335 56,476 90,172
Total costs and expenses ................ 79,129 121,985 192,723 331,408 491,784
Income from operations ............. 7,634 16,783 31,243 30,609 40,149
Other income (expense):
Interestexpense ........................... 612) (808) (1,095) (3,643) (8,229)
Interest and otherincome . ................... 270 633 572 828 768
Total other income (expense) ......... (342) (175) (523) 2,815) (7,461)
Income before income taxes .. ............ 7,292 16,608 30,720 27,794 32,688
Incometaxes ............ ... . 2,467 5,836 10,900 9,965 10,985
Net income from continuing operations . . . . . $ 4825 $ 10772 $ 19.820 $ 17.829 $ 21,703
Net income (loss) from discontinued
operations . ................ ... ..., $3083 $ — § — $ — 5 —
Netincome ....................... $ 7908 $ 10,772 $ 19,820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703
Net income per share from continuing operations
Basic ...... ... . $ 006 $ 012 $ 020 $ 018 $ 020
Diluted ........ ... .. ... ... .. $ 005 $ o011 $ 019 $ 017 $ 0.19
Balance sheet data
Cash and cash equivalents ....................... $ 7288 $ 8022 $ 8374 $ 24937 $238,407
Totalassets . .......... .. ..., 56,012 83,645 132,983 301,813 685,261
Long term obligations .......................... 8,344 8,417 16,391 96,213 283,053
Total stockholders’ equity ....................... 29,259 46,713 70,490 96,873 269,684
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ITEM 7—MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes contained elsewhere in this document.

Overview of our Business

Rackspace Hosting, Inc. is a world leader in hosting and cloud computing. Our growth is the result of our
commitment to serving our customers, known as Fanatical Support®, and our exclusive focus on hosting and
cloud computing. We have been successful in attracting and retaining thousands of customers and in growing our
business. We are a pioneer in an emerging category, hybrid hosting, which combines the benefits of both
traditional dedicated hosting and cloud computing. We are committed to maintain our service-centric focus and
will follow our vision to be considered one of the world’s greatest service companies.

We offer services to support websites, web-based IT systems, and computing as a service. The equipment
required (servers, routers, switches, firewalls, load balancers, cabinets, software, wiring, etc.) to deliver services
is typically purchased and managed by us. Rackspace offers a full suite of hosting services, including managed
hosting, email hosting, as well as emerging services such as cloud hosting.

We sell our services to small and medium-sized businesses as well as large enterprises. During 2008, 27.9%
of our net revenues were generated by our operations outside of the U.S., mainly from the U.K. Late in 2008, we
also began operations of a Hong Kong data center and a sales office, which generated minimal revenue in 2008.
Our growth strategy includes among other strategies, targeting international customers as we plan to expand our
activities in continental Europe and Asia. In 2008, no individual customer accounted for greater than 1% of our
net revenues.

As we grow our business, we believe our operations are exposed to certain risks and uncertainties, which
could negatively impact our operating results and financial condition. See the section entitled “Risk Factors” for
further discussion of these risks.

General Economic Conditions: The global economy is currently experiencing a significant contraction, with
a lack of availability of business and consumer credit. This current decrease and any future decrease in economic
activity in the United States or in other regions of the world in which we do business could significantly and
adversely affect our net revenues, results of operations and financial condition. We may also experience
increased churn by customers that already use our services, or customers may downgrade their current level of
service in response to slower or declining growth in their businesses. Further, bankruptcies or similar events by
our customers may cause us to incur bad debt expense at levels higher than historically experienced.

Expanding and maintaining our talent base: We rely heavily on knowledgeable and experienced employees
to provide a high level of service on a continuous basis in a complex technology-driven environment. This
requires us to hire and retain professionals, many of whom may have employment opportunities elsewhere. We

may have to adjust compensation in the future to remain competitive in the market for talent which may increase
our cost structure.

New markets and service offerings: We are expanding our geographic footprint and are in the process of
developing and acquiring new services. Those new ventures may not yield the returns that we expect and we may
incur development costs beyond what we expect today. Delays or unexpected costs may decrease margins
temporarily or permanently.
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How We Earn Revenue and Measure Growth

Our subscription-based business model generates almost all of our revenues on a recurring basis. Our
customers pay us a recurring fee based on the size and complexity of the IT systems we manage and the level of
service intensity we provide, pursuant to service agreements that typically provide for monthly payments. Our
cloud business offers pay-as-you go services that are earned and recognized as the services are provided.
Recurring revenues are reduced by credits issued to customers, primarily for service interruptions, and also
include revenues related to customers who have cancelled their service. A minor portion of our revenues are
non-recurring, which includes certain usage charges, set-up fees, and professional services. Net revenues for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were $224.0 million, $362.0 million and $531.9 million,
respectively, representing year-over-year increases of 61.6% in 2007 and 46.9% in 2008. Recurring and
non-recurring revenues represented 96.6% and 3.4% of our total revenues in 2008.

Our revenue growth is primarily due to increased volume of services provided, both due to an increasing
number of customers and incremental services rendered to existing customers, as well as a broader suite of
hosting services acquired through acquisitions and research and development activities. “Growth in installed
base” is a metric we use to measure the growth of revenue derived only from our existing customer base.

The growth in installed base metric consists of “net upgrades” minus defection “churn”. Net upgrades
measure the incremental monthly recurring revenues from customer upgrades less downgrades as a percentage of
total monthly recurring revenues. Churn measures the reduction of monthly revenues as a percentage of total
monthly recurring revenues due to customer terminations. Terminations typically result from customers who
(i) no longer need hosting services, (ii) are unable to pay for hosting services, (iii) decide to provide their services
in-house, or (iv) switch to another hosting provider. For the year ended December 31, 2008, our average monthly
growth in installed base was 0.6%.

We measure net upgrades at the time a customer changes services with us and we measure churn in the
month we stop providing services to the customer. Net upgrades and churn are expressed as percentage increases
(decreases) in the contractual monthly recurring fee associated with a service agreement for a given customer.

Our net revenues are denominated in U.S. dollars as well as other foreign currencies including the pound
sterling, the Euro, and Hong Kong dollars. Changes in related currency exchange rates may affect our net
revenues. The decrease in net revenues, due to foreign currency fluctuations, was approximately $12.7 million, or
2.4% in 2008.

Nature of Our Operating Expenses

Our operating expense categories include cost of revenues, sales and marketing, general and administrative,
and depreciation and amortization.

Employee related costs have historically been the primary driver of our operating expenses and we expect
this trend to continue. Employee related costs include items such as wages, commissions, bonuses, vacation,
benefits, and share-based compensation. We had 2,021 and 2,611 employees as of December 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively. The year-over-year increases were primarily attributable to increases in our sales and customer
support teams. To maintain our service focus, our support teams have grown in proportion to the growth of our
business. Our headcount is expected to increase in 2009, but we expect that our sales and support organizations
will realize efficiencies in 2009 as a result of current operational excellence initiatives.

Cost of revenues primarily consists of employee related costs of our customer support teams and data center
employees, as well as the costs to operate our data centers. The majority of our data center costs vary with the
volume of services sold and include: power, bandwidth, and rent; costs associated with licenses; and costs related
to maintenance and the replacement of IT equipment components. Our contracts with network operators for
bandwidth capacity generally commit us to pay a monthly fee based on usage. Our data centers rely on local and
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regional utility companies as their primary source of power. We enter into contracts with software providers that
allow us to provide licenses to our customers. Our arrangements with these software vendors are typically one to
three years in length and we generally pay a fixed fee per license.

Sales and marketing activities are directed toward both the acquisition of new customers and increasing our
business with existing customers. We pay commissions to out sales representatives generally upon execution of a
service agreement. Sales and marketing expense also includes compensation to our channel partners. Marketing
expenditures are intended to communicate the advantages of our services and to generate customer demand. The
majority of our marketing expenditures relate to lead generation through pay-per-click placements on major
Internet search engines.

General and administrative activities are comprised of employee related costs, professional fees, general
corporate costs and overhead. In 2008, we invested in our administrative infrastructure and personnel to support
our continued growth and expenses related to becoming a publicly traded company, including increased audit and
legal fees, costs of compliance with securities and other regulations, implementation costs for Sarbanes-Oxley
certification and compliance with Section 404, investor relations expense, and higher insurance premiums. In the
third and fourth quarters of 2008, we began to scale our administrative costs with a focus on operational
excellence projects, process improvement initiatives and decreased discretionary spending.

Depreciation and amortization expense includes amortization of leasehold improvements associated with
our data centers and corporate facilities, as weli as depreciation of our data center infrastructure and equipment.
Amortization expense is also comprised of the amortization of our customer based intangible assets related to
acquisitions, internally developed technology, and software licenses purchased from third-party vendors.

Our operating expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars as well as other foreign currencies including the
pound sterling, the Euro, and Hong Kong dollar. Changes in related currency exchange rates may affect our
operating results. The decrease in operating expenses, due to foreign currency fluctuations, was approximately
$9.9 million, or 2.0% in 2008.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures primarily relate to customer gear, data center infrastructure, corporate office build-
outs, and internally developed software and other projects. Each category is defined below:

Customer gear—Includes servers, firewalls, load balancers, cabinets, switches, backup libraries, storage
arrays and drives and network cabling.

Data center infrastructure—Includes generators, uninterruptible power supplies or UPS, power distribution
units, mechanical and electrical plants, chillers, raised floor and other building improvements.

Corporate office build-outs—Includes demolition, raised floor, chillers, furniture and general building -
improvements.

Internally developed software and other—Includes salaries and payroll-related costs of employees and
consultants who devote time to the development of certain internal-use software projects, and other projects
that meet the criteria for capitalization.

In 2008, we expended cash or entered into lease arrangements for the purchase of customer gear of $105.6
million, data center infrastructure costs of $79.8 million, corporate office build-outs of $41.2 million and $24.2
million related to internally developed software and other capitalized projects. In 2009, we expect to have capital
expenditures between $105 million and $160 million in the aggregate consisting of $75-$100 million for
customer gear, $10-$25 million for data center infrastructure costs, $10-$15 million for office build-outs, and
$10-$20 million for capitalized software and other projects.

33



Our data center infrastructure is built to accommodate future revenue growth. While we try to minimize the
amount of excess capacity, we consider appropriate lead times for these build outs, which requires us to build
capacity ahead of actual revenue growth. We also strive to align our investment in data center infrastructure with
our revenue growth to keep utilization rates high. We measure our utilization rate as the power being consumed
by all electrical equipment relative to the total available capacity in our data centers. We pursue a modular build
out strategy within our data centers that expands the operational footprint when needed. From time to time, we
will be required to make significant investments in new data centers or enter into long-term facility leases to
support expected growth beyond our ability to build out additional modules in existing facilities.

Generally, our recurring revenue model and our just-in-time approach to resource allocation lead to
relatively stable margins over time. However, funding needs may increase and margins will likely decrease in
periods when we make large investments in our future. Such investments may be made in connection with data
center and office expansion, as well as significant product and market development initiatives. We made such
investments in 2007 and continued to make similar investments in 2008.

In February 2009, we entered into an agreement with a subsidiary of Dupont Fabros Technology, a leading
owner, developer, operator and manager of wholesale data centers in the U.S. to lease a portion of its data center
facility. The lease is for 11,000 square feet of technical floor space, and we expect it to be online in the third
quarter of 2009. This data center facility will be able to service our expected growth while providing additional
geographic redundancy to new and existing customers. We expect to have lower initial capital investments in our
data center projects that include third-party infrastructure management for data center facilities, and we anticipate
continuing to pursue similar arrangements. If market conditions should change and distressed assets become
available, we may alter this approach in the future.
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Key Metrics

We carefully track several financial and operational metrics to monitor and control our growth, financial
performance, and capacity. Our key metrics are structured around growth, profitability, capital efficiency,
infrastructure capacity, and utilization. The following data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements, the notes to the financial statements and other financial information included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except as noted) 2006 2007 2008
Growth
Managed hosting customers at periodend .. ... ... o oo 12,016 15,454 18,480
Cloud customers atperiod end™® .. ....... ... il 661 13,739 34,820
Number of customers atperiodend ............... ... ... i 12,677 29,193 53,300
Managed hosting, NELTEVENUES ... ... .tvortirt et aite et s $223,656 $356,519 $ 506,855
Cloud, NEETEVEIIUES .+« o v et e e et e e e e e et e e e e e et e et e iiaaanns $ 310 $ 5,498 $ 25,078
NEETEVEIUES . « « v v v e e e e e et e e ettt ettt ettt et et ey $223,966 $362,017 $ 531,933
Revenue growth (Year OVEI YEar) . ... ..o v vuriiniinn e en oo 61.4% 61.6% 46.9%
Net upgrades (monthly average) ..............ooieeeieeniiiiinnaanns 2.4% 2.5% 1.8%
Churn (monthly aVerage) ... .....vvrrre it aaiiiinree i -0.9% -0.9% -1.2%
Growth in installed base (monthly average) ........... ... ... ..o 1.5% 1.6% 0.6%
Number of employees (Rackers) atperiodend ............. .. .............. 1,234 2,021 2,611
Number of servers deployed atperiodend .......... ...t 26,258 36,692 47,518
Profitability
Income from OPETAtiONS . . .« vvvn ettt it s e $ 31,243 $ 30,609 $ 40,149
Depreciation and amortization . .. ..........uttennre et $ 32,335 $ 56,476 $ 90,172
Share-based compensation expense
COSEOf TEVEIIUES . . o v v v et et eee e e e e e eee e aa e $ 83 $ 433 $ 2,465
Salesand marketing .. ... ... vrt ittt $ 156 $ 598 $ 2,141
General and adminiStrative . .. ...t it it e e $ 851 $ 3,221 $ 10411
Total share-based cOmMPENSation EXPENSE . ... ..vvvuevvrrruervrrness $ 1,09 $ 4,252 $ 15,017
Adjusted BBITDA (1) .« .ot e $ 64,668 $ 91,337 $ 145,338
Adjusted EBITDA Iargin . ... ...oooutitiinniiatnirnineaanaanes 28.9% 25.2% 27.3%
Operating InCome MArgin . . .. ... vrre ottt e et 13.9% 8.5% 7.5%
Income from OPErations . ... .......uuiiiinrrneee e $ 31,243 $ 30,609 $ 40,149
Bffective tAX TALE . ..ottt et ettt et ie et i e 35.5% 35.9% 33.6%
Net operating profit after tax NOPAT) (1) ...t $ 20,152 $ 19,620 $ 26,659
NOPAT IATZIN .« o oee vt ettt ettt et e e e e 9.0% 5.4% 5.0%
Capital efficiency and returns ]
Interestbearing debt . ... ... ... $ 19,324 $111,451 $ 300,413
StocKhOIdErs’ EQUILY .« .o vttt ettt e $ 70,490 $ 96,873 $ 269,684
Less: BXCESS CaSN . oottt e $ — I $(200,620)
Capital .. ... e $ 89,814 $208,324 $ 369,477
Average capital base ¥* .. ... ... L. $ 69,720 $144,783 $ 292,238
Capital turnover (annualized) ** .......... ... ... i 3.21 2.50 1.82
Return on capital (annualized) (1) ** .. ... ... ... . i 28.9% 13.6% 9.1%
Capital expenditures
Purchases of property and equipment, net . ........ ... $ 54,807 $140,383 $ 165,396
Vendor financed equipment purchases . ............oioeiiiiiiiiieeeaaannn $ 18,825 $ 44,149 $ 85,490
Total capital expenditures ........ ... ..o it $ 73,632 $184,532 $ 250,886
CUSIOMIET ZEAT .+« . ottt vtt e e ettt et e et e et $ 59,275 $ 85,162 $ 105,606
Datacenter build OULS . ..ottt et et et e e e e $ 1,057 $ 38,239 $ 79,820
Office DUILA OULS .+ o ot ettt ettt et e et e et et e et et $ 1,215 $ 35,383 $ 41,214
Capitalized software and other projects ... ...... ...t $ 12,085 $ 25,748 $ 24246
Total capital expenditures ..............ooiiiiiiiii $ 73,632 $184,532 $ 250,886
Infrastructure capacity and utilization
Technical square feet of data center space at periodend .......... ... ......... 91,905 114,749 134,923
Annualized net revenue per average technical square foot
(actual dollar amounts) ** . ... $ 2,586 $ 3,604 $ 4,189
Utilization rate at period end . .......... ... o i 56.7% 60.9% 70.4%

*  December 31, 2008 amounts include customers resulting from the Slicehost acquisition.

*##  Certain adjustments have been made to the key metrics for the year ended December 31, 2007 in order to conform to the current
year’s presentation.

(1) See discussion and reconciliation of our Non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable GAAP measures included
within this document.
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Executive Overview

To aid in understanding our operating results for the periods covered by this report, we have provided an
executive overview and a summary of the significant events that affected the most recent fiscal year. These
sections should be read in conjunction with the more detailed discussion and analysis of our financial condition
and results of operations in Item 7, our “Risk Factors” section included in Item 1A of Part I, and our audited
consolidated financial statements and notes included in Itemn 8 of Part II of this report.

Our 2008 performance was the result of a combination of strong market demand for our hosting services as
well as our focused execution on our growth strategy. We continued to experience high revenue growth rates
with year-over-year increases in our managed hosting business of 42.2% and over triple digit growth in our cloud
computing business. As of December 31, 2008, we served over 53,000 customers running on over 47,500 servers
within our data centers in the U.S., the U.K., and Hong Kong, which represented incremental increases in each
category as compared to 2007. In addition, we concentrated on the cost structure of our business and scaled
certain investments. During 2008, we implemented a series of operational excellence initiatives. These initiatives
are intended to strengthen our information systems and processes throughout our organization to support our
continued growth. These initiatives will continue in 2009,

In 2008, we continued to grow our business, but did experience slower revenue growth in the third and
fourth quarters. While we reported solid results for 2008, our business was impacted by the global
macroeconomic conditions and the slowdown in IT spend by many companies. We believe that our hosting
services provide customers with a mission critical service and add value to their business. We believe this, along
with our focus on providing a superior service to our customers and our ability to offer our customers a suite of
hosting solutions, will continue to differentiate us from our competitors and enable us to gain market share in a
more constrained spending environment.

As of December 31, 2008, we held $238.4 million in cash and money market funds. We believe that this
positions us well to purchase capital equipment to grow our business and capitalize on strategic acquisitions.
Additionally, we expect to continue to make significant investments that are designed to enhance our business
fundamentals and enable us to provide a better overall experience for our customers, which we believe will lead
to greater profit over time. This is evidenced by our recently completed acquisitions of Jungle Disk and
Slicehost, which are examples of our strategic use of cash.

The highlights and significant events of 2008 and the impact on our operating results compared to 2007
were as follows:

Net Revenues—Net revenues increased $169.9 million, or 46.9%, to $531.9 million in 2008, compared to
2007. The growth rate was impacted by the broader economic environment as well as a strengthening U.S.
dollar relative to the pound sterling. Our growth rate was negatively affected by approximately 3.5% due to
the appreciation of the U.S. dollar to the pound sterling. During 2008, we experienced a monthly average
churn rate of 1.2%, which slightly increased from 0.9% for 2007, Overall, our installed base continued to
provide a portion of our growth in 2008, growing at an average rate of 0.6% per month.

Income from Operations—Income from operations increased $9.5 million to $40.1 million in 2008,
compared to $30.6 million in 2007. Income trom operations increased as a result of higher revenue, partially
offset by an increase in operating expenses. Operating income margin was 7.5% in 2008 as compared to
8.5% in 2007. The decrease in operating income margin was primarily attributable to increases in operating
expenses as a percentage of net revenues. Such increases were largely due to investments and the
incremental number of Rackers hired to support our future growth primarily in our sales organization and
our customer support groups. Additionally, operating income margin decreased due to continued spend on
advertising and internet related marketing expenditures, costs of becoming a public company and the overall
growth in our business operations.
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Adjusted EBITDA -Adjusted EBITDA increased $54.0 million to $145.3 million in 2008, compared to $91.3
million in 2007, or 59.1%. Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue was 27.3% in 2008 as compared to
25.2% in 2007. See below for a discussion of Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure.

Net Income and Net Income per Share—Net income was $21.7 million, or $0.19 per share on a diluted
basis in 2008, compared to net income of $17.8 million, or $0.17 per share on a diluted basis in 2007. As a
result, net income increased 21.9% from 2007 to 2008. The increase in net income in 2008 was primarily
attributable to revenue growth and an increase in income from operations as discussed above. The increase
in income from operations was partially offset by higher net interest and other income along with higher
income tax expense in 2008.

Other Financial Highlights—As of December 31, 2008, we had $37.8 million in cash deposits and $200.6
million in money market funds. Our debt obligations totaled $300.4 million. Of those, $210.7 million were
related to current and non-current debt, and $89.7 million were related to obligations under capital and
finance method leases. As of December 31, 2008, we had access to an additional $44.2 million under our
current credit facility.

Significant Events

Our suite of hosting solutions have been enhanced with our additional investments in the cloud. In 2008, we
invested $2.5 million on cloud research and development activities and $11.5 million on acquisitions. During the
third quarter of 2008, we acquired Jungle Disk, a company specializing in cloud storage solutions, and Slicehost,
a cloud hosting company. These acquisitions are a result of our cloud computing strategy, and extend
Rackspace’s technology and service leadership to cloud computing. As a result of these acquisitions and
internally developed technology, we now offer a suite of cloud services which offer shared server and storage
devices that allow customers to scale up or down on demand. '

We continue to invest in our cloud computing business and believe it is a critical part of our future success.
Cloud computing continues to emerge as a new technology, with high adoption rates and investment. The
tightening economy means businesses have a greater need to get value for money, which is one of the primary
benefits of cloud computing. It enables businesses to match costs directly to revenues to scale up and down as
necessaty.

We believe that cloud computing does not replace traditional dedicated hosting offerings, but rather
complements it. Certain customers will always need security requirements, flexibility, performance or control
which preclude the cloud. In those cases, a hybrid hosting solution involving both cloud computing and dedicated
hosting is a viable alternative.

Also in 2008, we continued to focus on growth in new geographies with the addition of a data center and
sales office in Hong Kong, and made significant investments in the U.S. and U.K. We will continue to do the
same in 2009 provided the economic conditions support growth in these geographies.

During 2008, we added an approximate net 20,000 technical square feet of data center space, which
primarily included the following:

+  Addition of approximately 6,500 technical square feet in our new Hong Kong data center in August
2008, as part of our expansion efforts into the Asia Pacific region.

*  Addition of approximately 18,700 technical square feet at our Slough, U.K. data center.
+ Reduction due to migration of 6,000 technical square feet from colocation facilities to our Slough, U.K.

data center.

In January 2009, we completed the last phase of our data center build out at our Grapevine, Texas data
center. The completion of this phase increased the total available technical square feet by 22,600.

37



In February 2009, Rackspace and Grizzly Ventures LLC, a subsidiary of DuPont Fabros Technology, Inc.
entered into an agreement to lease 11,000 square feet of technical square feet in a data center facility located in
Virginia. We expect the facility to begin operations in the third quarter of 2009.

We believe these strategic investments in the cloud, new geographies and data centers, position us well for
the future. However, if hosting market trends and emerging markets such as the cloud do not perform as
anticipated, and if there is reduced demand for our services, our expected rate of revenue growth could be
materially impacted. Continued revenue growth depends on the introduction and market acceptance of new
hosting services and continued market demand for our current hosting services. We will continue to invest in
Rackers, processes, and systems necessary to best optimize our revenue growth and long-term profitability.
However, we cannot assure you that such investments will result in achieving our financial objectives.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Return on Capital (ROC) (Non-GAAP financial measure)
We define Return on Capital (ROC) as follows:

ROC = Net Operating Profit After Tax (NOPAT)
Average Capital Base

NOPAT = Income from operations x (1 — Effective tax rate)

Average Capital Base = Average of (Interest bearing debt + stockholders’ equity - excess cash) = Average of
(Total assets — excess cash - accounts payables and accrued expenses — deferred revenues — other non-current
liabilities)

We define excess cash as our investments in money market funds. Average balances for the total year are
based on a five quarter average calculated using the period end balance and the four previous quarter ending
balances.

We believe that ROC is an important metric for investors in evaluating our company’s performance. ROC
relates to after-tax operating profits with the capital that is placed into service. It is therefore a performance
metric that incorporates both the Statement of Income and the Balance Sheet. ROC measures how successfully
capital is deployed within a company.

Note that ROC is not a measure of financial performance under accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States (GAAP) and should not be considered a substitute for return on assets, which we consider to be
the most directly comparable GAAP measure, and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported
by other companies.

ROC decreased from 28.9% in 2006 to 13.6% in 2007 to 9.1% in 2008. These decreases were due to a
proportionately larger increase in the average capital base compared to the increase in income from operations
over the same time period. Included in the average capital base for 2008 are capital expenditures related to our
new corporate headquarter facility and data centers that were or are in the process of being built out. Return on
assets decreased from 18.7% in 2006 to 8.5% in 2007 to 4.5% in 2008 due to the significant investments over
these time periods. In addition, the second half of 2008 had higher cash and cash equivalent balances due to our
IPO in August 2008, and a draw on our revolving credit facility resulting from the uncertainty in the credit
markets. :
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See our reconciliation of the calculation of return on assets to ROC in the following table:

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands, financial metrics) 2006 2007 2008
Income frOm OPETAIONS . . . ... .vvvrontt ettt niee e anees $ 31,243 $ 30,609 §$ 40,149

Effective tAX TALE . . o\ttt e et ettt et et e 35.5% 35.9% 33.6%

Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) . ........... ... ....oiiin $ 20,152 $ 19,620 $ 26,659
NELINCOMIE - o v v e et e e e e e e e e ettt e it e $ 19820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703
Average total @SSELS .. ... ..o it $105,770 $210,606 $487,183
Less: Average eXcess Cash ... .....ovuioien i $ — $ —  $(87,208)
Less: Average accounts payable and accrued expenses .. ................. $(24,366) $(47,352) $(74,640)
Less: Average deferred revenues (current and non-current) . .............. $ (7,522) $(13,188) $(19,538)
Less: Average other non-current liabilities ............................ $ (4,162) $ (5,283) $(13,559)
Average capital base . .. ... . $ 69,720 $144,783 $292,238
Return on assets (Net income/Average total assets) ..................... 18.7% 8.5% 4.5%
Return on capital (NOPAT/Average capital base) ....................... 28.9% 13.6% 9.1%

Adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP financial measure)

We use Adjusted EBITDA as a supplement measure to review and assess our performance. We define
Adjusted EBITDA as Net Income, less Total Other Income (Expense), plus Income Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization, and non-cash charges for share-based compensation.

Adjusted EBITDA is a metric that is used in our industry by the investment community for comparative and
valuation purposes. We disclose this metric in order to support and facilitate the dialogue with research analysts
and investors.

Note that Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) and should not be considered a substitute for operating income,
which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an
analytical tool, and when assessing our operating performance, you should not consider Adjusted EBITDA in
isolation, or as a substitute for net income or other consolidated income statement data prepared in accordance
with GAAP. Other companies may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as
a comparative measure. See our Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation below.

Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2006 2007 2008
NELINCOMIE .« v oo v et et e e e e e e e e et e ettt it aeae $19.820 $17,829 §$ 21,703
Less: Total other (iNCOME) EXPENSE . .. oo v v vve e eeenennns $ 523 $ 2,815 $ 7,461
PlUS: INCOME tAXES .« « v v e e e e et e e ettt e e e it $10,900 $ 9,965 $ 10,985
Plus: Depreciation and amortization . .................oooiiiiiian. $32,335 $56,476 $ 90,172
Plus: Share-based compensation eXpense .................ooooueenn. $ 1,000 $ 4252 § 15017
Adjusted EBITDA ... ...t $64,668 $91,337 $145,338
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the specified periods and as a percentage of our
revenues for those periods. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of
future results.

Consolidated Statements of Income:

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2006 2007 2008
NELTOVENUES . . ..o $223,966 $362,017 $531,933
Costs and expenses:
CostOf TEVENUES . . ..ot 64,889 118225 172,583
Salesand marketing .............. ... .. . ... ... . .. . ... ... .. 35,667 53,930 80,323
General and administrative . ................0urrr 59,832 102,777 148,706
Depreciation and amortization ................. ... ... . .. ... ... 32,335 56,476 90,172
Total costs and expenses ......................ouiirunni... 192,723 331,408 491,784
Income fromoperations ................... ... ... . ..., 31,243 30,609 40,149
Other income (expense):
Interest €Xpense . ........... . (1,095) (3,643) (8,229)
Interest and other income (expense) ................... it 572 828 768
Total other income (€Xpense) .. ..........couueeeeno.. .. (523) (2,815) (7,461)
Income before income taxes .. ...........o. 30,720 27,794 32,688
Income taxes . ... ... i 10,900 9,965 10,985
NetIncome . ......... ... .. . $ 19,820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703

Consolidated Statements of Income, as a Percentage of Net Revenues:

Years Ended December 31,

(Percent of net revenues) 2006 2007 2008
NEUTEVENUES ... ...ttt e e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses
Costof revenUEs . ... ... i 290% 32.7% 32.4%
Sales and marketing ........... ... ... .. 159% 14.9% 15.1%
General and administrative . ................. .. ... . . 26.7% 28.4% 28.0%
Depreciation and amortization . .............. .. ... ... ... ... ... ... 144% 15.6% 17.0%
Total costs and €Xpenses . ................. ... 86.1% 91.5% 92.5%
Income from operations . .............. ... .. ... 139% 85% 7.5%
Other income (expense)
Interest expense ............. . 0.5% -1.0% -15%
Interest and other income (€Xpense) ......................iiiiii . 03% 02% 0.1%
Total other income (eXpense) . ..., -02% -08% -1.4%
Income before income taxes .. ............... . 137% 77% 6.1%
INCOME TAXES . ..ot 49% 28% 2.1%
NetIncome ... ... .. 8.8% 49% 4.1%

Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
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Years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008
Net Revenues

Our net revenues were $362.0 million during 2007 and $531.9 million during 2008, an increase of $169.9
million, or 46.9%. Our increase in net revenues was primarily due to increased volume of services provided, both
due to an increasing number of customer accounts over time and due to incremental services rendered to existing
customers. Revenues from our acquisitions were not significant.

Recurring Revenues

Our recurring revenues were $349.0 million during 2007 and $513.7 million during 2008, an increase of
$164.7 million, or 47.2%. This increase was driven in part by new customer growth as we increased our customer
count to 53,300 in 2008 from 29,193 in 2007, or 82.6%. The customer growth includes customers acquired in our
acquisition of Slicehost in October 2008. During 2008, our average monthly growth in the installed base was
0.6% per month.

Non-recurring Revenues

Our non-recurring revenues increased from $13.0 million during 2007 to $18.2 million during 2008, an
increase of 40.0%, primarily as a result of usage charges and set-up fees associated with the increase in our
customers.

Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues was $118.2 million during 2007 and $172.6 million during 2008, an increase of $54.4
million, or 46.0%. Of this increase, $26.7 million was attributable to an increase in salaries, benefits, and share-
based compensation expense. The cost increase was further attributable to an increase in license costs of
approximately $12.8 million, an increase in data center costs of $9.6 million related to bandwidth, power, and
rent, as well as maintenance and the replacement of IT equipment parts in the amount of $5.2 million.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses were $53.9 million during 2007 and $80.3 million during 2008, an
increase of $26.4 million, or 49.0%. Of this increase, $13.9 million was primarily attributable to an increase in
salaries, commissions, benefits, and share-based compensation expense. Total compensation increased as a result
of the hiring of additional sales and marketing personnel and the impact of commissions associated with
increased sales. An additional $12.5 million of this increase was primarily attributable to advertising, Internet-
related marketing expenditures and partnership programs to support revenue growth for new and existing
customer accounts.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses were $102.8 million during 2007 and $148.7 million during 2008,
an increase of $45.9 million, or 44.6%. Of this increase, $33.1 million was attributable to an increase in salaries
and benefits, of which share-based compensation expense increased from $3.1 million in 2007 to $10.4 million in
2008 as a result of broad based stock option grants to employees in 2008. Our general overhead expenses
increased approximately $4.0 million as a result of higher general corporate costs due to additional headcount. In
addition, we experienced an increase in professional fees of $2.2 million and credit card fees of $1.4 million, as
well as costs related to our overall growth, including property taxes, insurance and increased office rents of $5.2
million.
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Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Our depreciation and amortization expense was $56.5 million during 2007 and $90.2 million during 2008,
an increase of $33.7million, or 59.6%. This increase in depreciation and amortization expense was a direct result
of an increase in property and equipment related to depreciable assets, as well as intangible assets acquired in an
acquisition.

Other Income (Expense)

Our interest expense was $3.6 million during 2007 and $8.2 million during 2008, an increase of $4.6 million
or 127.8%. This relative increase was primarily due to the increased level of indebtedness partially offset by an
increase in capitalized interest. We capitalized interest of $1.0 million during 2007 and $2.7 million during 2008,
an increase of $1.7 million primarily due to data center and office build outs.

Interest and other income (expense) was $0.8 million during 2007 and $0.8 million during 2008. In 2008,
we recognized $1.4 million in interest income, partially offset with foreign currency losses of $0.6 million due to
the appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the pound sterling. In 2007, we recognized $0.8 million of interest
income and minimal foreign currency gains or losses.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased from 35.9% during 2007 to 33.6% during 2008, primarily a result of
earnings in 2008 being realized in countries where we have lower statutory rates than in the previous year and
research and development credits utilized by our U.S. subsidiaries. The differences between our effective tax rate
and the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% principally result from our geographical distribution of taxable income,
the research and development credits, and permanent differences between the book and tax treatment of certain -
items. Our foreign earnings are generally taxed at lower rates than in the United States.

Years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007
Net Revenues

Our net revenues were $224.0 million during 2006 and $362.0 million during 2007, an increase of $138.0
million, or 61.6%. Our increase in net revenues was primarily due to increased volume of services provided, both
due to an increasing number of customer accounts over time and due to incremental services rendered to existing
customers.

Recurring Revenues

Our recurring revenues were $215.8 million during 2006 and $349.0 million during 2007, an increase of
$133.2 million, or 61.7%. This increase was driven in part by new customer growth as we increased our customer
count to 29,193 in 2007 from 12,677 in 2006, or 130.3%. As a result of the Webmail acquisition in September
2007, we added approximately 10,000 customers. During 2007, our average monthly growth in the installed base
was 1.6% per month.

Non-recurring Revenues

Our non-recurring revenues increased from $8.2 million during 2006 to $13.0 million during 2007, an
increase of 58.5%, primarily as a result of usage charges and set-up fees associated with the increase in our
customers.
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Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues was $64.9 million during 2006 and $118.2 million during 2007, an increase of $53.3
million, or 82.1%. Of this increase, $25.6 million was attributable to an increase in salaries, benefits, and share-
based compensation expense. The cost increase was further attributable to an increase in license costs of
approximately $11.9 million, an increase in data center costs of $6.9 million related to bandwidth, power, and
rent, as well as maintenance and the replacement of IT equipment parts in the amount of $6.2 million. During
2007, we also recognized a $2.1 million charge for a loss contingency liability related to an unresolved
contractual issue with a vendor.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses were $35.7 million during 2006 and $53.9 million during 2007, an
increase of $18.2 miltion, or 51.0%. Of this increase, $14.1 million was primarily attributable to an increase in
salaries, commissions, benefits, and share-based compensation expense. Total compensation increased as a result
of the hiring of additional sales and marketing personnel and the impact of commissions associated with
increased sales. An additional $4.0 million of this increase was primarily attributable to advertising, Internet-
related marketing expenditures and partnership programs to support revenue growth for new and existing
customer accounts. The remaining increase of $0.1 million was related to an increase of $0.6 million due to
travel and entertainment expenses, partially offset by a decrease of $0.5 million in professional and consulting
fees.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses were $59.8 million during 2006 and $102.8 million during 2007,
an increase of $43.0 million, or 71.9%. Of this increase, $26.8 million was attributable to an increase in salaries,
benefits, and share-based compensation expense. During 2007, we added several key senior level management
positions in human resources, marketing, information systems, talent management, and operations to support our
growth. Additionally, we added headcount in legal, finance, and accounting to prepare us to operate as a
publicly-traded company. The increase in headcount resulted in increased expenses of $6.2 million for travel and
entertainment, supplies, and other overhead. Of the remaining increase, $4.7 million is primarily attributable to
professional fees, including legal and accounting fees, and expenses associated with our Sarbanes-Oxley
readiness program, domestic and global tax strategies, and implementation of an Enterprise Resource Planning
system. Rent, property taxes, and other contributed $5.3 million to the increase in general and administrative
expenses.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Our depreciation and amortization expense was $32.3 million during 2006 and $56.5 million during 2007,
an increase of $24.2 million, or 74.9%. This increase in depreciation expense was a direct result of an increase in
property and equipment.

Other Income (Expense)

Our interest expense was $1.1 million during 2006 and $3.6 million during 2007, an increase of $2.5 million
or 227.3%. This relative increase was primarily due to the increased level of indebtedness partially offset by
capitalized interest. We capitalized interest of $1.0 million during 2007 primarily due to data center and office
build outs and did not capitalize interest in 2006.

Interest and other income (expense) was $0.6 million during 2006 and $0.8 million during 2007, an increase
of $0.2 million or 33.3%. We recognized an increase of $0.2 million in interest income in 2007 primarity due to a

higher average cash balance.
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Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate increased from 35.5% during 2006 to 35.9% during 2007. Our effective tax rate
increased 2.0% as a result of the Texas legislature enacting a tax system known as the Texas Margins Tax. The
tax is based on a taxable margin which is determined by revenue and apportioned to business conducted in Texas.
The rate increase was partially offset due to proportionately more of our earnings being recognized by our
subsidiaries outside of the U.S., where earnings are taxed at lower statutory rates.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly condensed consolidated statement of operations data
in dollars and as a percentage of revenues for each of our most recent four quarters as of the period ended
December 31, 2008. The quarterly data presented below has been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this document, and in the opinion of management reflect
all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of this
information. You should read this information together with our consolidated financial statements and related
notes included elsewhere in this document. Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate in the future due to
a variety of factors. As a result, comparing our operating resuits on a period-to-period basis may not be
meaningful. Our results for these quarterly periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a
full year or any period.

Consolidated Statements of Income by Quarter:

Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
(In thousands) 2008 2008 2008 2008
Unaudited
Netrevenues . ............. ..., $119.613 $130,829 $138.354 $143,137
Costs and expenses
Costofrevenues ............. ... .. 39,223 42,842 45,499 45,019
Sales and marketing ............................ 17,568 19,846 21,462 21,447
General and administrative . ...................... 33,633 38,108 38,729 38,236
Depreciation and amortization .................... 19,051 21,637 23,174 26,310
Total costs and expenses ..................... 109,475 122,433 128,864 131,012
Income from operations ................. 10,138 8,396 9,490 12,125
Other income (expense)
Interestexpense .. ..., (1,330) (1,834) (1,912) (3,153)
Interest and otherincome .. ...................... 247 173 (144) 492
Total other income (expense) ............. (1,083) (1,661) (2,056) (2,661)
Income before incometaxes . ................. 9,055 0,735 7,434 9,464
Incometaxes .......... ... . ... . .., 3,613 2,553 2,199 2,620
NetIncome ............co .. $ 5442 $ 4,182 $ 5,235 $ 6,844

See Supplementary Financial Data included elsewhere in this document for additional quarterly information
for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008.
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Consolidated Statements of Income by Quarter, as a Percentage of Net Revenues:

Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
(Percent of net revenues) 2008 2008 2008 2008
Unaudited
NELTEVEIUES .« o v o v e v e eee ettt e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses
COSt OfF FEVEIUES .« .+ v vt o et ee it iaia e nana s 328% 32.7% 32.9% 31.5%
Sales and marketing . . ...... ... . i 147% 15.2% 15.5% 15.0%
General and administrative ... .......... it 281%  29.1% 28.0% 26.7%
Depreciation and amortization . . ............. oot 15.9% 16.5% 16.7% 18.4%
Total costs and €XPeNSes .. ......ovvervenororen- 91.5%  93.6% 93.1% 91.5%
Income from operations .. .................. 8.5% 6.4% 6.9% 8.5%
Other income (expense)
INLErest EXPENSE . . oot vtvtien e -1.1% -1.4% -1.4% -2.2%
Interest and otherincome . ....... ...t 0.2% 0.1% -0.1% 0.3%
Total other income (eXpense) ............... -0.9% -1.3% -1.5% -1.9%
Income before income taxes ...........coovov-n- 7.6% 5.1% 5.4% 6.6%
TNCOME LAXES .« v v v e et e e e e ettt e e e aeee e 3.0% 2.0% 1.6% 1.8%
NetINCOME . oottt e e et ee et 4.5% 3.2% 3.8% 4.8%

Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.

Revenue increased sequentially in each of the quarters presented due to increased sales of our services to
new and existing customers. Net revenues for the three-month period ended December 31, 2008 were
$143.1 million, up 3.4% from $138.4 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2008. We
continued to grow revenue in the fourth quarter despite a more challenging economic and spending environment.
Revenue growth was attributable to increased hosting revenue with an expanded portfolio of new services
worldwide from acquisitions, new customers, growth in installed base, partially offset by increased churn and the
effect of a strengthening dollar as compared to the pound sterling.

Because of the growth of our revenues, operating expenses as a percentage of net revenues increased
sequentially in each of the quarters presented, except for a decrease during the quarter ended December 31, 2008.
Given the current economic uncertainty, we have heightened our focus on managing expenses. Actions we are
taking include reductions in planned headcount growth primarily in the general and administrative areas, lower
capital purchases and reduced discretionary spending such as travel and entertainment expenses.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recognized an increase in income from operations as compared to the
previous quarter. Our operating income margin increased from 6.9% in third quarter of 2008, to 8.5% in the
fourth quarter of 2008. This change was, in a large part, due to the growth in revenue and decrease in operating
expenses as a percentage of revenues, which was attributable to our efforts to better manage expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2008, our cash and cash equivalents balance was $238.4 million. We use our cash and cash
equivalents, cash flow from operations, capital leases, and existing amounts available under our revolving credit
facility as our primary source of liquidity. We believe that internally generated cash flows, along with cash and
cash equivalents currently available to us are generally sufficient to support business operations, capital
expenditures, in addition to a level of discretionary investments. We completed our initial public offering (IPO)
in August 2008, which provided net proceeds of $144.6 million. In addition, we had net borrowings of $142.7
million on our revolving credit facility in 2008.
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We maintain debt levels that we establish through consideration of a number of factors, including cash flow
expectations, cash requirements for operations, investment plans (including acquisitions), and our overall cost of
capital. Outstanding debt under our line of credit increased to $200.0 million as of December 31, 2008 as
compared to $57.3 million at December 31, 2007. The increase in amounts outstanding under our line of credit
was due primarily to additional borrowings as a result of the uncertainty in the bank and credit markets. As of
December 31, 2008, we have an additional $44.2 million available for future borrowings.

We have vendor finance arrangements in the form of leases and notes payable with our major vendors that
permit us to finance our purchases of data center equipment. As of December 31, 2007 and 2008 we had $54.2
million and $100.4 million outstanding with respect to these arrangements. We believe our borrowings from
these arrangements will continue to be available, and as long as they are competitive, we will continue finance
purchases through these arrangements.

Future Needs

In 2009, we expect to have capital expenditures between $105 million and $160 million in the aggregate
consisting of $75-$100 million for customer gear, $10-$25 million for data center infrastructure costs, $10-$15
million for office build-outs, and $10-$20 million for capitalized software and other. Our sources to fund these
capital expenditures will be our cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations, capital leases, and existing
amounts available under our revolving credit facility.

Our available cash and cash equivalents are held in bank deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and money
market funds. Our money market mutual funds invest exclusively in high-quality, short-term securities that are
issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or by U.S. government agencies. We actively monitor the third-
party depository institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents. Our emphasis is primarily on safety of
principal while secondarily maximizing yield on those funds. The balances may exceed the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation or “FDIC” insurance limits or are not insured by the FDIC. While we monitor the
balances in our accounts and adjust the balances as appropriate, these balances could be impacted if the
underlying depository institutions fail or could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets. To
date, we have experienced no loss or lack of access to our invested cash and cash equivalents; however, we can
provide no assurances that access to our funds will not be impacted by adverse conditions in the financial
markets.

The credit markets in the U.S. have recently experienced adverse conditions. Continuing volatility may
increase costs associated with obtaining financing due to increased spreads over relevant interest rate
benchmarks. We currently believe that current cash and cash equivalents, and cash generated by operations will
be sufficient to meet our operating and capital needs in the foreseeable future. Our long-term future capital
requirements will depend on many factors, most importantly our growth of revenue, and our investments in new
technologies and services. Our ability to generate cash depends on our financial performance, general economic
conditions, technology trends and developments, and other factors. We could be required, or could elect, to seek
additional funding in the form of debt or equity. These additional funds may not be available on terms acceptable
to us, or at all.

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2006 2007 2008
Cash provided by operating activities ................ccooueiino.n. $ 60,630 $ 104,935 $ 136,582
Cash used in investing activities .. ............c.couiririniiernnninnn. $(54,807) $(140,721) $(175,135)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities .......... F $ (5,646) $ 52,379 $ 255413
Acquisition of property and equipment by capital and finance method leases
and equipment notes payable ... ... ... $ 18825 $ 44,149 $ 85,490



Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities is primarily a function of our profitability, the amount of non-cash
charges included in our profitability, and our working capital management.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $104.9 million in 2007 compared to $136.6 million in 2008,
an increase of $31.7 million or 30.2%. Net income increased from $17.8 million in 2007 to $21.7 million in
2008.

During 2007 and 2008, we incurred depreciation and amortization charges in the amount of $56.5 million
and $90.2 million, respectively. The increase in depreciation and amortization was due to the acquisition of
servers, networking gear and computer software. We further incurred non-cash compensation expense in the
amount of $4.4 million and $15.3 million in 2007 and 2008, respectively. The increase was mainly due to share-
based compensation from stock option grants with respect to a broad grant to all Rackers, grants to several
strategic hires, and increased fair values for granted stock options.

Our working capital increased $13.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Working capital
consists principally of accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, net of accounts payable
and accrued expenses. Our changes in working capital activities in 2008 compared to 2007 consisted of a net
increase in accounts receivable of $12.2 million due to the growth in revenue, an increase in prepaid expense and
other current assets of $15.1 million, which was primarily a result of the recognition of a $12.3 million income
tax receivable in 2008 resulting from accelerated tax depreciation and research and development credits, offset
by an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $13.8 million. The increases in accounts payable and
accrued expenses are a direct result of the growth of our business and increases in headcount.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $60.6 million in 2006 compared to $104.9 million in 2007, an
increase of $44.3 million or 73.1%. Net revenues increased from $224.0 million in 2006 to $362.0 million in
2007. However, net income decreased from $19.8 million in 2006 to $17.8 million in 2007. The reduction in net
income was related to cost increases due to the continued growth of our business, significant investments in
people, systems, and infrastructure and increased interest expense related to higher levels of indebtedness.

During 2006 and 2007, we incurred depreciation and amortization charges in the amount of $32.3 million
and $56.5 million, respectively. The increase in depreciation and amortization was due to the acquisition of
servers, networking gear and computer software. We further incurred non-cash compensation expense in the
amount of $1.1 million and $4.4 million in 2006 and 2007, respectively. The increase was mainly due to share-
based compensation from stock option grants to certain strategic hires and employees, and increased fair values
for granted stock options.

Our working capital decreased $23.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Our changes in
working capital in 2007 from 2006 consisted of a net increase in accounts receivable of $13.4 million, an
increase in prepaid expense and other current assets of $2.3 million, offset by an increase in accounts payable and
accrued expenses of $39.3 million. The increases in all categories are a direct result of the growth of our
business, which required higher capital expenditures and increases in headcount. A portion of the increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses was due to a conversion of our payables system at the end of 2007
temporarily extending the payments of vendor invoices.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was primarily expenditures for growth capital. Historically our main
investing activities have consisted of purchases of IT equipment for our data center infrastructure, furniture,
equipment and leasehold improvements to support our operations.
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Our net cash used in investing activities was $140.7 million during 2007 compared to $175.1 million during
2008, an increase of $34.4 million, or 24.5%. This increase in net cash used in investing activities comes from an
increase in the purchase of property and equipment of $25.0 million. The remaining increase of $9.4 million was
related to the acquisition of Jungle Disk and Slicehost.

Vendor financed equipment by capital leases and notes payable increased from $44.1 million during 2007 to
$85.5 million in 2008. The combined total in capital expenditures for property and equipment, net increased from
$184.5 million during 2007 to $250.9 miilion in 2008. Of the 2008 amount, $105.6 miliion was used to purchase
dedicated customer equipment, $79.8 million for data center build outs, $41.2 million related to build out of
office space and $24.2 million was invested in capitalized software, including internally developed software that
is focused on improving our service offerings, and other purchases.

We reduced our capital expenditures for 2008 from an initial estimate of $335 million as estimated in the
prospectus relating to our IPO, to $250.9 million for the year. The reduction was due to revised build out plans
for our data centers and corporate headquarters facility, and reduced customer equipment spend due to better
pricing, a proportionately larger use of recycled equipment and a strengthening U.S. dollar.

Our net cash used in investing activities was $54.8 million during 2006 compared to $140.7 million during
2007, an increase of $85.9 million, or 156.8%. This increase in net cash used in investing activities comes from
an increase in the purchase of property and equipment of $50.2 million and the purchase of our corporate
headquarter facility and related improvements of $35.4 million. The remaining increase of $0.3 million was
related to the acquisition of Webmail.us, Inc.

Vendor financed equipment by capital leases and notes payable increased from $18.8 million during 2006 to
$44.1 million in 2007. The combined total in capital expenditures for property and equipment, net increased from
$73.6 million during 2006 to $184.5 million in 2007. Of the 2007 amount, $85.2 million was used to purchase
dedicated customer equipment, $38.2 million for data center build outs, $35.4 million related to the build out of
office space and $25.7 million invested in capitalized software, including internally developed software that is
focused on improving our service offerings, and other purchases.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $52.4 million during 2007 compared to $255.4 million during
2008, an increase of $203.0 million or 387.4%. This was due primarily to the completion of our initial offering in
August 2008 resulting in $144.6 million of funding and net advances of $142.7 million from our revolving line of
credit during 2008. This compared to net advances of $56.1 million from our revolving line of credit during
2007. Partially offsetting the cash inflows were principal payments related to capital leases and notes payable in
the amounts of $17.8 million during 2007 and $39.2 million during 2008.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was $(5.6) million during 2006 compared to $52.4
million during 2007, an increase of $58.0 million. This increase was due primarily to zero advances from our
revolving line of credit in 2006, compared to net advances of $56.1 mittion in 2007. Borrowings in 2007 were
used to fund our capital expenditures required to keep pace with our growth. Partially offsetting the cash inflows
were principal payments related to capital leases and notes payable in the amounts of $7.5 million during 2006

and $17.8 million during 2007.
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Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008:

2014 and

(In thousands) Total 2009 2010-2011  2012-2013 Beyond
Capital and finance method leases (1) . ............... $ 96,245 $42,765 $50,393 $ 3,087 $§ —

Operating 1€ases ... ..........oueeieeeiirieaeenns 68,525 14,578 20,725 17,107 16,115
Purchase commitments . ...........ovumeuieeennnnn- 5,648 3,902 1,746 — —
Revolving credit facility (2) ....................... 200,000 — — 200,000 —
Software and equipmentnotes (2) . ................ .. 10,723 5,944 4,515 264 —

Total contractual obligations . .................. $381,141 $67,189 $77,379 $220,458 $16,115

(1) Represents principal and interest.

(2) Represents principal only.

Leases

Capital and finance method leases are primarily related to expenditures for IT equipment. Our operating
leases are primarily for office space and data center facilities.

In February 2009, Rackspace entered into an agreement to lease 11,000 square technical square feet in a
data center facility. The lease has a term of 15 years from the commencement date and a total estimated financial
obligation of approximately $75 to $80 million over the 15 year term, inclusive of base lease payments, power
costs and Rackspace’s pro-rata share of operating expenses. Rackspace has a one-time option to terminate the
lease after ten years.

Purchase commitments

Our purchase commitments are primarily related to bandwidth for our data centers.

Revolving Credit Facility

We entered into our credit facility in March 2007. In February 2008, we amended the credit facility and
increased the committed amount from $200.0 million to $245.0 million. As of December 31, 2008, we had
$200.0 million of revolving loans outstanding and a $0.8 million letter of credit outstanding under the credit
facility, and $44.2 million available.

In December 2007, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement converting a portion of our interest rate
exposure from a floating rate basis to a fixed rate of 4.135% per annum. The interest rate swap agreement hasa
notional amount of $50.0 million and matures in 2010.

Software and Equipment Notes

We finance certain software and equipment from third-party vendors. The terms of these arrangements are
generally one to five years.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities or any other entity
defined as such within Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (Revised 2003),

49



Consolidution of Variable Interest Entities—An Interpretation of ARB No. 51. These entities are typically
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited
purposes.

We have entered into various indemnification arrangements with third parties, including vendors,
customers, landlords, our officers and directors, stockholders of acquired companies, and third parties to whom
and from whom we license technology. Generally, these indemnification agreements require us to reimburse
losses suffered by third parties due Lo various events, such as lawsuits arising from patent or copyright
infringement or our negligence. Certain of these agreements require us to indemnify the other party against
certain claims relating to property damage, personal injury or the acts or omissions by us, our employees, agents
or representatives. To date, there have been no claims against us or our customers pertaining to such
indemnification provisions and no amounts have been recorded.

These indemnification obligations are considered off-balance sheet arrangements in accordance with FASB
Interpretation 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. To date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such
obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to such indemnification obligations in our financial
statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In many cases, the
accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require
management’s judgment in its application, while in other cases, significant judgment is required in making
estimates, and selecting among available alternative accounting standards that allow different accounting
treatment for similar transactions. These judgments and estimates affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We consider these policies requiring significant
management judgment and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements to be critical accounting
policies.

We review our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis, including those related to revenue recognition,
service credits, allowance for doubtful accounts, property and equipment, goodwill and intangibles,
contingencies, the fair valuation of stock related to share-based compensation, software development, and
income taxes.

We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances to determine the carrying values of assets and liabilities. In many instances,
we could have reasonably used different accounting estimates, and in other instances changes in the accounting
estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period-to-period. Accordingly, actual results could differ
significantly from the estimates made by our management. To the extent that there are material differences
between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows will be affected.

Critical Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognition

Because we provide our hosting services to our customers and do not sell individual hardware and software
products, we follow the provisions of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. We recognize
revenue when all of the following conditions are met:

* There is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists;

* The service has been provided to the customer;
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e The amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable; and

o The collection of the fees is reasonably assured.

We recognize hosting revenues, including implementation and set-up fees on a monthly basis, beginning on
the date the customer commences use of our services. Implementation fees are amortized over the estimated
average customer life. If a customer terminates their relationship with us before the expiration of the estimated
average customer life, any unamortized installation fees are recognized as revenue at that time. Amounts that
have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenues or revenues, depending on
whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met. Therefore, deferred revenue primarily consists of prepaid
service fees and set-up fees. Professional services are recognized in the period services are provided.

Our customers generally have the right to cancel their contracts by providing prior written notice to us of
their intent to cancel the remainder of the contract term. In the event that a customer cancels their contract, they
are not entitled to a refund for services already rendered.

Valuation of Accounts Receivable and Service Credits

Estimates that further impact revenue recognition relate primarily to allowance for doubtful accounts and
customer service credits. Both estimates are relatively predictable based on historical experience.

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances when
collection becomes doubtful. Judgment is required to assess the likelihood of ultimate realization of recorded
accounts receivable. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
either their ability or willingness to make payments, an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts would be
required. Similarly, a change in the payment behavior of customers generally may require an adjustment in the
calculation of the appropriate allowance. Each month, management reviews customer payment patterns,
historical data and anticipated customer default rates of the various aging categories of accounts receivables in
order to determine the appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts. We write off customer accounts receivable
balances to the allowance for doubtful accounts when it becomes likely that we will not collect from the
customer.

All of our customer agreements provide that we will achieve certain service levels. To the extent that such
service levels are not achieved, we record service credits, which are a reduction to revenues, and a corresponding
increase in the allowance for customer credits to provide for estimated adjustments to receivables. We base these
provisions on historical experience and evaluate the estimate of service credits on a regular basis, and adjust the
amount reserved accordingly.

Property, Equipment and Other Long Lived Assets

We utilize significant amounts of property and equipment in providing services to our customers. We use
straight-line depreciation for property, equipment, and leasehold improvements over the estimated useful lives.
We use estimated useful lives of one to five years for equipment and software. Changes in technology or changes
in the intended use of property and equipment may cause the estimated useful life or the value of these assets to
change. We periodically review the appropriateness of the estimated economic useful lives for each category of
property and equipment.

Periodically we assess potential impairment of our property and equipment, in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We perform an
impairment review whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited
to, significant under-performance relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in
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the manner of our use of the acquired assets or our overall business strategy, and significant industry or economic
trends. When we determine that the carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable based upon the
existence of one or more of the above indicators, we determine the recoverability by comparing the carrying
amount of the asset to net future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. We recognize an
impairment charge equal to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair market value of the asset.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill, which consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of
businesses acquired, is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis, or whenever events or circumstances
indicate that impairment may have occurred. We follow the provisions of SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, when evaluating goodwill for impairment.

Intangible assets, including technology, contracts, customer relationships, license agreements, and
non-compete agreements arising principally from acquisitions, are recorded at cost less accumulated
amortization. Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives, such as certain tradenames, are not
amortized and are subject to annual impairment tests or whenever events or circumstances indicate impairment
may have occurred. An impairment exists if the carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its
fair value. For other intangible assets subject to amortization, impairment is recognized if the carrying amount is
not recoverable and the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the intangible asset.

There are many assumptions and estimates used that directly impact the results of impairment testing,
including an estimate of future expected revenues, earnings and cash flows, and discount rates applied to such
expected cash flows in order to estimate fair value.

Contingencies

We accrue for contingent obligations, including estimated legal costs, when the obligation is probable and
the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts concerning contingencies become known, we reassess our position
and make appropriate adjustments to the financial statements. Estimates that are particularly sensitive to future
changes include those related to tax, legal, and other regulatory matters, changes in the interpretation and
enforcement of international laws, and the impact of local economic conditions and practices, which are all
subject to change as events evolve and as additional information becomes available during the administrative and
litigation process.

Share-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based awards under the recognition and measurement
provisions of SFAS 123. During this time, we recognized compensation cost for share-based awards based on the
minimum value taking into account the exercise price of the option and the fair value of our common stock on
the date of grant. Effective January i, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R). SFAS 123(R) requires nonpublic
companies that used the minimum value method under SFAS 123 to use the prospective-transition method. As
such, we continue to apply SFAS 123 in future periods to unvested equity awards outstanding at the date of
adoption. All share-based payment awards made to employees and directors beginning January 1, 2006 are
measured and recognized as compensation expense based on the estimated fair values in accordance with
SFAS 123(R).
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Information regarding our share based awards for 2006, 2007, and 2008 is summarized as follows:

Estimated Fair
Exercise Value or Market

Number of Price per Price of
Grants Made During 2006, 2007, and 2008 awards granted Share Common Stock (2)
January 1,2006 to June 30,2006 ......... ... ... ... oL, 15,000 $ 230 $ 2.30

1,215,000 2.50 2.30
July 1, 2006 to September 30,2006 .............. .. ... ...... 415,000 3.40 3.40
October 1, 2006 to December 31,2006 . ....................... 502,500 4.52 4.52
January 1,2007 toMarch 31,2007 ....... ... ... ... . .. 572,500 4.94 494
April 1, 2007 to November 11,2007 (1) ....................... 4,083,750 5.82 5.82
November 12, 2007 to December 31,2007 .. ......... ... ...... 362,500 7.48 7.48
January 1, 2008 to January 30,2008 ............. ... .. .o, 653,000 7.48 8.87
January 31,2008 to March4,2008 ............. ... .. ... ..... 1,331,000 9.14 10.86
March 5,2008 to May 29,2008 ....... ... ... ... . i, 3,321,440 10.30 12.85
May 30,2008 to July 7,2008 . ......... ... . .. il 274,250 14.00 15.59
July 8,2008 . ... 83,500 15.59 15.59
August 26,2008 (2) . ... 28,450 10.92 10.92
November 11,2008 (2) ...... .ot 169,400 6.69 6.69

(1) The grants in the table above do not inciude the 104,440 options assumed in the business acquisition of
Webmail.us, Inc.

(2) Grants made subsequent to our IPO on August 7, 2008 used the end of day closing market price of our
common stock.

Prior to our initial public offering, the fair value of the common stock was determined based on the
business, financial, and venture capital experience of the individual directors on the board along with input from
management. With respect to assessments of fair value of our common stock, our board of directors considered
numerous objective and subjective factors, including the following:

*  Prices for our common stock that we exchanged in an arm’s-length transaction;

+  Qur actual financial condition and results of operations during the relevant period;

» The status of strategic initiatives to increase the target market for our services;

*  Qur financial results and market conditions affecting the technology industry;

» The fact that the option grants involved illiquid securities in a private company; and

« The likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for the shares of common stock underlying the options,
such as an initial public offering or sale of our company, given prevailing market conditions and our
relative financial condition at the time of grant.

Beginning in 2002, our board of directors also considered valuations from two different independent third-
party valuation firms in determining the fair value of our common stock. Our valuations through the end of 2005
were primarily based upon valuations from a third party which was established using a discounted cash flow
model of the income approach, which derives the fair value based on projected future net cash flows, discounted
at a risk-adjusted equity rate of return required by equity investors in the technology industry and for the time
value of money. In March 2006, we began using a different independent third-party valuation firm for our
valuations. In completing their valuation analysis, this firm used a combination of the income and market
approaches to estimate the aggregate enterprise value of our company at each valuation date.

The income approach uses a discounted cash flow method to measure the value of a company by the present
value of its future economic benefits. Under the income approach, value indications are developed by discounting
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expected cash flows to their present value at a rate of return that incorporates the risk-free rate for the use of
funds, the expected rate of inflation, and risks associated with the particular investment. Under the market
approach, consideration is given to the financial condition and operating performance of the company being
valued relative to the same metrics of publicly traded companies operating in the same or similar lines of
business. The market approach can also include the analysis of sales of entire companies from the transaction
market and financing rounds of private companies. The projections used in connection with the income and
market valuation approaches were based on our expected operating performance over the forecast period. There
is inherent uncertainty in these estimates. If different discount rates or other assumptions had been used, the
applicable valuations would have been different. Subsequent to our public offering, the end of day market price
was used as the exercise price on the day of grant.

For all periods prior to our initial public offering, we granted employees options to purchase shares of
common stock at exercise prices equal to the fair value of the underlying common stock at the time of grant, as
determined by our board of directors. However, in connection with the preparation of the financial statements for
the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2008, we reassessed the estimated accounting fair value of our common stock
in light of the potential completion of our initial public offering and preliminary discussions relating to our
potential pricing range. We reassessed each of the key valuation considerations, including each independent
valuation report delivered during 2008, and the discount taken in each case for lack of marketability. This
determination was made because, in retrospect, we considered the formal discussions with investment bankers in
December 2007 to be a key event that has proven to have provided additional certainty that we could achieve an
initial public offering. We also determined that it was appropriate to increase our projected earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization multiple, or EBITDA multiple, in light of increases in comparable
public company EBITDA multiples in early 2008 and due to the closer proximity to the target liquidity date. This
resulted in fair values being higher than the exercise prices for options grants between January 1, 2008 and
July 7, 2008.

In accordance with SFAS 123(R), we use the Black-Scholes pricing model to determine the fair value of the
stock options on the grant dates for share awards made on or after January 1, 2006. The Black-Scholes option
valuation model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions to determine the fair value of
share-based awards, including the deemed fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant and the
expected volatility of the stock over the expected term of the related grants. The value of the award is recognized
as expense over the requisite service periods on a straight-line basis in our consolidated statements of income,
and reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and
revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Software Development

We capitalize the salaries and payroll-related costs of employees and consultants who devote time to the
development of certain internal-use software projects. If a project constitutes an enhancement to previously
developed software, we assess whether the enhancement is significant and creates additional functionality to the
software, thus resulting in capitalization. All other software development costs are expensed as incurred. We
amortize capitalized software devélopment costs over periods ranging from 12 to 36 months, Which represents
the estimated useful lives of the software.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is
required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes. During the ordinary
course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. We establish reserves for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to
which, additional taxes and interest will be due. These reserves are established when we believe that certain
positions are likely to be challenged and may not be sustained on review by tax authorities. We adjust these
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reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit. The provision for income
taxes includes the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate.

Our effective tax rates have differed from the statutory rate primarily due to the tax impact of foreign
operations, research and development tax credits, state taxes, and certain benefits realized related to stock option
activity. Our effective tax rate was 35.5%, 35.9% and 33.6% for 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Our future
effective tax rates could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we
have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated in countries where we have higher statutory rates, by
changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, or by changes in tax laws, regulations,
accounting principles, or interpretations thereof. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our
income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood
of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income
taxes.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The SEC, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, adopted rules requiring every company
that files reports with the SEC to include a management report on such company’s internal control over financial
reporting in its annual report. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm must attest to our
internal control over financial reporting. This Annual Report filed on Form 10-K does not include a report of
management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our
independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by SEC rules applicable to
newly public companies. Management will be required to provide an assessment of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009.

Except for the implementation of our remediation plan that was completed as of June 30, 2008 for material
weaknesses we identified in connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2007, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the year ended December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued SFAS 157, Fair Value
Measurements. SEAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally
accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies under
other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. We were required to adopt
SFAS 157 effective at the beginning of 2008. FASB Staff Position No. FSP 157-2 delayed the effective date of
SFAS 157 to periods beginning after November 15, 2008 for non-financial assets and liabilities. Those financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value under SFAS 157 did not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements. The remaining non-financial assets and liabilities that will be measured under SFAS 157
beginning in 2009 are not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Tn February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS 159 is expected to expand the
use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards that require certain assets or liabilities to be
carried at fair value. The objective of SFAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing companies with
the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities
differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. Under SFAS 159, a company may
choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible items at fair value and report unrealized gains and losses
on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS
159 is effective for the company in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. We do not expect this statement to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations and SFAS 160, Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—an amendment to ARB No. 51. SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 160
require most identifiable assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and goodwill acquired in a business
combination to be recorded at “full fair value” and require noncontrolling interests (previously referred to as
minority interests) to be reported as a component of equity, which changes the accounting for transactions with
noncontrolling interest holders. Both SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 160 are effective for periods beginning on or after
December 15, 2008, and earlier adoption is prohibited. SFAS 141(R) will be applied to business combinations
after the effective date. SFAS 160 will be applied prospectively to all noncontrolling interests, including any that
arose before the effective date. Absent any further significant acquisitions, we do not expect these statements to
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133. SFAS 161 expands disclosures for derivative instruments
by requiring entities to disclose the fair value of derivative instruments and their gains or losses in tabular format.
SFAS 161 also requires disclosure of information about credit risk-related contingent features in derivative
agreements, counterparty credit risk, and strategies and objectives for using derivative instruments. SFAS 161 is
effective for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We do not expect this statement to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets.
This guidance is intended to improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset
under SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and the period of expected cash flows used to measure
the fair value of the asset under SFAS 141R when the underlying arrangement includes renewal or extension of
terms that would require substantial costs or result in a material modification to the asset upon renewal or
extension. Companies estimating the useful life of a recognized intangible asset must now consider their
historical experience in renewing or extending similar arrangements or, in the absence of historical experience,
must consider assumptions that market participants would use about renewal or extension as adjusted for SFAS
142’s entity-specific factors. FSP 142-3 is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. We do not
expect this statement to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A—QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Power Prices. We are a large consumer of power. During 2008, we paid approximately $13.2 million to
utility companies to power our data centers, representing 2.5% of our net revenues. Because we anticipate further
revenue growth for the foreseeable future, we expect to consume more power in the future. Power costs vary by
geography, the source of power generation, and seasonal fluctuations. Our largest exposure to energy prices
based on consumption currently exists at our Grapevine, Texas data center in the Dallas-Fort Worth area, a
deregulated energy market. In August 2008, we entered into a fixed price contract with a provider of electricity
for power for our Grapevine data center. The contract allows the company to periodically convert the price to a
floating market price during the arrangement. The contract is for 19 months, and allows the provider an option to
extend the contract for an additional 19 months.

Interest Rates. Our main credit facility is a revolving line of credit with a base rate determined by the London
Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR. This market rate of interest is fluctuating and exposes our interest expense to
risk. Our credit agreement obligates us to hedge part of that interest rate risk with appropriate instruments, such as
interest rate swaps or interest rate options. On December 10, 2007, we entered into an at-the-market fixed-payer
interest rate swap with a notional amount of $50.0 million at an annual rate of 4.135%. This swap essentially fixes
the rate we pay on the first $50.0 million outstanding on our revolving line of credit. As we borrow more, we may
enter into additional swaps to continuously control our interest rate risk. Generally, we do not hedge our complete
exposure. As a result, we are exposed to interest rate risk on the un-hedged portion of our borrowings, which was
$150.0 million as of December 31, 2008. For example, a 100 basis point increase in LIBOR would increase the
interest expense on $10 million of borrowings that are not hedged by $0.1 million annually.
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Foreign Currencies. The majority of our customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses are
paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the functional currency of our company or our subsidiaries, respectively. A
relatively insignificant amount of customers are invoiced in currencies other than the applicable functional
currency, such as the Euro. As a result, our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We also have exposure to foreign currency transaction gains and
losses as the result of certain receivables due from our foreign subsidiaries, which are denominated in both U.S.
dollars and the pound sterling. During 2008, we recognized foreign currency losses of $0.6 million within other
income (expense). We have not entered into any currency hedging contracts, although we may do so in the
future. As we grow our international operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more
significant.

57



ITEM 8—FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries
(the Company) as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of income,
stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2008. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also
audited financial statement schedule II. These consolidated financial statements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/  KPMG LLP

San Antonio, Texas
February 26, 2009
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

December 31,

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2007 2008
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . .............iuunnuunnnnnennini .. $ 24,937 $238,407
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and customer
credits of $2,841 as of December 31, 2007, and $3,295 as of December 31,
D008 . e 25,449 30,932
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ... e 7,157 23,156
Total CUMTENt ASSEES .+ . oot v vt ettt et e e et et e 58,143 292,495
Property and equipment, Net ... ... ... ... 227,055 362,042
GOOAWILl . .ot 3,574 6,942
Intangible assets, DEL .. ... .. ittt 5,812 15,101
Other NON-CUITENE ASSELS .« . v v e v e v e e vttt e ettt et e aae s 7,229 8,681
TOtAL ASSEES .+« v v v v e e e e e e e e e e $301,813 $685,261
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses ... .. ... $ 67,087 $ 71,387
Current portion of deferred revenue . ................. i 13,540 16,284
Current portion of obligations under capital and finance method leases ... ... .. 25,198 38,909
Current portionof debt . ... ... ... .. 2,902 5,944
Total current liabilities . ... ... ottt e 108,727 132,524
Non-current deferred rEVENUE .. ... .ot i it i e 4,402 3,883
Non-current obligations under capital and finance method leases ................ 23,312 50,781
NOD-CUITENE AEDE . v vt ottt e e e e ettt et i 60,039 204,779
Other non-current Habilitles . . .. .ottt e 8,460 23,610
Total Habilities . . . . o o oot e e e 204,940 415,577
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Stockholders’ equity:
Series A Convertible Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share 50,000,000
shares authorized, 1,214,837 issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2007, and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,2008 ....... 1 —
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share: 300,000,000 shares authorized,
101,211,223 shares issued and 101,128,518 shares outstanding as of
December 31, 2007, 117,154,094 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2008 . ... e 101 117
Treasury stock, at cost: 82,705 common shares held at December 31, 2007, and
no shares at December 31,2008 ... ... .. e (126) —
Additional paid-incapital ........... .. ..o 40,082 207,589
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ................... . ..... 513 (16,027)
Retained €arnings . ... ... oottt 56,302 78,005
Total stockholders” equity . .............o ottt 96,873 269,684
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .. ......... ..o, $301,813 $685,261

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2006 2007 2008
NELTEVENUES . . . ...t $223,966 $362,017 $531,933
Costs and expenses:
Costof revenues ............... it 64,889 118,225 172,583
Salesand marketing ................ ... .. . .. .. 35,667 53,930 80,323
General and administrative . ............. ... .. ... 59,832 102,777 148,706
Depreciation and amortization .................... ... ... ... ... .. 32,335 56,476 90,172
Total costs and expenses ................. .. .. .. ... ... ... .. 192,723 331,408 491,784
Income fromoperations ............................... 31,243 30,609 40,149
Other income (expense):
Interest eXpense .. ......... ... (1,095) (3,643) (8,229)
Interest and other income (expense) ............................. 572 828 768
Total other income (expense) . .............................. (523) (2,815) (7.461)
Income before incometaxes . ........................... 30,720 27,794 32,688
Inmcome taxes . . ... .. 10,900 9,965 10,985
Netincome ............... i, $ 19820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703
Net income per share
Basic ... .. $ 020 % o018 $§ 020
Diluted ... ... .. $§ 019 $ 017 $ 0.19
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic . ... 100,310 101,278 108,528
Diluted .. ... ... 104,032 106,618 115,406

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2006 2007 2008
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
NELINCOME .« o v v e e et e e et e e e et et et e e $19,820 $ 17,829 §$ 21,703
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization ............. ..ot 32,335 56,476 90,172
Loss on disposal of equipment, net .. ... 538 1,895 2,888
Provision for bad debts and customer credits ............. ... 2,436 4,094 4,149
Deferred INCOME tAKES . « . v o v v et te e et e et e i e (326) (3,479) 12,099
Share-based compensation EXPEeNSe . ... ......ceeereeeerrnnrnnaa s> 1,090 4,252 15,017
Other non-cash COMPENSAtON EXPENSE . . . v vvv et ueecneeanan e 55 156 289
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements .......... (372) (562) (3,212)
Changes in certain assets and liabilities
ACCOUNS TECEIVADIE .« .ottt (10,114) (13,357) (12,202)
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets . .. ...t (961) 2,271) (15,058)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . ... 11,112 39,341 13,782
DeferTed TEVENUE .\ v v ot vt e e et e i 4,643 6,578 1,931
Other NON-CUITENT @SSELS .« o vt it e et e ee e enieaa e e (171 (5,863) (1,262)
Other non-current liabilities .. ...t 545 (154) 6,286
Net cash provided by operating activities . ............. ... 60,630 104,935 136,582
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment, Det . ............ .. ol (54,807) (140,383) (165,396)
Acquisitions, net of cashacquired . ............ .. i — (338) 9,739)
Net cash used in investing activities ............ ... (54,807) (140,721) (175,135)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Principal payments of capital and finance method Jeases . ..................... (7,394) (13,877) (32,376)
Principal payments of notes payable .. ............... i (100) (3,901) (6,851)
Borrowings on line of credit .. ... ... .o — 61,146 200,000
Payments on line of credit .. ... .. ..o i — (5,000) (57,301)
Payments for debt iSsuance Costs .................o i 35 (301) (158)
Proceeds from sale leaseback transactions .................. .t — 8,456 1,543
Receipt of Texas Enterprise Fund Grant .. ......... ... ..ot — 5,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock at IPO net of offering expenses of
14,106 .. e e — — 144,554
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ........... ... i 1,240 — 548
Proceeds from exercise of WaITants . ..............oiernieinataians — — 278
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ......... ... ..o i 367 294 1,964
Payments to retire stock options and warrants ... (75) — —
Purchase of treasury StOCK . ... . ... 2n — —
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements .............. 372 562 3,212
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ...................... (5,646) 52,379 255,413
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .. .................... 176 (30) (3,390)
Increase in cash and cashequivalents ............ ..o i 353 16,563 213,470
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . ............. ..o 8,021 8,374 24,937
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ...... ... .o $ 8374 $ 24937 $ 238407
Supplemental cash flow information:
Acquisition of property and equipment by capital and finance method
TEASES .« o o v v e ettt e e e e e e $17,244 $ 37458 $ 73,556
Acquisition of property and equipment by notes payable . ................. 1,581 6,691 11,934
Vendor financed equipment purchases ................... oo $18,825 $ 44,149 $ 85490
Shares issued in business combinations ............ .. .. i $ — $ 3507 $ 185
Cash payments for interest, net of amount capitalized .................... $ 849 § 3,148 $ 9616
Cash payments fOr inCome taxes ... ..........ooeriiiiaiinee e $ 7517 $ 13945 $ 6,364

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008

Accumulated
K Additional other Total
Paid-In  comprehensive Retained stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital income (loss) Earnings equity

(In thousands except share data) Preferred Stock Common Stock  Treasury Stoc

Balance at December 31,2005 ....... } ............................. 1,214,837 §$ 1 98,277.718 $ 98 (50,000) $(105) $ 28,265 $  (199) $18.653 $ 46,713
[ssuance of common stock i

Exercise of stock options mcludmiexcess tax benefit of $340) ... ... — — 949,080 I — — 706 — — 707
Retirement of stock options (net of excess benefit of $32) . ..., ... ... _ — — — — — (43) — —_ (43)
Issuance of common stock to board of directors . .. ................ — — 23,685 — - — 55 — — 55
Sale of common stock for cash (net of related costs of $10) . ........ — — 500,000 | —_ — 1,239 — — 1.240
Total issuance of commonstock .. ......................... .. — — 1,472,765 2 — — 1.957 — — 1,959
Share-based compensation expense . ............ ... L, - — — — — — 1,090 — o 1.090
Purchase of treasury stock ............ .. .. ... . ... L. — — — — (32,705 (2D — — — 2n
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ............. ... o 19,820 19,820
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of tax effect . ... ......... ... 929 929
Total comprehensive income ............ ... ... ... . ... .. ... 20,749
Balance at December 31,2006 ......... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. .. 1,214,837 $ 1 99,750,483  $100 (82,705) $(126) $ 31312 $ 730 $38473 % 70.490
Issuance of common stock
Exercise of stock options (including excess tax benefit of $562) ... ... — — 4727760  — — — 856 — — 856
Issuance of common stock to board of directors . . ................. — — 31,580 — — — 156 — — 156
Issuance of restricted stock to Mailtrust employees ................ — — 353,805  — — — — — —
Shares issued in business combination .. ... ... ... ... ... ... ... — — 587.595 1 — — 3,419 — — 3420
Shares issued in Mosso equity acquisiton ... ................... .. — — 15,000 — — — 87 — — 87
Total issuance of common Stock . ................. ... ... — — 1,460,740 | — — 4,518 — — 4519
Share-based compensationexpense ................. ... . ... .. .. .. — — — — — — 4,252 — — 4,252
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ............. ... ., . 17,829 17,829
Unrealized loss on derivative mstru ient, net of tax effect .. ......... (322) (322)
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of tax effect .. ............ .. 105 105
Total comprehensive income .., .............. ... .. ... ... .. 17,612
Balance at December 31,2007 ... .. .. O 1,214,837 $ 1 101,211,223 $101  (82,705) $(126) $ 40,082 $ 513 $56,302  $ 96,873
Issuance of common stock '
Exercise of stock options (mdudmg‘ excess tax benefit of $3,212) .. .. — — 1,427,334 2 — 5,175 — — 5,177
Issuance of common stock to board of directors ... ................ — — 24,405 — — 289 — — 289
Issuance of warrants at IPO offering ... ......................... — — 268,750 — — 278 — — 278
Proceeds from issuance of common ‘stock net of offering costs of
$14,196 — — 12,700,000 13 — 144,541 — — 144,554
Conversion of preferred shares to cammon stock at 1PO offering .. . .. (1,214.837) () 1.214,837 | — — — — —
Sale of common stock forcash ............. ... ... ... ... .. ... — — 60,000 — — 548 — — 548
Shares issued in business combination .................. ... .. ... — — 247,545 — 82,705 126 1,659 — — 1,785
Total issuance of common stock ............................. (1,214.837) (1) 15,942,871 16 82,705 126 152,490 — — 152,631
Share-based compensation eXpense . .................. ... .. ..., — — — — — - 15,017 — — 15,017
Comprehensive income:
NetinCome . ... 21,703 21,703
Unrealized loss on derivative instrument, net of tax effect .. ......... (1,564) (1,564)
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of tax effect . . ... ........ ... (14,976) (14,976)
Total comprehensive income .................. ... ......... 5,163
Balance at December 31,2008 .............. ... ... ... ... .......... —  $— 117,154,094 $117 — $— $207.589 $(16,027)  $78,005  $269,684

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Overview and Basis of Presentation

Nature of Operations

3% <k LLINTY LA N3

As used in this report, the terms “Rackspace”, “Rackspace Hosting”, “we”, “our company”, the company”,
“us,” or “our” refer to Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Rackspace Hosting, Inc., through its
operating subsidiaries, is a provider of hosting solutions. We provide IT as a service, managing web-based IT
systems for small and medium-sized businesses as well as large enterprises. We focus on providing a service
experience for our customers, which we call Fanatical Support®.

Rackspace Hosting, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on March 7, 2000. However, our operations began in
1998 as a limited partnership which became our subsidiary through a corporate reorganization completed on
August 21, 2001.

We operate consolidated subsidiaries which include, among others, Rackspace US, Inc., our domestic
operating entity, and Rackspace Limited, our United Kingdom (U.K.) operating entity.

In September 2007, we acquired Webmail.us., Inc., an email hosting business, which we rebranded as
Mailtrust. Accordingly, its operating results have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the
date of acquisition.

Tn October 2008, we completed the acquisition of Jungle Disk, Inc., a company specializing in cloud
storage. Also in October 2008, we completed the acquisition of Slicehost LLC, a company specializing in cloud
hosting. Accordingly, their operating results have been included in our consolidated financial statements since
the date of acquisition.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries located in the
United States of America (U.S.), the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and Hong Kong. Intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances in order to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to accounts receivable and
customer credits, property and equipment, fair values of intangible assets and goodwill, useful lives of intangible
assets, fair value of stock options, contingencies, and income taxes, among others. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. We engaged third party valuation
consultants to assist management in the purchase price allocation of significant acquisitions. We also engaged in
third party valuation consultants to assist management in the valuations of our common stock price, which
affected transactions recorded in our consolidated financial statements prior to Rackspace becoming a public
company.
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Initial Public Offering

In August 2008, we completed our initial public offering (IPO), issuing 12.7 million shares of common
stock at an IPO price of $12.50 per share. As a result of the offering we received $144.6 million in net proceeds,
after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $11.1 million and additional offering-related
expenses of approximately $3.1 million.

In conjunction with the IPO, all outstanding warrants were exercised, resulting in an issuance of 268,750
shares of common stock, having a weighted average exercise price of $1.034 per share. We received proceeds of
$278 thousand from the exercise of these warrants. Also, all shares of our outstanding preferred stock were
automatically converted to shares of common stock as a result of the IPO.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements reflect the application of certain significant accounting policies.
There have been no material changes to our significant accounting policies that are disclosed in our audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thereof during 2008.

Concentrations of Risk

Our revenues are primarily derived from hosting, the market for which is highly competitive and rapidly
changing. Significant changes in this industry or changes in customer buying behavior could adversely impact
our operating results. See segment information footnote for information concerning operations located outside of
the U.S.

Financial instjuments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of
cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. We place our cash and cash equivalents in money market
accounts with high credit quality financial institutions which may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
“FDIC” insurance limits, or may not be insured. While we monitor the balances in our accounts and adjust the
balances as appropriate, these balances could be impacted if the underlying depository institutions fail or could
be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets. To date, we have experienced no material loss or
lack of access to our invested cash and cash equivalents; however, we can provide no assurances that access to
our funds will not be impacted by adverse conditions in the financial markets.

We perform ongoing credit evaluations and collateral is generally not required for trade receivables. At
December 31, 2007 and 2008, no customer, reseller or strategic partner comprised more than 10% of total
accounts receivable.

We rely on equipment and software purchased from third parties to provide our services. This equipment
and software may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, and equipment may not be
available in quantities sufficient to meet our business needs. Any errors or defects in third-party equipment and
software could result in errors or a failure of our service, which could harm our business. Indemnification from
equipment and software providers, if any, would likely be insufficient to cover any damage to our business or our
customers resulting from such failures.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, we consider all highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents. Our available cash and cash
equivalents are held in bank deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and money market funds. Gains and losses are
included in interest and other income in our accompanying consolidated statements of income.
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Accounts Receivable, Net

We classify as trade accounts receivable amounts due within twelve months, arising from the provision of
services in the normal course of business. We assess collectability based on a number of factors, including
customer payment history and creditworthiness. We generally do not request collateral from our customers
although in certain cases we may require the customer to prepay for services. When evaluating the adequacy of
allowances, we analyze accounts receivable, current economic conditions and trends, historical bad debt write-
offs, customer creditworthiness, and changes in customer payment terms. Delinquent account balances are
written-off after management has determined that a loss is probable.

In addition, at the end of a given period, we estimate customer service level credits based on historical data
and known credits yet to be issued to our customers. Customer credits reduce revenue and accounts receivable in
the period the estimate is recorded.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets consist primarily of short-term deferred tax assets, income tax
receivables, software and equipment maintenance contracts, and prepaid operating expenses. Software
maintenance contracts are amortized over the agreement period, generally one to three years. Prepaid operating
expenses are reversed in the period in which services are received.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Replacements and major
improvements are capitalized; maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Upon retirement or
sale, the cost of assets disposed of and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any
resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to operations.

Business Combinations

We account for business combinations in accordance with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards
No. (SFAS) 141, Business Combinations, which requires the use of the purchase method of accounting. In
accordance with SFAS 141, we determine the recognition of intangible assets based on the following criteria:
(i) the intangible asset arises from contractual or other rights; or (ii) the intangible is separable or divisible from
the acquired entity and capable of being sold, transferred, licensed, returned, or exchanged. In accordance with
SFAS 141, we allocate the purchase price of business combinations to the tangible assets, liabilities, and
intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. The excess purchase price over those fair values is
recorded as goodwill.

We must make valuation assumptions that require significant estimates, especially with respect to intangible
assets. Critical estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash
flows from customer contracts, customer relationships, non-compete agreements, and discount rates. We estimate
fair value based upon assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets .

Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of
businesses acquired. We follow SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, under which goodwill is no
Jonger amortized. Instead, goodwill is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis at the beginning of the fourth
quarter or whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred.
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Intangible assets, including purchased technology, customer contracts and relationships, certain tradenames,
license agreements, and non-compete agreements arising principally from acquisitions are recorded at cost less
accumulated amortization and the definite-lived intangibles are amortized using a method that reflects the pattern
in which the economic benefits of the related intangible asset are consumed or utilized. Intangible assets deemed
to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized and are subject to annual impairment tests or are tested whenever
events or circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. Impairment exists if the carrying value of the
indefinite-lived intangibles asset exceeds its fair value.

Leases

We lease certain property and equipment under capital lease agreements. The assets held under capital lease
and related obligations are recorded at the lesser of the present value of aggregate future minimum lease
payments, including estimated bargain purchase options, or the fair value of the assets held under capital lease.
Such assets and the related leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the leases, or
the estimated useful lives of the assets, which typically range from three to five years for software and
equipment, and 30 years for property.

We also lease property and equipment under operating lease agreements. The lease terms typically range
from two to five years for equipment and one to ten years for property, including office space and data center
facilities. Rent increases, rent holidays, leasehold incentives or any other unusual provisions or conditions are
considered with total rent payments, and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease period.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount should be evaluated pursuant to
SFAS 144, Accourting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. Under SFAS 144, recoverability of
assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset in conjunction with its
asset group compared to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset
group. If the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the fair value of the assets.
There have been no indicators of impairment and no impairment losses have been recorded in any period
presented.

Revenues and Deferred Revenues

We provide hosting services to our customers and generally do not sell individual hardware and software
products. Our customers pay us for a non-refundable installation fee and a monthly recurring charge based upon
the size and complexity of the IT systems we manage and the level of service we provide. In accordance with the
provisions of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and Emerging Issues Task Force, or
EITF, Issue No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, we recognize revenue when all of the
following conditions are met:

» There is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists;
¢ The service has been provided to the customer;
» The amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable; and
¢ The collection of the fees is reasonably assured.
We recognize hosting revenues, inciuding installation fees on a monthly basis, beginning on the date the

customer commences use of our services. Hosting revenue is recognized over the contractual term of the
customer contract. Our customers generally continue to utilize our services beyond the initial contract term which
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typically ranges from several months to three years. As a result, installation fees are recognized ratably over the
estimated average life of a customer relationship, which ranged from 27 to 38 months for the periods presented.
Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and either deferred revenues or revenues,
depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met. Therefore, deferred revenue primarily
consists of amounts that have been prepaid or deferred installation fees. As of December 31, 2008, of the total
$20.2 million in deferred revenue recorded on our balance sheet, $16.3 million, $3.3 million, and $0.6 million
will be amortized to revenue in 2009, 2010, and 2011, respectively. Revenues are recorded net of tax.

Revenues from other professional services are recognized in the period the services are provided when
deemed separable from any related hosting services. When other professional services are not separable from any
related hosting services, we recognize the associated revenues over the term of the related hosting arrangement.
For revenue arrangements with multiple units of accounting, such as an arrangement that includes hosting
services and other professional services, we allocate the total amount the customer will pay to the separate units
of accounting based on their relative fair values, as determined by the price of the undelivered items when sold
separately.

In determining whether the other professional services can be accounted for separately from hosting
revenues, we consider the following factors for each agreement: availability of the services from other vendors,
whether objective and reliable evidence for fair value exists for the undelivered elements, the nature of the
professional services, the timing of when the services contract was signed in comparison to the subscription
service start date, and the contractual dependence of the subscription service on the customer’s satisfaction with
the professional services.

Our hosting arrangements contain service level commitments with our customers. To the extent that such
service levels are not achieved, or are otherwise disputed due to third party power or service issues, unfavorable
weather, or other service interruptions or conditions, we are required to issue service credits for a portion of the
hosting service fees paid by our customer. At each reporting period, we estimate the amount of credits to be
issued and record a reduction to revenue. To estimate service credits, we utilize historical data and known credits
yet to be issued to our customers.

Costs of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expenses related to our data center facilities and personnel costs.
These costs typically include uncapitalized infrastructure costs, including software licenses, rental fees,
replacement components, bandwidth, and power costs. Personnel expenses include the salaries, share-based
compensation and related expenses of our support teams and data center employees.

Installation Costs

Setup and other direct installation activities are performed at the inception of a specific arrangement with
each customer to enable us to perform under the terms of the arrangement. These setup or installation costs are
expensed as incurred.

Advertising Costs

We charge advertising costs to expense in the period incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008 were approximately $14.2 million, $19.0 million, and $30.7 million,
respectfully.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development efforts are focused on the deployment of new technologies to address
emerging trends, development and evolution of proprietary tools, and enhancement of systems and processes for
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sales and support. We expense costs related to preliminary project assessment, research and development,
re-engineering, training, and application maintenance as incurred in general and administrative expenses or cost
of revenues. These costs primarily include compensation costs for employees and consultants dedicated to
research and development efforts. Administrative and other infrastructure expenses attributable to research and
development are reported in general and administrative expense. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007,
and 2008, we recognized $2.0 million, $8.6 million, and $10.8 million of research and development expense,
respectfully.

Internally Developed Software

We capitalize the costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use in accordance with
AICPA Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internal Use. Capitalized computer software costs consists of purchased software licenses, implementation costs,
salaries and related compensation costs of employees and consultants for certain projects that qualify for
capitalization. The capitalized software costs are being amortized on a straight-line basis, which is generally over
periods ranging from 12 to 36 months.

Share-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based awards under the recognition and measurement
provisions of SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. During this time, we recognized
compensation cost for share-based awards based on the minimum value taking into account the exercise price of
the option and the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Effective January 1, 2006, we
adopted SFAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, using the prospective transition method. In accordance
with SFAS 123(R), we continue to apply SFAS 123 in future periods to unvested equity awards outstanding as of
the date of adoption and amortize those awards using the minimum value method under SFAS 123. Beginning
January 1, 2006 measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards
made to employees and directors is recognized based on estimated fair values. We use the Black-Scholes pricing
model to determine the fair value of the stock options on the grant dates for stock awards made on or after
January 1, 2006, and we amortize the fair value of share-based payments on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service periods of the award, which is generally the vesting period.

The Black-Scholes valuation model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables
used in the calculation. These variables and assumptions include the fair value of our common stock, expected
term, the expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected dividends, and the estimated rate of forfeitures
of unvested stock options.

We used the following assumptions when determining the fair value of our stock options:

*  Fair Value of our Common Stock—For valuation prior to our IPO, the fair value of our common stock
was determined using both a market and discounted cash flow approach. The aggregate equity
valuation was allocated between our various securities using the treasury stock method. Subsequent to
the IPO, the end of day market price on the grant date was used to determine fair value.

* Expected Term—The expected term represents the period that our share-based awards are expected to
be outstanding. We have elected to use the simplified method described in SAB 107 to compute
expected term.

*  Expected Volatility—Management estimates volatility for option grants by evaluating the average
historical volatility of a peer group, as well as the volatility of the company’s stock since the IPO .
Management believes historical volatility of the identified peer group (while incorporating the
company’s historical volatility) to be the best estimate of future volatility.
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o Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation model is based
on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent
expected term.

*  Expected Dividend—We have not issued dividends to date and do not anticipate issuing dividends.

e Estimated Rate of Forfeitures—We estimate expected forfeitures based on our historical experience. If
actual forfeitures differ from our estimates, we will record the difference as an adjustment in the period
we revise our estimates.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences in recognizing
certain income, expense, and credit items for financial reporting purposes and tax reporting purposes. Such
deferred income taxes primarily relate to the difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
financial reporting amounts. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted statutory tax
rates applicable to the future years in which deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or realized.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon projections of future taxable
income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely
than not that we will realize the benefits of these deductible differences.

We do not provide for a U.S. income tax liability on undistributed eamings of our foreign subsidiaries. The
earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries, which reflect full provision for non-U.S. income taxes, are currently
indefinitely reinvested in non-U.S. operations or will be remitted substantially free of additional tax.

Derivative Financial Instruments

During 2007, we entered into an interest rate swap contract to limit our exposure to interest rate risk. In
accordance with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, we recognize
derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value. The effective portion of the
gain or loss on a derivative instrument designated and qualifying as a cash flow hedge is initially reported as a
component of “other comprehensive income” and is then recorded in income in the period or periods during
which the hedged forecasted transaction affects income. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the cash
flow derivative instrument, if any, is recognized in income as incurred.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short- term nature of these items.
The fair value of our debt approximates the carrying value as of December 31, 2008. The carrying amount of our
revolving credit facility approximates its fair value as it is tied to floating market interest rates.

Foreign Currency

We have assessed in accordance with SFAS 52, Foreign Currency Translation, the functional currency of
each of our subsidiaries in Hong Kong, the Netherlands and the U.K. and have designated the local currency to
be their respective functional currencies. The financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into
the U.S. dollar in accordance with SFAS 52. Assets and liabilities are translated to the U.S. dollar at the
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end-of-period exchange rates. Capital accounts are determined to be of a permanent nature and are therefore
translated using historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated using average exchange rates.
Foreign currency translation adjustments arising from differences in exchange rates from period to period are
included in the foreign currency translation adjustment account in accumulated comprehensive income (loss) of
stockholders’ equity. Transaction gains or losses in currencies other than the functional currency are included as
a component of other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of income.

Earnings Per Share

We compute earnings per share in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 128, Earnings Per Share. Our
convertible preferred stock is considered a participating security as preferred stockholders are entitled to receive
dividends when dividends are paid to common stockholders. We include the participating convertible preferred
stock in the computation of earnings per share using the two-class method in accordance with EITF No. 03-06,
Farticipating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128. Diluted earnings per share
for common stock assumes the potential dilution that could result if securities or other contracts to issue common
stock were exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted earnings per share assumes the exercise of stock
options and warrants using the treasury stock method and the conversion of our convertible preferred stock using
the if-converted method.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued SFAS 157, Fair Value
Measurements. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally
accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies under
other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. We were required to adopt
SFAS 157 effective at the beginning of 2008. FASB Staff Position No. FSP 157-2 delayed the effective date of
SFAS 157 to periods beginning after November 15, 2008 for non-financial assets and liabilities. Those financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value under SFAS 157 did not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements. The remaining non-financial assets and liabilities that will be measured under SFAS 157
beginning in 2009 are not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS 159 is expected to expand the
use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards that require certain assets or liabilities to be
carried at fair value. The objective of SFAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing companies with
the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities
differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. Under SFAS 159, a company may
choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible items at fair value and report unrealized gains and losses
on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS
159 is effective for the company in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. We do not expect this statement to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations and SEAS 160, Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—an amendment to ARB No. 51. SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 160
require most identifiable assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and goodwill acquired in a business
combination to be recorded at “full fair value” and require noncontrolling interests (previously referred to as
minority interests) to be reported as a component of equity, which changes the accounting for transactions with
noncontrolling interest holders. Both SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 160 are effective for periods beginning on or after
December 15, 2008, and earlier adoption is prohibited. SFAS 141(R) will be applied to business combinations
after the effective date. SFAS 160 will be applied prospectively to all noncontrolling interests, including any that
arose before the effective date. Absent any further significant acquisitions, we do not expect these statements to
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133. SFAS 161 expands disclosures for derivative instruments
by requiring entities to disclose the fair value of derivative instruments and their gains or losses in tabular format.
SFAS 161 also requires disclosure of information about credit risk-related contingent features in derivative
agreements, counterparty credit risk, and strategies and objectives for using derivative instruments. SFAS 161 is
effective for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We do not expect this statement to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets.
This guidance is intended to improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset
under SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and the period of expected cash flows used to measure
the fair value of the asset under SFAS 141R when the underlying arrangement includes renewal or extension of
terms that would require substantial costs or result in a material modification to the asset upon renewal or
extension. Companies estimating the useful life of a recognized intangible asset must now consider their
historical experience in renewing or extending similar arrangements or, in the absence of historical experience,
must consider assumptions that market participants would use about renewal or extension as adjusted for SFAS
142’s entity-specific factors. FSP 142-3 is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. We do not
expect this statement to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

3. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2006 2007 2008
Basic net income per shére:
NEt ICOIME .+« o v e v v et e e e e e e e e e e e e e et et e e $ 19,820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703
Weighted average shares outstanding:
COMINON STOCK & v v vttt et e e e e e e 99,095 100,063 107,798
Preferred StocK .. ..o vi i e e 1,215 1,215 730
Number of shares used in per share computations .. ............. 100,310 101,278 108,528
Earnings pershare ..............coiiiiiiiiiiiannn. $ 020 $ 018 $ 020
Diluted net income per share:
J\ (S 51Tt 11 G T $ 19,820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703
Weighted average shares outstanding:
COMMIMON SEOCK .+ o o et et e e e e e e et et e e e e 99,095 100,063 107,798
Stock options and awards . .. ... i 3,542 5,119 6,732
Preferred StOCK v v vt e ot e e e 1,215 1,215 730
StOCK WaITANTS .. .ottt ittt e e 180 221 146
Number of shares used in per share computations . .............. 104,032 106,618 115,406
Earnings pershare ............ociiiiniieannneeennans. $ 019 $ 017 $ 019

We excluded 2.4 million, 5.5 million and 6.0 million potential common shares from the computation of
dilutive earnings per share for the periods ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively, because the
effect would have been anti-dilutive. As a result of our IPO in August 2008, all outstanding stock warrants were
exercised, resulting in an issuance of 268,750 shares of common stock, and all shares of our outstanding
preferred stock were automatically converted to shares of common stock; thus subsequent to the IPO, the impact
stock warrants exercised and preferred stock on weighted average shares outstanding was reflected in common
stock.
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4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of:

December 31, December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2008

Cash deposits .. .......... i $24.937 $ 37,787

Money market funds .......... ... . —_ 200,620
Cash and cashequivalents ......................................... .. $24,937 $238,407

Our available cash and cash equivalents are held in bank deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and money
market funds. We actively monitor the third-party depository institutions that hold our deposits. Our emphasis is
primarily on safety of principal while secondarily maximizing yield on those funds.

Our money market mutual funds invest exclusively in high-quality, short-term securities that are issued or
guaranteed by the U.S. government or by U.S. government agencies. We began purchasing these securities
during the quarter ending September 30, 2008.

5. Fair Value Measurements

We adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008, except as it applies to the nonfinancial assets
and nonfinancial liabilities subject to FSP SFAS 157-2. SFAS 157 defines fair value, expands related disclosure
requirements and specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on the nature of the inputs used to develop
the fair value measures. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. SFAS 157
establishes a three-tier fair value of hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as
follows:

Level 1 — Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices
for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities; and

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, which require management
judgment or estimation.

In accordance with SFAS 157, we measure our financial instruments at fair value. Our money market funds
are classified within Level 1 because these funds are valued using quoted market prices. Our interest rate swap is
classified within Level 2 as the valuation inputs are based on quoted prices and market observable data of similar
instruments,

The carrying values of cash deposits, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses are
reasonable estimates of their fair values due to the short maturity of these financial instruments.
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:

December 31, 2008
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for  Significant Other  Unobservable Total
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs Assets/Liabilities at
(In thousands) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Fair Value
Assets: _
Money market funds . ............. $200,620 $ — $— $200,620
Liabilities:
Interest rate swap agreement ....... $ — $2,901 $— $ 2901
6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of:
December 31, December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2008
Prepaid XPEINSES . ..ottt v et e $4,657 $ 5,481
Income tax receivable ... ...t itit e — 12,318
Current deferTed tAXES . . oo vttt ittt et e 2,448 3,050
OTher CUITENE SSELS . .. v vt e v e teee et et aeee i n e naasaeneesas 652 2,307
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ................ .ot $7,757 $23,156

The income tax receivable balance as of December 31, 2008 resulted from accelerated tax depreciation and
research development costs creating a tax loss for fiscal year 2008. See the income tax footnote for additional

information.

7. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consisted of:

Estimated Useful December 31, December 31,
(In thousands) Lives 2007 2008

Computers, software and equipment . ........................ 1-5 years $ 256,128  $ 350,697
Furniture and fIXIUIES . .o\ vttt e et e e e e eeae e e 7 years 10,938 12,856
Buildings and leasehold improvements ............. ... .. ..... 2-30 years 24,136 61,839
Land ..o e — 13,860 13,860
Property and equipment, at CoSt . ....... ... it 305,062 439,252
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ... ..... (120,516) (188,300)

Work in process .......ooviiiiiiia i 42,509 111,090

Property and equipment, net . ................... $ 227,055  $ 362,042

Depreciation and leasehold amortization expense, not including amortization expense for intangible assets,
was $30.9 million, $54.7 million and $85.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008,

respectively.

At December 31, 2007, the work in process balance consisted of build outs of $19.0 million for office
facilities and $17.2 million for data centers, and $6.3 million for capitalized software and other projects. At
December 31, 2008, the work in process balance consisted of build outs of $47.0 million for office facilities and

$53.5 million for data centers, and $10.6 million for capitalized software and other projects.
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Capitalized interest was $1.0 million, and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively. We did not capitalize interest in 2006.

The unamortized balance of computer software costs on our consolidated balance sheets were $8.7 million
and $16.2 million as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, respectively. Amortization expense for
capitalized computer software costs were $1.7 million, $5.4 million and $7.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Included in 2007 amortization expense is the discontinuation
of the use of certain software that was placed into service in August 2005. The decision to retire the software was
made in January 2007, and it was retired in May 2007 resulting in accelerated amortization of $2.0 million. In
2008, we accelerated the depreciation of certain projects resulting in additional depreciation expense of $0.9
million.

8. Business Combinations

In October 2008, we acquired two companies, which were accounted for as business combinations: Jungle
Disk, Inc., a company specializing in cloud storage and Slicehost LLC, a company specializing in cloud hosting.
The purchase price of the combined acquisitions was $11.5 million paid in cash and stock, with up to $16.5
million in additional payouts of cash and stock based on certain earnout provisions, which will likely be achieved
in 2009. As a result of the acquisitions, we recorded $3.4 million of goodwill, of which $0.7 million of the
goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. Upon achievement, the earn-out provisions will be accounted for as
additional goodwill. The purchase price allocations for these acquisitions are preliminary and subject to revision
as more detailed analyses are completed and additional information about fair value of assets and liabilities
becomes available. Any change in the estimated fair value of the net assets of the acquired companies will
change the amount of the purchase price allocable to goodwill. Pro forma results of operations have not been
presented because the effects of the two acquisitions, individually and in aggregate, were not material.

9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We have one operating segment: Hosting, which has components that are considered to be our reporting
units. SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets requires goodwill to be allocated and tested at the
reporting unit level.

The following table provides a rollforward of our goodwill balance.

(In thousands)

Balance at December 31,2006 . ... ... ... .. ... $ —
ACQUISIIONS . . ... o 3,574
Purchase accounting adjustments . .. ............... .. ... —

Balance at December 31, 2007 . . .. . .. $3,574
ACQUISIEIONS ...ttt 3,424
Purchase-accounting adjustments . .. ... ..o L 56)

Balance at December 31, 2008 . . . . ... .. $6,942

We test goodwill at the reporting unit level using a fair value approach, in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 142. Our annual testing did not result in impairment of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2008. If
an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying value, goodwill will be evaluated for impairment between annual tests. As of December 31,
2008, there were no indicators that our goodwill or intangible assets were impaired.
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The following tables provide information regarding our intangible assets:

Intangible assets:
LACEIISES - v o v e ve e e e e et
Purchased technologies ........... .. ..oty
Domain name purchases . ...t
Noncompete agreements . ... .....oenneeeeeeeannenean ns
Customer relationships . .......... oo
Trademarks, tradename and patents ................ ... ...

Other

Intangible assets:
LICOMSES « v vttt et e
Purchased technologies . ........... ..o,
Domain name purchases ............. ..o
Noncompete agreements ... ......oveeeeennnnneemenercees
Customer relationships . ... it
Trademarks, tradenames and patents .......................

Other

December 31, 2007
Gross carrying  Accumulated Net carrying
amount amortization amount
(in thousands)
$ 9,054 $(5,679) $3,375
1,319 (96) 1,223
376 (356) 20
240 (12) 228
505 (25) 480
234 (15) 219
274 @) 267
$12,002 $(6,190) $5,812
December 31, 2008
Gross carrying Accumulated  Net carrying
amount amortization amount
(in thousands)
$12,738 $(6,897) $ 5,841
3,398 (938) 2,460
426 (385) 41
731 (81) 650
5,372 297) 5,075
828 (227) 601
631 (198) 433
$24,124 $(9,023) $15,101

Amortization expense on intangibles was $1.4 million, $1.8 million, and $4.5 million in 2006, 2007, and
2008, respectively. Intangible assets are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, which range from one to five years. As of December 31, 2008, amortization expense on
intangible assets for the next five years was expected to be as follows:

(In thousands)

Year ending:

2009
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Amount

$ 5,682
4,761
2,509
1,235

914

$15,101




10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of:

December 31, December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2008
Trade payables .. ... ... ... . $30,510 $23,459
Accrued compensation and benefits . ........... ... ... ... 13,704 19,462
Foreign income taxes payable ............. ... ... ... ... . ... — 324
Vendoraccruals .............. .. . 17,786 19,984
Other ... 5,087 8,158

Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. ............. i, $67,087 $71,387
11. Debt

Debt outstanding consisted of:

December 31, December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2008
Revolving credit facility ........... ... .. . .. ... . $57,301 $200,000
Notes payable ........ .. . 5,640 10,723
Totaldebt . ... .. 62,941 210,723
Less current portionof debt . ............ ... .. ... . . . .. (2,902) (5,944)
Total non-currentdebt ....... ... ... ... . ... . . ... ... ... ..., $60,039 $204,779

Revolving Credit Facility

In March 2007, we entered into a revolving credit facility with a financial institution and a second lender.
The credit facility had a revolving credit line of $45.0 million with a term of three years. In entering into the new
credit facility, we incurred loan origination fees of $0.2 million, which are included in other assets and are being
amortized as a component of interest expense over the 3 year term.

In August 2007, we restructured the revolving credit facility led by the same financial institution to include
a syndicate of banks and increased the revolving credit line from $45.0 million to a $200.0 million aggregate
commitment. The revolving credit facility provides for letters of credit up to $25.0 million. The LIBOR margin
spread increases ratably from 0.675% to 1.55% as the total funded debt to adjusted earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization ratio increases. The credit facility has a 5-year term and matures in August
2012, and is fully secured by our assets and governed by financial and non-financial covenants. Also in August
2007, fees related to the amendment of the loan agreement and accrued interest from borrowings on the revolving
credit Iine totaiing $1.1 million were recorded as borrowings on the amended revolving credit facility. The loan
fees were recorded as other assets and are being amortized as a component of interest expense over the 5-year
term. The amount borrowed on the revolver as of December 31, 2007 was $57.3 million, with an outstanding
letter of credit of $0.9 million, and with $141.8 million available for future borrowings.

In February 2008, our revolving credit facility was amended, increasing our lenders’ aggregate commitment
to $245.0 million and changing the definition of the minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. We incurred one time
fees of $0.2 million associated with the preparation of the amended facility that were capitalized. The remaining
terms of the agreement remained the same. We are required to pay a facility fee of 0.2% per annum on the full
amount committed under revolving credit facility and a quarterly administrative fee.
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In August 2008, we repaid $57.3 million with proceeds we received from our IPO, reducing our borrowings
on the credit facility to $50.0 million. In September 2008, as a result of the uncertain economic conditions in the
credit and banking markets, we borrowed $150.0 million under our credit facility. As of December 31, 2008, the
amount outstanding under the facility was $200.0 million, with an outstanding letter of credit of $0.8 million,
with an additional $44.2 million available for future borrowings. ‘

Our average borrowing under the facility was $110 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. In the
same period, the revolving credit facility accrued interest at an average rate of 4.08%.

The credit facility has financial and non financial covenants. Financial covenants under our facility include a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.00 until the three months ended December 31, 2009
and 1.50 to 1.00 for every quarter thereafter and a maximum funded debt to EBITDA of not greater than 3.00 to
1.00. As of December 31, 2008, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under our facility.

Interest Rate Swap

We use cash flow hedges to limit our exposure that may result from the variability of floating interest rates.
Effective December 10, 2007, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $50.0
million to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating-rate debt. This swap converts floating rate interest based on
the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, into fixed-rate interest as part of the arrangement with our
primary lender and expires in December 2010.

We are required to pay the counterparty a stream of fixed interest payments at a rate of 4.135%, and in turn,
receive variable interest payments based on 1-month LIBOR. The margin spread as of December 31, 2008 was
1.55% resulting in an effective fixed rate of 5.69%. The net receipts or payments from the swap are recorded as
interest expense. The swap is designated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge under SFAS 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. As such, the swap is accounted for as an asset or a liability in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets at fair value. We are utilizing the dollar offset method to assess the
effectiveness of the swap. Under this methodology, the swap was deemed to be highly effective for the period
ended December 31, 2007 and the year ended December 31, 2008. There was no hedge ineffectiveness
recognized in earnings for the period ended December 31, 2007 and the year ended December 31, 2008. If the
hedge becomes ineffective, certain terms of the revolving line of credit change, the revolving line of credit is
extinguished, or if the swap is terminated prior to maturity, the fair value of the swap and subsequent changes in
fair value may be recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The fair value of the swap was estimated based on the yield curve as of December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2008, and represents its carrying value. As of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, the
interest rate swap balance in other non-current liabilities was $0.5 million and $2.9 million, respectively; and the
balance in accumulated other comprehensive income on the consolidated balance sheets was an unrealized
after-tax loss of $0.3 million and $1.9 million, respectively. The net change in fair value of the interest rate swap
recorded as other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 was an after-tax loss of
$0.3 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

Notes Payable

We have entered into various financing arrangements with multiple equipment and software vendors. As of
December 31, 2008, the total amount financed under these relationships was $10.7 million with various terms
extending to May 2012, and stated rates ranging from 0.0% to 6.0%. For arrangements with below market
interest rates, we impute an interest charge based on our average borrowing rate. The weighted average effective
interest rate of the various arrangements with third party vendors was 4.62% as of December 31, 2008.
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The future principal payments on the revolving credit facility and notes payable as of December 31, 2008
was as follows:

(In thousands) Amount
Year ending:
2009 .. $ 594
2010 3,833
200 682
O 264
2013 and beyond . ... 200,000
Total debt payments ............... ...t .. $210,723

12, Other Non-Current Liabilities
Other non-current liabilities consisted of:

December 31, December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2008
Texas Enterprise Fund Grant .. ................................. $5,000 $ 5,000
Non-current deferred income taxes ............covornennenni .. 197 13,398
Other ... .. 3,263 5,212
Other non-current labilities . ... ................0 oo ... $8,460 $23,610
13. Leases

Capital and Finance Method Leases

We have global master lease agreements with three of our primary vendors that supply us with servers and
computer equipment. Currently, we finance most equipment purchases through their respective finance
companies. The terms vary with each vendor, but typically include a term of two to four years and interest rates
ranging from 2.5% to 10.1%. A majority of these agreements allow us to purchase the equipment at the end of
the lease for a nominal amount.

In 2007 and 2008, we financed $8.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively, of certain servers and equipment
through sale leaseback transactions with a vendor. We recognize the sale and repurchase of this equipment based
on the relative fair value on the date of the transaction. As a result, no gains or losses were recorded in our
consolidated statement of income. These sale leaseback transactions are recorded as leased assets and as
obligations under capital and finance method leases within the consolidated balance sheet.

Amounts in property and equipment under capital leases as of December 31, 2007 and 2008 consisted of: .

(In thousands) 2007 2008
Computers, software and equipment .. .............. ... i, $ 77,699 $151,255
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization: . ...............oouunooeoo (26,326) (55,281)

$ 51,373 $ 95,974

In August 2007, we executed a capital lease for our new headquarters facility that expires in 30 years. We
made a lease prepayment to the current owner of $32.7 million, of which $27.7 million has been recorded as a
capital asset within property and equipment and $5.0 million has been recorded in other non-current assets as a
prepaid expense. As a result, no further payments are required and we have the option to purchase the land and
building for a nominal amount anytime during the lease term.
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Future capital and finance method lease payments under non-cancelable leases as of December 31, 2008
were as follows:

(In thousands) Amounts
Year ending:
2000 . . e $ 42,765
2010 . e e 31,418
200 L e e 18,975
200 s e e e e 3,087
Total minimum capital and finance method lease payments ............. 96,245
Less amount representing interest . .. ...t (6,555)
Present value of net minimum lease payments ................ 89,690
Less current portion of obligations under capital and finance method
leases POTtioON . .......cviri ittt (38,909)
Non-current obligations under capital and finance method leases ... .. $ 50,781

Lease obligations for our foreign subsidiaries are denominated in foreign currencies, which have been
converted to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on December 31, 2008.

Operating Leases

We lease our data center facilities, certain office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating lease
agreements. Facility leases generally include renewal options and may require us to pay a portion of the related
operating expenses. Certain of these lease agreements have escalating rental payment provisions. We recognize
rent expense for such arrangements on a straight-line basis.

Future operating lease payments under non-cancelable leases with an initial term in excess of one year as of
December 31, 2008 were as follows:

(In thousands) Amount
Year ending:
2000 .. e e $14,578
2000 . i 10,372
200 e 10,353
2002 e e 9,711
2003 e et 7,396
TREICaAT T . . . . ot o et e e e e et e e e e 16,115
Total minimum operating lease payments ..................... ... .... $68,525

Rent expense for the years ended 2006, 2007, and 2008 was $9.2 million, $14.6 million, and $19.5 million,
respectively.

The above minimum payments as of December 31, 2008 under non-cancelable operating lease commitments

and the above rent expense amounts do not include amounts related to certain non-cancelable service contracts
for our data centers.

79



14. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Commitments

Non-cancelable purchase commitments primarily relate to commitments for certain services at our data
centers. The agreements vary from one to three years and provide for either penalties for early termination or
may require minimum commitments for the remaining term. The minimum commitments for all of these
agreements as of December 31, 2008 approximated $3.9 million, $1.5 million, and $0.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2011, respectively.

We also have purchase orders and construction contracts primarily related to data center equipment and
facility build-outs. We generally have the right to cancel these open purchase orders prior to delivery or terminate
the contracts without cause.

Legal Proceedings

We are party to various legal proceedings which we consider routine and incidental to our business. On
October 22, 2008, Benjamin E. Rodriguez D/B/A Management and Business Advisors vs. Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
and Graham Weston, was filed in the 37" District Court in Bexar County Texas by a former consultant to the
company, Benjamin E. Rodriguez. The suit alleges breach of an oral agreement to issue Mr. Rodriguez a 1%
interest in our stock in the form of options or warrants for compensation for services he was engaged to perform
for us. We believe that the plaintiff’s position is without merit and intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit. We
do not expect the results of this claim or any other current proceeding to have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

Contingent Liability

We recorded a $2.1 million charge in the fourth quarter of 2007 as cost of revenues related to an unresolved
contractual issue with a vendor. We have recorded a loss contingency liability with respect to this matter in
accordance with SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies as interpreted by FASB Interpretation 45 (FIN 45). Due
to the uncertainty regarding the interpretation of certain contractual terms, it is possible the ultimate loss may
exceed the amount currently accrued.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

We have identified certain guarantees pursuant to the provisions of FIN 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34. We evaluate
estimated losses for guarantees under SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies, as Interpreted by FIN 45. We
consider such factors as the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable
estimate of the amount of loss. To date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such obligations
and have not accrued any liabilities related to such guarantees in our financial statements.

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for
certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was serving, at our request in such capacity. The
term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The maximum potential amount of
future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, we
have a director and officer insurance policy that limits our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any
future amounts paid. As a result of the insurance policy coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these
indemnification agreements is minimal. We have no significant liabilities recorded for these agreements as of
December 31, 2007 or December 31, 2008.
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We have service level commitment obligations with most of our customers. As a result, service interruptions
or significant equipment damage in our data centers, whether or not within our control, could result in us not
achieving service level commitments to these customers resulting in an obligation to pay a service level credit.
Our liability insurance does not cover ordinary service interruptions. In addition, any loss of services, equipment
damage or inability to meet our service level commitment obligations, could reduce the confidence of our
customers and could consequently impair our ability to obtain and retain customers, which would adversely
affect both our ability to generate revenues and our operating results. We generally have the ability to determine
such service level credits prior to the associated revenue being recognized and record an estimate for potential
unrecorded amounts. The balance within allowances for doubtful accounts and customer credits as of
December 31, 2007 and 2008, was $580 thousand and $990 thousand, respectively, for credits resulting from our
service level agreements. ‘

During a two week span in the fourth quarter of 2007, our data center in Grapevine, Texas experienced
disruptions, and as a result we recognized $3.4 million as a reduction in net revenues for credits issued to our
customers.

In the normal course of business, we indemnify certain parties, including customers, vendors and lessors,
with respect to certain matters. We have agreed to hold certain parties harmless against losses arising from a
breach of representations or covenants, or out of intellectual property infringement or other claims made against
certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the
amount of the claim. We have no significant liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2007 or
2008.

In August 2007, we entered into a lease for our corporate headquarters and a possible future data center
operation. In connection with this lease, we also entered into a Master Economic Incentives Agreement with the
Cities of Windcrest and San Antonio, Texas; Bexar County; and certain other parties, pursuant to which we
agreed to locate existing and future employees at the new facility location. The agreement requires that we meet
certain employment levels each year, with an ultimate employee base requirement of 4,500 jobs by December 31,
2012. In addition, the agreement requires that the median payroll of those employees be no less than $51
thousand per year. In exchange for these employment obligations, we will receive a 14 year exemption from most
of the property taxes associated with the property. If we fail to meet these job creation requirements, we could
lose a portion or all of the tax exemption provided during the 14 year period and would then be obligated to repay
the exemption amount. We have met the requirements for the employment level and median payroll for
December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2008 we have not elected to begin the exemption period.

Further, we entered into an agreement with the State of Texas, under which we have received $5.0 million in
2007, and may receive up to an additional of $17.0 million from the Texas Enterprise Fund in three installments
on the condition that we create at least 4,000 new jobs in the State of Texas paying an average of at least
$56 thousand per year (subject to a 2.0% per year increase commencing in 2009), by December 31, 2012 and
sustain these jobs through December 31, 2018. If we fail to meet these job creation requirements, we will be
required to repay the grant money with interest at the rate of 4.7% per year. If we fail to meet any of the annual
job creation requirements, we may be required to repay cash previously received. As of December 31, 2008, the
$5.0 million received was deferred and recorded as other non-current liabilities. Although we are continuing to
create jobs, with the current economic conditions, we cannot be certain the job creation requirements will be met.
Amounts will be recognized into income upon the achievement of the performance criteria and the determination
that the cash is no longer refundable to the State of Texas.

In October 2008, we received a grant in partnership with the State of Texas and Alamo Community College
District, which we will be reimbursed for up to $4.7 million for certain training expenses conducted through
Alamo Community College over the next three years. In order to fulfill our requirements, we must meet the
employment requirements defined in the grant with the State of Texas from the Texas Enterprise Fund.
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In the current economic environment, unless we are able to modify the terms of our agreements, it is
probable we will not fulfill the job creation requirements levels for the end of 2009. We are currently seeking to
modify all such agreements.

15. Common Stock

Common Stock

In October 2007, our stockholders approved an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase the
number of authorized common shares from 30 million to 300 million. At December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2008, we had 101,211,223 and 117,154,094 shares of our common stock legally issued, and 101,128,518 and
117,154,094 shares outstanding, respectively.

We have one class of authorized common stock. The rights and privileges provided to our common
stockholders are as follows:

* Dividend Rights—Subject to preferences that may apply to shares of preferred stock outstanding at the
time, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends, at the discretion of our board
of directors.

* Voting Rights—All holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be
voted on by Rackspace Hosting’s stockholders.

* Right to Receive Liguidation Distributions—Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders
of our common stock are entitled to share equally in all of our assets remaining after payment of all
liabilities and the liquidation preferences of any outstanding preferred stock.

Common Stock Offerings

In May 2006, we sold 500,000 shares of common stock for $1.2 million (net of related costs of $10
thousand), respectively, to members of our executive management team and existing stockholders.

In September 2007, we issued a total of 587,595 shares of common stock as partial consideration for the
Mailtrust acquisition. The common stock issued was recorded at a price of $5.82 per share, resulting in an
aggregate recorded amount of $3.4 million. In connection with the Mailtrust acquisition, we issued three
employees 353,805 additional shares which were subject to a repurchase agreement. During 2008, 25% of these
shares became fully vested and were no longer subject to the repurchase agreement. We also issued 15,000 shares
of common stock in exchange for the remaining limited partnership interest in Mosso in July 2007, with a fair
value of $87 thousand that was recorded to goodwill.

Prior to October 2007, each of our non-employee board of directors were compensated with 7,895 shares of
common stock per year. In connection with this plan, we granted 23,685 and 31,580 shares of common stock as a
portion of director’s fees to non-employee members of our board of directors in 2006 and 2007, respectively. We
recorded $55 thousand and $156 thousand of expense associated with these grants in 2006 and 2007,
respectively. The shares were fully vested and unrestricted as of December 31, 2007. These amounts have been
recorded as a component of general and administrative expense.

In October 2007, we adopted a new compensation policy for our non-employee directors. In consideration
for the services of our non-employee directors, we grant shares of our common stock having a fair market value
on the date of grant equal to $13 thousand to each non-employee director per quarter. Additionally, each
non-employee director receives compensation based upon board committee responsibilities and board meeting
attendance. At the non-employee director’s election this compensation may be paid in either cash or our common
stock valued at the fair market value as of the date of grant, or any combination thereof.
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In March 2008, we sold 60,000 shares of our common stock at a price per share of $9.14 for a total purchase
price of $548 thousand to a member of our executive team.

In August 2008, we completed our IPO, issuing 12.7 million shares of common stock at an IPO price of
$12.50 per share.

In November 2008, per the terms of the merger agreement with Jungle Disk, we issued 247,545 shares of
our common stock at a price of $5.405 per share and reissued 82,705 treasury shares at a price of $5.405 per
share as partial consideration for the acquisition, resulting in an aggregate recorded amount of $1.8 million.

In 2008, each of our non-employee board of directors was compensated with shares of common stock. We
granted a total of 24,405 shares of common stock as a portion of director’s fees to non-employee members of our
board of directors in 2008. We recorded $289 thousand of expense associate with these grants in 2008. The
shares are fully vested and unrestricted as of December 31, 2008. These amounts have been recorded as a
component of general and administrative expense.

Treasury Stock

Shares of our stock that are repurchased are recorded as treasury stock at cost and included as a component
of stockholders’ equity. During the year ended 2006, we purchased 32,705 shares of our common stock at a cost
of $21 thousand, respectively, in connection with certain equity transactions authorized by our board of directors.
In November 2008, we reissued all of our treasury shares as partial consideration for an acquisition.

Stock Split

On December 13, 2007, our board of directors approved a five-for-one split of our common stock that was
effected in the form of a stock dividend to stockholders of record on January 31, 2008. In accordance with the
preferred stock agreement, holders of preferred shares received four shares of common stock for every preferred
share held as of the date of record.

Warrants

In August of 2008, all warrants outstanding were exercised in conjunction with our IPO.

16. Preferred Stock

In October 2007, our stockholders approved an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase the
number of authorized shares of preferred stock from 20 million to 50 million.

As of December 31, 2007 we had 1,214,837 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (Preferred
Stock), all of which were issued in 2001. These shares were all converted to common stock as part of our 1PO,
and no Preferred Stock was outstanding as of December 31, 2008.

17. Share-Based Compensation

In December 2007, we adopted the 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, or 2007 Stock Plan. Under the 2007
Stock Plan, incentive and non-qualified stock options or rights to purchase common stock may be granted to
eligible participants. In addition to stock options, we may grant other equity awards such as stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance awards, cash based awards, and dividend
equivalents. All awards, excluding incentive stock options, may be granted under the plan to employees, officers,
directors, or any other non-employee service provider to the company. Incentive stock options may be granted
only to employees of the company or a subsidiary. The exercise price of a stock option granted under the 2007
Stock Plan will be determined by the committee at the time the option is granted, and generally may not be less

&3



than 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock as of the date of grant. The 2007 Stock Plan has
an automatic share reserve increase effective the first day of each fiscal year beginning in 2009 with an amount
equal to the lesser of (i) 10,000,000 shares, (ii) four percent of the number of shares on the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year that are (a) outstanding, and (b) issuable pursuant to outstanding awards under
our Stock Plans, or (iii) such lesser number of shares determined by our board of directors. For fiscal year 2009,
this resulted in an increase of approximately 5.5 million shares available under our 2007 Stock Plan.

We maintain the 1999 Stock Plan, the 2003 Stock Plan, the 2005 Stock Plan, the 2007 Stock Plan, and plans
assumed through acquisitions, collectively referred to as the Stock Plans. Except for options granted in 2008 that
were revalued in relation with our IPO, options are priced to be at least 100% of our common stock’s fair market
value at the date of grant. Options have been granted for a term of ten years. Options granted under the Stock
Plans generally vest either ratably over the requisite service period, at the end of three years, or based on
performance milestones. Stock options issued under the 1999 Stock Option Plan have seven year terms and
generally vest over three years. Stock options assumed through acquisitions have had seven to ten year terms and
vest 25% the first year and ratably over the remaining periods.

As of December 31, 2007, the total number of shares authorized under the Stock Plans was approximately
50.3 million shares, of which approximately 24.4 million shares were available for future grants. In March 2008,
our board of directors amended the 2007 Stock Plan reducing the total number of shares authorized to 4.6 million
plus any shares that, as of the amended date, have been reserved but not issued pursuant to the 1999, 2003, 2005,
and Webmail Stock Plans. In May 2008, our board of directors approved an additional 5,400,000 shares for
future grant under the 2007 Stock Plan and the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan under which 500,000 shares
are authorized for future grant. As of December 31, 2008, the total number of shares authorized under the Stock
Plans was 37.3 million shares, of which approximately 6.3 million shares were available for future grants.

The following table summarizes the activity under our Stock Plans:

Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Number of Average Remaining Intrinsic Value
Shares Exercise Price Contractual Life  (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31,2007 .............. 16,811,955 $3.12 7.35 $73,351
Granted .. ...... ... . ... ... ... 5,925,098 $9.78
Exercised ......... ... ... ... .. ... .. .... (1,427,334) $1.30
Canceled ............. .. .. ... ... ....... (2,004,075) $6.61
Outstanding at December 31,2008 .............. 19,305,644 $4.95 7.01 $34,050
Vested and exercisable at December 31,2008 ...... 9,303,646 $2.33 5.28 $28,939
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2008 and
expected to vest thereafter™ ............... ... 17,969,901 $4.67 6.87 $33,899

H

* Includes reduction of shares outstanding due to estimated forfeitures

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of the stock options exercised during fiscal 2006, 2007, and 2008 was $1.9
million, $2.4 million, and $12.4 million, respectively.
The weighted average fair value of stock options issued for the years ended 2006, 2007 and 2008 was $2.15,
$3.77 and $7.84 respectively, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
Years Ended December 31,

2006 2007 2008
Expected stock volatility ......................... ... 78% 65% 60% - 65%
Expecteddividend yield ............................. 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interestrate ............................... 4.54% -5.08% 3.62% -5.04% 2.71% - 3.45%
Expectedlife ........ ... ... ... ... .. 6.25 years 6.25 years 6.25 - 6.5 years



As of December 31, 2008, there was $44.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
non-vested stock options granted under our various plans using the straight line method over a weighted average
period of 2.32 years.

During 2007, we converted 3,045,000 Mailtrust options to 104,440 of our options in conjunction with the
Mailtrust acquisition.

In 2008, Rackspace issued 403,000 performance-based stock options with a weighted average exercise price
of $7.54 per share to certain employees. The vesting of these options is tied to defined performance criteria based
on achievement of revenue and operating income targets. The options vest and are exercisable, in whole or in
part, semi-annually over the performance period beginning on the grant date and ending on the five year
anniversary of the vesting commencement date. As of December 31, 2008, these options were determined
probable to vest and a total of $396 thousand of share-based compensation expense was recognized.

In the first quarter of 2008, we approved a broad-based option grant and issued stock options to certain
employees under the 2007 Plan to purchase 3,793,940 shares of common stock with exercise prices of $9.14 per
share and $10.30 per share. These options have a 3-year cliff vesting and expire ten years from the date of the
grant.

We account for stock issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123, Accounting
for Stock Based Compensation and EITF Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to
Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services. We use the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to value options granted to non-employees. In July 2006, we issued 50,000 options
with an exercise price of $3.40 to a non-employee consultant under the 2005 Stock Option plan. These options
vest over a 4-year period, and expire after 5 years. We will continue to mark to market these options using the
Black-Scholes model (using the assumptions discussed in the previous table), until such time that they are vested.
As of December 31, 2008, 25,000 of these options had vested and 45,347 of the options remained unexercised.
During 2006, 2007 and 2008, we recorded general and administrative expense of $20 thousand, $97 thousand and
$127 thousand, respectively, related to these options.

Share-based compensation expense was recognized as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2007 2008
COSEOf TEVEIUES . o v v ottt et e e e e e e et e et et e $ 83 $ 433 §$ 2465
Sales and marketing ............. .. it 156 598 2,141
General and adminiStrative . ... ..ot i et e e e 851 3,221 10,411
Pre-tax share-based compensation .............. ... ... ... . i 1,090 4,252 15,017
Less: Income tax benefit .. ... ... . s (387) (1,526) (5,047)
Total share-based compensation expense, netoftax ......................... $ 703 $2,726 $ 9,970
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18. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of:

(In thousands) 2006 2007 2008
Current:
Federal . ...... ... $11,586 $ 8,042 $(9,396)
Foreign ..o (669) 4,322 6,762
S . . 309 1,080 1917
Totalcurrent . ...t 11,226 13,444 a17)
Deferred:
Federal . ... .. . (596) (2,986) 13,611
Foreign . ... 309 (435) (1,636)
] 1 39) (58) (273)
Totaldeferred ........ ... i (326) (3,479 11,702
Total provision for iNCOME taxes . ...ttt e, $10,900 $ 9,965 $10,985

Income before income taxes included income from foreign operations of approximately $1.7 million, $12.2

million, and $18.7 million for years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively.

A reconciliation of the statutory federal tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

2006 2007 2008

Statutory federal tax rate . ........... ... ... i 35.0% 350%  35.0%
State taxes, net of federalbenefit ... ......... ... ... ... ... ... ....... 0.5% 2.3% 3.2%

Tax rate differentials for international jurisdictions .................... 0.3%) R1%) (2.7%)

Permanent items, including non deductible stockbased compensation and

meals & entertainment .. ....... .. i i i e 0.4% 0.5% 0.4%

Other, Net .. .. (01%)  02% 2.3%)
Effectivetaxrate ............uininini i, 35.5% 359%  33.6%
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Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(In thousands) 2007 2008
Deferred tax assets:
Share-based compensation . ................iiiiiiiii i $2,215 $ 6,075
Accounts receivable .. ... ... e 703 935
SatE INCOME tAXES « v v vttt ettt ettt e e e e 97 275
Vacation accruals . ... ... ... e 730 879
Deferred revenUE . ..o ottt e e e e 3,714 3,407
Accruals not currently deductible .......... ... .. .o ool 1,041 1,840
O e . o e e 535 2,172
Total gross deferred tax assets ............ .. ... ... iiiiiinn.. 9,035 15,583
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation ........ ...t e 4,181 23,772
Prepaids ... ...t 2,603 1,273
Total gross deferred tax liabilities .. ............................ 6,784 25,045
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) . ........ ..ot $2,251  $(9,462)

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which
are uncertain. A valuation allowance was not established or deemed necessary based upon the determination that
future profits are anticipated.

Deferred taxes are not provided on undistributed earnings of a foreign subsidiary because such undistributed
earnings are expected to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the U.S. If these amounts were not considered
permanently reinvested, an additional deferred tax liability would be recorded.

In September 2007, we received the first grant payment from the Texas Enterprise Fund of $5.0 million with
respect to our economic development agreement with the State of Texas. We determined such payments
represent a capital contribution under the Internal Revenue Code Section 118. As such, the amount is not subject
to federal or state income tax. The arrangement is further explained in Commitment and Contingencies footnote.

In 2008, we received notification from the State of Texas that our application for the Texas Enterprise
program was approved. Upon achieving the specific requirements of the program, which include job creation
requirements, we may receive sales tax reimbursements from the State of Texas not to exceed $3.75 million over
a five year period. If achieved, these sales tax refunds will be recognized as an offset to sales tax expense. No
refunds were received for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We adopted FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, at the end of
fiscal year 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s
financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a two-step
process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be evaluated to
determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination. If the tax position is deemed “more-
likely-than-not” to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize
in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. We had no changes to the amount of our
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income tax payable as a result of implementing FIN 48. Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, our policy was to
classify accruals for uncertain positions as a current liability unless it was highly probable that there would not be
a payment or settlement for such identified risks for a period of at least a year. FIN 48 provides a comprehensive
model for the financial statement recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns. Unrecognized tax benefits represent tax positions
for which reserves have been established. Unrecognized state tax benefits and interest related to unrecognized tax
benefits are reflected net of applicable tax benefits.

A reconciliation of our unrecognized tax benefits, excluding accrued interest, for 2008 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2008
Balance at December 31,2007 ........ ... ... ... ... $—
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year .................... 143
Additions for tax positions of prioryears ............... ... il 109
Reductions for tax positions of prioryears ..................oiiiiiia... —
Settlements . ... .. ... . e e —
Balance at December 31,2008 . ....... ... . $252

At December 31, 2008, approximately $252 thousand of these unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized,
would favorably affect our effective tax rate in any future period. We do not expect the amount of the
unrecognized tax benefits disclosed above to change significantly over the next 12 months.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax and various state, local, and international income taxes in
numerous jurisdictions. Our domestic and international tax liabilities are subject to the allocation of revenues and
expenses in different jurisdictions and the timing of recognizing revenues and expenses. Additionally, the amount
of income taxes paid is subject to our interpretation of applicable tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file.

We currently file income tax returns in the U.S. and the U.K., which are periodically under audit by federal,
state, and international tax authorities. These audits can involve complex matters that may require an extended
period of time for resolution. The Internal Revenue Service completed an examination of our consolidated U.S.
Federal income tax returns through fiscal year 2004 with no changes to the tax return. We remain subject to U.S.
federal and state income tax examinations for the tax years 2005 through 2007, and to U.K. income tax
examinations for the years 2002 through 2007. There are no income tax examinations currently in process.
Although the outcome of open tax audits is uncertain, in management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income
taxes have been made. If actual outcomes differ materially from these estimates, they could have a material
impact on our financial condition and results of operations. Differences between actual results and assumptions,
or changes in assumptions in future periods are recorded in the period they become known. To the extent
additional information becomes available prior to resolution, such accruals are adjusted to reflect probable
outcomes.

We recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters in interest and penalties expense
within other income (expense) on our consolidated statements of income and not as income tax expense. As of
December 31, 2007 and 2008, we accrued interest and penalties of $148 thousand and $0 thousand, respectively,
on the consolidated balance sheets. For the years ended 2006, 2007, and 2008, interest or penalties of $61
thousand, $87 thousand, and $45 thousand, respectively, were recorded in the consolidated statements of income.
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19. Comprehensive Income
Total comprehensive income was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2006 2007 2008
NELINCOME . o ottt et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $19.820 $17,829 §$ 21,703
Derivative instrument, net of taxes of $0, $173 and $842 for years ended
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 .. ... ... ... ... — (322) (1,564)
Foreign currency cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes of ($101),
$5 and $3,966 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 .. 929 105 (14,976)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) . ....................... 929 217)  (16,540)
Total comprehensive inCome . ...........c.ovtuiiiiiiinnirmnnannnaaaas $20,749 $17,612 $ 5,163

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2008 were as follows:

Accumulated
other
Derivative Translation comprehensive
(In thousands) Instrument Adjustment  income (loss)
Balance at December 31,2006 .. ... ... ... ... $ — $ 730 $ 730
2007 changesinfairvalue .. .......... ... .. ... ... .. ... (322) — (322)
2007 translation adjustment . ........ ... ... . i — 105 105
Balance at December 31,2007 .. ... e $ (322) $ 835 $ 513
2008 changesinfairvalue .. .......... ... .. ... ... ... ... ... (1,564) — (1,564)
2008 translation adjustment . ......... ... .. i — (14,976) (14,976)
Balance at December 31,2008 .. ... ... ... . . i $(1,886) $(14,141)  $(16,027)

20. Segment Information

SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, established standards for
reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise
for which separate financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision-
maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief
operating decision-maker is our chief executive officer. Our chief executive officer reviews financial information
presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information by reporting unit and geographic region for
purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating resources. We are organized as, and operate two
reporting units: managed hosting and cloud computing services. We have evaluated the criteria for aggregation
by products and services, and by geography, and determined we have one reportable segment, which we describe
as Hosting. Revenues are attributed by geographic location based on the Rackspace Hosting operating location
that enters into the contractual relationship with the customer, either the U.S. or outside U.S., primarily the U.K.
Our primary long-lived assets are also located in the U.S. and the U.K.

Total net revenues by geographic region were as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

(In thousands) 2006 2007 2008

United States ... oot e $170,485 $260,747 $383,524

Outside United States ... ..o vvit ittt e et et et 53,481 101,270 148,409
Total NEL TEVENUES . . v v vttt et et e et et e et e e i e $223.966 $362,017 $531,933




Long-lived assets were as follows:

December 31, December 31,

(In thousands) 2007 2008

United States .. ..ot e e e $191,814 $322,949
Outside United States . . ... ... ... i i i e 51,856 68,930
Total long-lived assets ... ...t $243,670 $391,879

21. Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor a defined contribution retirement plan which has been determined by the IRS to be qualified as
a 401(k) plan, or the Plan. The Plan covers substantially all employees. The Plan provides for voluntary tax
deferred contributions of up to 100% of gross compensation, subject to certain IRS limitations. Based on
approval by the board of directors, we may make matching contributions to the Plan. No matching contributions
have been made as of December 31, 2008. Mailtrust administered a simple 401(k) plan that provided a 100%
match on up to a maximum of 3% of employee contribution that vested immediately. The simple 401(k) plan was
terminated on December 31, 2007. Expense recognized for the year ended 2007 was nominal.

We also sponsor a non-mandatory defined contribution plan for our employees located in the U.K. Pursuant
to this plan, we contribute on a monthly basis a certain percentage of the employee’s salary. The plan is
non-contributory, thus the employee is not obligated to make any contribution to the plan and contributions vest
immediately. For the years ended 2006, 2007, and 2008, expense recognized was $212 thousand, $616 thousand,
and $1.0 million, respectively.

In 2008, we sponsored a deferred compensation plan. The plan provides for voluntary tax deferred
contributions. We recognized a gain of $61 thousand for the year ended 2008 as the liability to plan participants
decreased due to the losses in investments elected by the participants.

22. Risks and Uncertainties

Our future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect our
future operating results and cause actual results to vary materially from expectations include, but are not limited
to: current depressed economic conditions; uncertainty in the potential market for our services; increasing
competition; dependence on our existing management and key personnel; and protection of our intellectual
property rights.

23. Related Party Transactions

We lease some facilities from a partnership controlled by our chairman of the board of directors. For these
leases, we recognized $346 thousand, $441 thousand and $620 thousand of rent expense on our consolidated
statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

24.-Subsequent Events —

In February 2009, Rackspace and Grizzly Ventures LLC, a subsidiary of DuPont Fabros Technology, Inc.
entered into an agreement to lease 11,000 square feet of technical floor space in a data center facility located in
Virginia. The leased space will be provided with a maximum critical load power of 2.275 megawatts. The
operating lease provides for a commencement date at the earlier of one hundred eighty (180) days after the date
of the lease and the date on which Rackspace begins to conduct business at the site. The lease has a term of 15
years from the commencement date and a total estimated financial obligation of approximately $75 to $80
million over the 15 year term, inclusive of base lease payments, power costs and Rackspace’s pro-rata share of
operating expenses. Rackspace has a one-time option to terminate the lease after 10 years upon 12 months’ prior
notice. Upon the expiration of the 15 year term, Rackspace has the option to renew the lease for two successive
five year periods.
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On February 25, 2009, our board approved grants of restricted stock units (RSUs) to our chief executive
officer and another member of the executive team. A total of 2,000,000 RSUs were granted. The vesting of the
RSUs are dependent on the company’s total shareholder return (TSR) on its common stock compared to other
companies in the Russell 2000 Index. In addition, the company’s TSR must be positive for vesting to occur. Of
the total RSUs granted, 1,050,000 have a measurement period at the end of three years, and the remaining at the
end of five years.

We have begun the process of determining the fair value of these RSU grants, which will be expensed in
accordance with SFAS 123(R) over the measurement period. Our preliminary estimate of the total share-based
compensation expense for these grants is between $7 million and $9 million. Management’s final assessment of
the fair values of these stock awards will be completed by the end of our first quarter ending March 31, 2009.

In addition, on February 25, 2009, our board approved the grant of 3.7 million stock options for certain
employees with an exercise price of $5.09. The shares vest 25% at the end of each year over a four-year period
and expire after ten years. The fair value for these stock options issued is $2.97 per option using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model.

SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA

Quarters Ended March31, June30, September 30, December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2007 2007 2007

Unaudited

NELTEVEIUES .« . o vttt et ettt e e e et et $ 75225 $ 84,012 $ 96,097 $106,683
Costof revenues .. ..........oouuuiiiinnnnn.a.. $ 23,593 § 26,148 $ 30,555 $ 37,929
GroSS MAZIN « .o\ttt et iee e ee e iee e $ 51,632 $ 57,864 $ 65,542 $ 68,754
NetinCome .. .......c.iii i $ 4,172 $ 43812 $ 6,291 $ 2,554
Earnings per share—basic ............................ $ 004 $ 005 $ 006 $ 004
Earnings per share—diluted .......................... $ 004 $§ 005 $ 0.06 $ 004
Cash and cashequivalents . . ................oiao.... $ 13,199 §$ 22,391 $ 29,431 $ 24,937
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2008 2008 2008 2008

Unaudited

NELFEVENUES . . o vt e st et e e e e e e $119,613 $130,829  $138,354 $143,137
Costofrevenues ............. ... iniriuaenn... $ 39,223 §$ 42,842 $ 45,499 $ 45,019
GrosSMargin . ......covvivtin ettt i, $ 80,390 $ 87,987 $ 92,855 $ 98,118
NEtINCOME . . . oot e e $ 5442 $ 4182 $ 5235 $ 6,844
Earnings per share—basic . ........................... $ 005 $ 004 $ 005 $ 006
Earnings per share—diluted .......................... $ 005 $ 004 $ 004 $ 0.06
Cashandcashequivalents . ........................... $ 27,497 $ 35,094  $260,318 $238,407
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ITEM 9—CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A—CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

During an evaluation performed as of December 31, 2007, we and our independent registered accounting
firm identified material weaknesses in our internal controls. The material weaknesses related to the
communication of significant non-routine transactions to our accounting department and to proper cutoff of
expenditures at period end. Specifically, our policies and procedures did not adequately address the financial
reporting risks associated with providing those responsible for accounting for significant non-routine transactions
the necessary information, and the lack of effective controls to ensure that expenditures were properly accrued
for at the end of each period.

After the identification of the material weaknesses, we implemented a remediation plan during 2008 to
address the weaknesses. As part of this remediation plan, we established policies and procedures that provide for
complete and timely reporting of significant non-routine transactions, which included the establishment of a
disclosure committee consisting of our senior management team and key finance and accounting personnel.

In addition we made certain personnel changes and established additional controls to address the material
weakness related to the proper cutoff of expenditures at the end of each period. We have evaluated the overall
effectiveness of our remediation plan and concluded that the material weaknesses had been remediated as of
June 30, 2008.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of
our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report (the “Evaluation
Date”). Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded as of the
Evaluation Date that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective such that the information relating to
the Company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in our SEC reports (i) is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Except for the implementation of our remediation plan, there were no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures
or our internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These
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inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns
can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts
of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of
any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-
effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Attestation Report of the
Registered Accounting Firm

The SEC, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, adopted rules requiring every company
that files reports with the SEC to include a management report on such company’s internal control over financial
reporting in its annual report. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm must attest to our
internal control over financial reporting. Our first Annual Report on Form 10-K will not include a report of
management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our
independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by SEC rules applicable to
newly public companies. Management will be required to provide an assessment of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009.

ITEM 9B—OTHER INFORMATION

On February 25, 2009, our board approved two grants of restricted stock units (RSUs) to our President and
Chief Executive Officer, A. Lanham Napier, for a total of 1,500,000 RSUs and two grants of restricted stock
units (RSUs) to our President, Rackspace Cloud, and Chief Strategy Officer, Lew Moorman, for a total of
500,000 RSUs. Each RSU in the grants represents a contingent right to receive one share of our common stock
and the RSU grants were awarded pursuant to our 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, under our standard form of
RSU Agreement (Performance Based).

Under these grants, the RSUs will vest based on the Total Shareholder Return, or TSR, of our common
stock for specific periods designated in each grant as compared to other companies in the Russell 2000 Index
over these same periods. Each recipient has one grant that measures the TSR of our common stock for a three
year period and one grant that measures the TSR for a five year period. The TSR is measured at the end of the
respective term of the grant.

Each of Mr. Napier’s grants is for 750,000 RSUs, with 500,000 RSUs vesting if the TSR of our common
stock is in the 50th percentile or better, as compared to other companies in the Russell 2000 Index, and an
additional 250,000 RSUs vesting if the TSR is in the 25th percentile or better.

Mr. Moorman’s three year grant is for 300,000 RSUs, with 150,000 RSUs vesting if the TSR of our
common stock is in the 50th percentile or better, as compared to other companies in the Russell 2000 Index, and
an additional 150,000 RSUs vesting if the TSR is in the 25th percentile or better. Mr. Moorman'’s five year grant
is for 200,000 RSUs, with 100,000 RSUs vesting if the TSR of our common stock is in the 50th percentile or
better, as compared to other companies in the Russell 2000 Index, and an additional 100,000 RSUs vesting if the
TSR is in the 25th percentile or better.

If TSR for our common stock does not fall within the 50th percentile or better of Russell 2000 Index
companies for a performance period, or if TSR is negative, no vesting of the RSUs will occur under any of the
grants.
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We have begun the process of determining the fair value of these RSU grants, which will be expensed in
accordance with SFAS 123(R) over the measurement period. Our preliminary estimate of the total share-based
compensation expense for these grants is between $7 million and $9 million. Management’s final assessment of
the fair values of these stock awards will be completed by the end of our first quarter ending March 31, 2009.

In addition, also on February 25, 2009, our board approved the grant of 3.7 million stock options for certain
employees with an exercise price of $5.09. The option shares vest 25% at the end of each year over a four-year
period and expire ten years from the date of grant. The option grants included (i) 300,000 options to A. Lanham
Napier, our President and Chief Executive Officer , (ii) 240,000 options to Bruce Knooihuizen, our Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, (iii) 200,000 options to John Lionato, our Senior Vice
President, Customer Care, (iv) 150,000 options to Lew Moorman, our President, Rackspace Cloud, and Chief
Strategy Officer, and (v) 80,000 options to Klee Kleber, our Vice President, Marketing and Product
Development.
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PART III
ITEM 10—DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement
for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008.

We have adopted the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “code of conduct™)
that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including without limitation, our Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Corporate Controller, and other finance organization employees. The code
of conduct, as well as any waiver of a provision of the code of conduct granted to any senior officer or director or
material amendment to the code of conduct, if any, may be found in the “Investors” section of our website at
www.rackspace.com.

ITEM 11—EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement
for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008.

ITEM 12—SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED PARTY STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Except as set forth below, the information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace
Hosting’s Proxy Statement for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days
after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2008, with respect to shares of our common
stock that may be issued, subject to certain vesting requirements, under our existing equity compensation plans,
including our 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan and our employee stock purchase plan:

A B C

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securitiestobe ~ Weighted-average future issuance under
issued upon exercise of exercise price of equity compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights refelcted in column (A))

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders .................... 19,305,644(1) $7.01 6,751,380(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders ................. —

Total ................... .. ..., 19,305,644

6,751,380

&+

7.0

_—

(1) Consists of 13,777,209 shares of common stock underlying outstanding options granted under our 1999
Assumed Stock Option Plan, 2003 Stock Option Plan, 2005 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan and 2007
Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan and 5,528,435 shares underlying outstanding restricted stock units
under our 2007 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan.

(2) Includes 500,000 shares of common stock available for issuance under our employee stock purchase plan
and 6,251,380 shares of common stock available for issuance under our 2007 Long Term Incentive
Compensation Plan.
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ITEM 13—CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement
for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008.

ITEM 14—PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement
for its 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008.

PART IV
ITEM 15—EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements

(1) The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the index to financial statements
on page 2.

(2) Any financial statement schedules required to be filed as part of this report are set forth in
section (c) below.

(b) Exhibits—See Index to Exhibits at the end of this report, which is incorporated by reference.
(¢) Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is filed as a part of this Annual Report:

Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

Additions Charged
to Net Revenues,
and Costs and
(In thousands) Beginning Balance Expenses Write-Gffs Ending Balance

Allowance for doubtful accounts and customer
credits for the years ending December 31:

2000 .. . $1,885 $4,497 $(4,345) $2,037
2007 o $2,037 $9,794* $(8,990) $2,841
2008 .. $2,841 $6,465 $(6.011) $3,295

* 2007 includes $3.4 million in credits to our customers due to downtime at a data center facility.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, on February 27, 2009.

Rackspace Hosting, Inc.

Date: February 27, 2009 By: /s/ A. LANHAM NAPIER

A. Lanham Napier
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name itk Date
/s/  A. LANHAM NAPIER President, Chief Executive Officer, and February 27, 2009
A. Lanham Napier Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ BRUCE R. KNOOIHUIZEN Senior Vice President, Chief Financial February 27, 2009
Bruce R. Knooihuizen Officer, and Treasurer (Principal

Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/  GRAHAM WESTON Chairman February 27, 2009

Graham Weston

/s/_S.JaMES BISHKIN Director February 27, 2009
S. James Bishkin

/s/ FREDERIC C. HAMILTON, JR. Director February 27, 2009

Frederic C. Hamilton, Jr.

/s/ PALMER L. MOE Director February 27, 2009
Palmer L. Moe

/s/  FRED REICHHELD Director February 27, 2009
Fred Reichheld

/s/  GEORGE J. STILL, JR. Director February 27, 2009

George J. Still, Jr.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibits Description
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (2)
33 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (3)
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (3)
4.2 Founder’s Registration Rights Agreement dated October 1, 2002 among the Registrant and certain
stockholders (1)
43 Investor’s Registration Rights Agreement dated October 1, 2002 among the Registrant and certain
stockholders (1)
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers (2)
10.2 1999 Assumed Stock Option Plan and form of agreement thereunder (1)
10.3 2003 Stock Option Plan and form of agreement thereunder (1)
10.4 2005 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan and form of agreement thereunder (1)
10.5 Form of Share Option Agreement (U.K.) (4)

10.6 (A) Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan and form of agreement thereunder (2)
10.6 (B) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2)

10.6 (C)  Form of RSU Agreement Under 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (Time Based)

10.6 (D)  Form of RSU Agreement Under 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (Performance Based)

10.7 Webmail.us, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended in 2006 (1)

10.8 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and form of agreement thereunder (2)

10.9 Rackspace US, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (3)

10.10 Director’s Service Agreement between Rackspace Managed Hosting Limited and Doug Loewe dated

March 26, 2007 (1)

10.11 Executive Severance Agreement between Rackspace, Ltd. and Major G. Horton effective March 20,
2006 (1)

10.12 Severance and Release Agreement between Rackspace, Ltd. and Major G. Horton effective June 29,
2007 (1)

10.13 Office Building Lease dated March 16, 2004 between Data Rose Limited Partnership and Rackspace
Headquarters, LLC, as amended on April 26, 2004, June 1, 2006, and April 17, 2008 (1)

10.14 Ground Lease Agreement dated August 2, 2007, between Windcrest Economic Development
Corporation and Rackspace US, Inc., as amended on April 24, 2008 (1)

10.15 Walzem Road Redevelopment Project Master Economic Incentives Agreement among the City of
Windcrest, Texas, the City of San Antonio, Texas, the County of Bexar, Texas, the Windcrest
Economic Development Corporation, the Windcrest Economic Development Company, LLC, and
Rackspace US, Inc. dated August 2, 2007 (1)

10.16 City Economic Development Grant Agreement between the City of Windcrest, Texas and Rackspace
US, Inc. dated August 2, 2007 (1)

10.17 County Economic Development Grant Agreement between Bexar County, Texas and Rackspace US,
Inc. dated August 2, 2007 (1)



Exhibits Description

10.18 Developer Economic Development Grant Agreement among the City of Windcrest, Texas, the
Windcrest Economic Development Corporation, and Windcrest Economic Development Company,
LLC dated August 2, 2007 (1)

10.19 Economic Development Agreement between the State of Texas and Rackspace US, Inc. dated

: August 1, 2007 (1)

10.20 Office Building Lease Agreement dated February 22, 2000 between Santa Clara Land Company, Ltd.
and the Registrant, as amended on March 30, 2000, December 9, 2004, and March 1, 2007 (1)

10.21 Storage Lease effective March 1, 2004 between Santa Clara Land Company, Ltd. and the
Registrant (2)

10.22 (A) Lease Agreement dated January 28, 2008 between Santa Clara Land Company, Ltd. and Rackspace
US, Inc. (1)

10.22 (B) First Amendment to Office Building Lease Agreement between Santa Clara Land Company, Ltd. and
Rackspace US, Inc., dated July 10, 2008 3)

10.23 Customer Solution Document dated April 7, 2006 between Cable & Wireless UK and Rackspace
Managed Hosting Limited, as amended June 26, 2007 (2)

10.24 Agreement of Lease dated as of April 24, 2002 between Level 3 Communications LLC and
Rackspace SATDC, Ltd., as amended April 16, 2004 (1)

10.25 Assignment of Lease effective December 1, 2006 between Qwest Communications Corporation and
Rackspace DAL1DC Management, LLC with attached Lease dated January 26, 2000 between CSI
Industrial Development L.P. and Qwest Communication Corporation, as amended January 23,
2001 (1) '

10.26 Third Amendment to Lease Agreement dated January 8, 208 between CLPF-Heritage Four, L.P. and
Rackspace DAL1DC Management LLC (1)

10.27 Consent to Assignment and Other Agreements dated November 30, 2006 by and among CLPF
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, A. Lanham Napier, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2009 By: /s/ A.LANHAM NAPIER
A. Lanham Napier

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bruce R. Knooihuizen, certify that:

1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

e registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of

>

board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2009 By: /s/ BRUCE R. KNOOIHUIZEN

Bruce R. Knooihuizen
Senior Vice-President, Chief Financial Officer,
and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), A.
Lanham Napier, as Principal Executive Officer of Rackspace Hosting, Inc., hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of
his knowledge the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.

Date: February 27, 2009 By: /s/ A. Lanham Napier

A. Lanham Napier
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”),
Bruce R. Knooihuizen , as Principal Financial Officer of Rackspace Hosting, Inc., hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of
his knowledge the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.

Date: February 27, 2009 By: /s/ Bruce R. Knooihuizen

Bruce R. Knooihuizen

Senior Vice-President, Chief Financial Officer,
and Treasurer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




*Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Return on Capital (ROC)

Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
InCome from OPEIAtONS « .« « ¢ o\ v vvetere e e e et aas et $ 7,634 $ 16,783 $ 31,243 $ 30,609 $ 40,149
BffeCtiVE tAX TAIE « . < v vttt vtee e e e ia e s e aa e 33.8% 35.1% 35.5% 35.9% 33.6%
Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) ............ocovvinnnn. $ 5,054 $ 10,892 $ 20,152 $ 19,620 $ 26,659
Net income from continuing Operations . .........c.ooveeviuirnoneranens $ 4,825 $ 10,772 $ 19,820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703
AVerage tOtAl ASSELS . .. ..o e v n et e $ 45,984 $ 67,218 $105,770 $210,606 $487,183
Less: Average excess Cash ... ..o — — — — (87,208)
Less: Average accounts payable and accrued expenses ................ (10,538) (15,507) (24,366) (47,352) (74,640)
Less: Average deferred revenues (current and non-current) .. ........... 2,727) (4,035) (7,522) (13,188) (19,538)
Less: Average other non-current liabilities . ..............ooovvnn (1,044) (2,404) (4,162) (5,283) (13,559)
Average capital DASE .. ... oiiierii e $ 31,675 $ 45,272 $ 69,720 $144,783 $292,238
REEUIT ON ASSELS « + e o v v e e e e e et ee et e e s aansaasseeaennasaos 10.5% 16.0% 18.7% 8.5% 4.5%
Return On CAPItAl . ... v vuv ittt 16.0% 24.1% 28.9% 13.6% 9.1%
Three Months Ended
(Dollars in thousands) March 31,2008  June 30,2008  September 30, 2008 December 31, 2008
(Unaudited)
Income from OPEratioNS - . . ..« vvvvvetvaree e $ 10,138 $ 8396 $ 9,490 $ 12,125
EBffeCtVa taX TAIE + o v ot vt v e et e a s 39.9% 37.9% 29.6% 27.7%
Net operating profit after tax NOPAT) .................. $ 6,093 $ 5214 $ 6,681 $ 8,766
Net income from continuing Operations ..................coceeo... $ 5442 $ 4,182 $ 5235 $ 6844
AVErage total ASSEES . . ... v v v n it $328,567 $381,815 $ 546,761 $ 685,236
Less: Average excess cash . ....o.o.oinien e — —_ (117,710) (218,021)
Less: Average accounts payable and accrued expenses .......... (71,071) (76,494) (79,837) (76,564)
Less: Average deferred revenues (current and non-current) .. ..... (18,684) (19,762) (20,077) (20,111)
Less: Average other non-current liabilities .................... (9,200) (9,624) (12,892) (20,043)
Averagecapital base ....... ... $229,612 $275,935 $ 316,245 $ 350,497
Return on assets (annualized) ......... ..ottt 6.6% 4.4% 3.8% 4.0%
Return on capital (annualized) . . ... 10.6% 7.6% 8.5% 10.0%

We define Return on Capital as follows: ROC = Net Operating Profit After Tax (NOPAT) /Average Capital Base

NOPAT = Income from operations x (1 — Effective tax rate) and Average Capital
stockholders® equity — excess cash) = Average of (Total assets — excess cash — accounts payables and accrued expenses —

— other non-current liabilities)

Base = Average of (Interest bearing debt +
deferred revenues

We define excess cash as our investments in money market funds. Average balances for the total year are based on a five quarter

average calculated using the period end balance and the four previous q
for investors in evaluating a company’s performance. ROC relates after-
therefore a performance metric that incorporates both the Statement of Income and th

uarter ending balances. We believe that ROC is an important metric
tax operating profits with the capital that is placed into service. It is
e Balance Sheet. ROC measures how successfully

capital is deployed within a company. Note that ROC is not a measure of financial performance under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (GAAP) and should not be considered a substitute for Return On Assets, which we consider to be the most

directly comparable GAAP measure. ROC has limitations as an analytical tool, and when assessing our operating perform:

ance, you should

not consider ROC in isolation, or as a substitute for other financial data prepared in accordance with GAAP. Other companies may
calculate ROC differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
NEETEVEIIEES + + + v o e v v e e e et ettt e e e e e aa e in e aennan $86,763 $138,768 $223,966 $362,017 $531,933
TNCOME frOM OPETAIONS . .« o v v v et eveeite v e eae s et eass e $ 7,634 $ 16,783 $ 31,243 $ 30,609 $ 40,149
NELINCOIME .« v v oot e e et et e ettt e e e ettt $ 7.908 $ 10,772 $ 19,820 $ 17,829 $ 21,703
Plus: TNCOMIE TAXES « v v v vt et e v teeeeee s e it a e aan e 2,467 5,836 10,900 9,965 10,985
Plus: Total other (inCOME) EXPENSE . . ..o v vvvviaanraaenrenereneenns 342 175 523 2,815 7,461
Plus: Depreciation and amortization ..............c.oiaiiiinn 12,471 20,193 32,335 56,476 90,172
Plus: Share-based compensation EXPense .. ........oeevuerreereraeon. 358 272 1,090 4,252 15,017
Less: Net income from discontinued operations .................oooenn (3,083) — — — —
Adjusted EBITDA .. ..ottt $20.463 $ 37,248 $ 64,668 $ 91,337 $145,338
Operating inCOME MATGIN . ... .ovveuennr et 8.8% 12.1% 13.9% 8.5% 7.5%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin ... ...vovnvanenneteaneraeinan et 23.6% 26.8% 28.9% 25.2% 27.3%

We define Adjusted EBITDA as Net income plus Income taxes, Total other (income) expen
cash charges for Share-based compensation, less Net income from discontinued operations. Adj

se, Depreciation and amortization, and non-
usted EBITDA is a metric that is used in

our industry by the investment community for comparative and valuation purposes. We disclose this metric in order to support and
facilitate the dialogue with research analysts and investors. Note that Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) and should not be considered a substitute for income from
operations, which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool,

and when assessing our operating performance, you should not consider Adjusted EBITDA

in isolation, or as a substitute for net income,

income from operations, or other consolidated income statement data prepared in accordance with GAAP. Other companies may calculate
Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.
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